Implications of poly(alkyl cyanoacrylate) nanoparticleinduced cellular stress responses with focus on autophagy

Ph.D. Thesis

Tonje Sønstevold

The Faculty of Mathematics and Natural Sciences, University of Oslo, Norway

Department of Molecular Cell Biology, Institute for Cancer Research, The Norwegian Radium Hospital, Oslo University Hospital, Oslo, Norway

Center for Cancer Cell Reprogramming, Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo, Norway



GRAMMERING







© Tonje Sønstevold, 2021

Series of dissertations submitted to the Faculty of Mathematics and Natural Sciences, University of Oslo No. 2432

ISSN 1501-7710

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted, in any form or by any means, without permission.

Cover: Hanne Baadsgaard Utigard. Print production: Reprosentralen, University of Oslo.



Det er i motbakke det går oppover (Rune Gokstad)

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This work was carried out at the Department of Molecular Cell Biology, Institute for Cancer Research, OUH, in the research groups of Prof. Kirsten Sandvig and Prof. Harald Stenmark from 2018 to 2021 with financial support from the Research Council of Norway, the Radium Hospital Foundation and OUH.

First and foremost, I would like to thank my main supervisor Maria L. Torgersen for asking me to come back to the department to do my PhD. We had worked very well together when I was an engineer in Kirsten's group, and the thought of continuing that collaboration and learning process was attractive. You have been a dedicated and steady project leader, you love your work and transmit your passion while working side-by-side in the lab, you are meticulous and always think two steps ahead. Thank you for guiding me through this work.

I would also like to express my gratitude to Kirsten Sandvig, as my co-supervisor and former group leader, and Harald Stenmark, as my current group leader. You have both provided a comfortable and motivating work environment, inspiration, help and insight.

I would like to acknowledge all my co-authors for excellent collaboration. A special thanks goes to Marzena Szwed for being so much more than a co-author. Working together with you was always a pleasure. To Nikolai Engedal, for your interesting ideas and opinions on autophagy. To Tore Skotland, Anders Øverbye and Tore-Geir Iversen, for advice and guidance in the world of nanoparticles.

I would sincerely like to thank all the people that have made these years working in the lab fun and enjoyable. We have shared more than frustrations over experiments and the joy of good results. I cherish the time spent in your company and thank you for all the great conversations and dinner parties. Although I will miss you in everyday life, I truly appreciate the fact that our friendship extends far beyond the lab. Sascha, you are the best officemate I could ever have asked for. Your laughter is contagious, you join me for a little dance or song, you listen when I talk, and you care. Ulrikke and Maja, you are the sunshine of my workday. I'm extremely grateful for having your friendship at work, you are always compassionate and helpful. Work would be harder without your supportive smiles and encouraging words. Anthony and Andreas, thank you for all the coffee and ice-cream breaks, and for discussions not only regarding work but of life in general. You're always supportive, full of life and leave me in a good mood. Chema, thank you for being so much more than technical support. You come with fresh pastry on the weekends, engage in birthday celebrations and provide support when needed. Marta, Krizia, Domenica, Maria, Marzena, you left the lab and the country, but never the heart. Thank you for choosing MCB as your place to go abroad. I miss having you around and look forward to we can travel and see each other again. The boot camp crew: Simona, Helene, Viola, Maxi-Lu, Silvana and Kia Wee, Wednesday nights will not be the same without your happy faces. Suffering together as Viola pushes for the next exercise, knowing that we all dream for the same delicious smell of Indian food that awaits with Kay. Thank you for always listening and encouraging me. It has become a highlight of my week. Anne-Grethe, chatting with you has always been entertaining. Anne and all the assistants working in the lab, thank you for providing cells and managing orders. To all the rest of my colleagues at MCB, thank you for providing a great and supportive work environment.

While a challenging workday may be rewarding, it's worth very little without anyone to share it with. Marte, Johanne, Vivian, Nancy, and Siri we've stuck together since primary school, and have always inspired, encouraged, and supported each other. Marte, growing up we always did everything together, having you in my life means a lot. Sverre, you showed me what true scientific curiosity is. Miriam, Yngvil, Bodil, Mari, Lasse, Maria and Anne, we have shared lots of great moments. Thank you for being great friends to lean on. Maria, you have been a guiding star going through all of this just before me. Thank you for all the great conversations and thoughts we have shared. BSI seniors, beers, movie nights, bonfires and outdoor adventures have been a welcoming distraction. Spencer, thank you for taking my mind off work. Hanne Marthe, Mina, Stine, Geir and Håkon, thank you for pulling me out of the lab on adventures, for all the good conversations, the laughter and for the time spent together. Hanne Marthe, Mina and Stine, you've been the greatest supporters through these last stages of the work, and I look forward to going on adventures with you again. An ironic thank you to Covid-19 for providing the time and space to finish up without distractions.

To my biggest supporters in life, my dear family. You have always been there for me, encouraged me, supported me, and provided comfort when needed. Whenever we are gathered it's always to enjoy life outside, the beautiful scenery of nature and discussions of any given science topic. To my parents, you've taught me to be logic, realistic and to use my head. To my sisters, I could never have been without you to share thoughts with, reflect on life with, and talk with when times are rough and to laugh with when life is smiling. You are truly my best friends and sisters in one. I'm extremely grateful to have such a great family filled with the most considerate, kindest, smartest and adventurous people.

Oslo, April 2021.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	V
TABLE OF CONTENTS	VII
SUMMARY	IX
SUMMARY IN NORWEGIAN	XI
ABBREVIATIONS	
LIST OF PUBLICATIONS INCLUDED IN THIS THESIS	XVII
Related publications not included in this thesis	XVII
INTRODUCTION	
NANODADTICI ES IN DDUC DEL WEDV	1
NANOPARTICLES IN DRUG DELIVERY	1
Polymer nanoparticles Mechanisms of nanoparticle-induced toxicity	2
CELLULAR STRESS RESPONSES	
The unfolded protein response	10
The integrated stress response	
The antioxidant response	14
Autophagy	16
AIMS OF THE STUDIES	23
SUMMARY OF PAPER I	24
SUMMARY OF PAPER II	26
SUMMARY OF PAPER III	28
EXPERIMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS	
Aspects of nanoparticle characterization and treatment	30
Assessment of cellular effects of nanoparticles	
Viability assays	
Functional assays	
LC3 flux assay	
LDH sequestration assay	
Long-lived protein degradation assay	
mKeima-based assays	
Pharmacological inhibitors	
siRNA-mediated depletion of proteins	
Immunoblot analysis	
Flow cytometry	
DISCUSSION	45
Minor alterations in the nanoparticle polymer composition affect the nanoparticle-cell inte	raction and elicit
particle-specific cellular stress	
The PACA nanoparticle variants are internalized to the same degree	
Degradation of PACA nanoparticles gives alkyl alcohols of varying hydrophobicity	
PACA nanoparticle specific formation of protein corona may affect nanoparticle-cell in The DACA induced time and magnitude of callular streng of a transmission of the second streng of the second streng second streng second streng second second streng second se	<i>iteractions</i>
I ne PACA-induced type and magnitude of cellular stress affect nanoparticle cytotoxicity.	$\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1}$
FOCA cause EX stress induced cyloloxicity, whereas PBCA and to a minor degree PEI stress-induced extotoricity	CA cause oxiaalive
su css-maacea cymmuny	

Pro-survival transcriptional responses induced by PEBCA and to a lesser extent PBCA protect against cytotoxicity	52
The PACA-induced type and magnitude of cellular stress affect the lysosomal intracellular degradation	. 52
pathway, autophagy	.54
Transcriptional regulation of autophagy	. 55
Redox regulation of autophagy	.57
Functional assays to study nanoparticle effects on autophagy	. 59
The PACA-induced type and magnitude of cellular stress affect nanoparticle-induced mode of cell death	.61
POCA-induced apoptotic cell death	.61
PBCA- and PEBCA-induced ferroptotic cell death	. 62
CONCLUDING REMARKS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES	.68
REFERENCES	.71

SUMMARY

Nanoparticles (NPs) are exploited in the development of drug delivery systems to increase bioavailability and drug targeting, minimizing side effects for the patient. Inherent to their size, NPs are positioned between bulk structures and atomic or molecular structures, acquiring unique properties compared to their bulk counterparts. Upon interaction with living cells the altered properties of NPs may lead to undesired and unforeseen physiological consequences. To close the gap between the development of novel medicines exploiting NPs and clinical translation, we need to decipher the consequences of their interactions with biological systems. The NP physicochemical characteristics, such as size, shape, surface charge, and coating, play key roles in determining their biocompatibility. In biological fluids proteins adsorb to the NP surface forming a protein corona around the NP, defining the biological identity of the NP seen by the functional machinery of cells. To maintain proper function and integrity, cells need to adapt and respond to their continuously changing environment, such as treatment with NPs. In this thesis, we have compared the cellular impact of three highly similar poly(alkyl cyanoacrylate) (PACA) NPs differing only in their alkyl side chains; PBCA (butyl), PEBCA (ethylbutyl) and POCA (octyl), to increase our understanding of the dynamic and varied interactions that arise between NPs and the biological environment.

The first paper investigates the differential activation of the *integrated stress response* (ISR), *unfolded protein response* (UPR) and *antioxidant response* with relation to NP-induced cytotoxicity and mode of cell death. All the PACA variants activated the ISR with the common effect of eIF2α phosphorylation attenuating global protein translation, and accumulation of the transcription factor ATF4. The POCA NPs and high concentrations of the PEBCA NPs induced ER stress seen by activation of the UPR. Both the PEBCA and PBCA NPs was found to induce oxidative stress as observed by increased intracellular ROS, wherein the PBCA NPs was further found to deplete the cellular GSH reserves. The differential induction of cellular stress translated into corresponding differences in cytotoxicity and mode of cell death. POCA generally induced the highest cytotoxicity, and the severity of the insult induced apoptosis without engaging pro-survival responses. PEBCA induced very low cytotoxicity, and this was attributed to a potent pro-survival accumulation of ATF4 and more importantly Nrf2, upregulating key players in the antioxidant response. Upregulation of the cystine transporter SLC7A11, was found to be of high significance. Although PBCA also induced pro-survival ATF4 and Nrf2 signaling it was unable to inhibit ROS propagation, depleting the cells of GSH

and inducing cytotoxicity downstream of the oxidative stress. Interestingly, both PEBCA and PBCA was found to induce the cell death mechanism *ferroptosis* in a manner dependent on the cell's ability to mount a redox defense. Consequently, the PEBCA- and PBCA-induced cytotoxicity was demonstrated to be highly dependent on the level of cystine and transcription of the cystine transporter *SLC7A11*.

The second paper investigate how the PACA variants affect *autophagy*, a catabolic process degrading cytoplasmic material important for maintaining cellular homeostasis and determining cell fate in response to stress. We found that treatment with the PEBCA NPs elevated LC3-II protein levels and upregulate *LC3B* mRNA expression via ISR-activation and ATF4, in a manner that did not alter LC3 flux or autophagic cargo degradation. PBCA also upregulated *LC3B* mRNA levels via the ISR and ATF4, but surprisingly did not elevate LC3-II protein levels. Conversely, PBCA led to an inhibition in LC3 lipidation and autophagic cargo degradation. Treatment with the POCA NPs strongly accumulated LC3-II protein levels without an effect on *LC3B* mRNA levels. The accumulation was found to be associated with reduced degradation of LC3-II as autophagic cargo degradation was inhibited by POCA.

The third paper investigate how the PBCA NPs, specifically, regulates the autophagy pathway by establishing and comparing several functional autophagy assays measuring turnover of bulk autophagic cargo. LC3 as an autophagosome marker is often used to make conclusions on how NPs regulate autophagy, without investigating functional turnover resulting in poorly understood mechanisms. We here demonstrate that the PBCA-induced redox imbalance stimulates autophagic cargo degradation at moderate levels and inhibit autophagic cargo degradation at high levels. The autophagy stimulation was found to depend on JNK1 and p38 MAPK activation, most likely activating autophagy through phosphorylation of Beclin 1 Ser90. Furthermore, we show that PBCA caused a redox imbalance-dependent inhibition in LC3 lipidation that is regulated independently of the regulation of autophagic cargo degradation. At the turning point concentration of PBCA, LC3 lipidation is reduced, but cytoprotective autophagy is still increased in the fight to regain homeostasis.

This work emphasize how the specific NP composition can dictate the outcome of the NP-cell interaction having consequences for cytotoxicity and mode of cell death. By elucidating the molecular mechanisms whereby NPs induce stress, one can better exploit those mechanisms to predict possible *in vivo* toxicities and fine-tune the treatment effect.

SUMMARY IN NORWEGIAN

Nanopartikler benyttes innen utvikling av «drug delivery»-systemer for å øke biotilgjengelighet og minske uønskede bivirkninger hos pasienten. Nanopartikler er av størrelse plassert mellom «bulk»- og molekylære strukturer. Dette gir dem unike egenskaper sammenlignet med deres bulk-motparter. Ved interaksjon med levende celler kan nanopartiklers endrede egenskaper føre til uønskede og uforutsette fysiologiske følger.

For å minske avstanden mellom utvikling av nye nanopartikkel-baserte medisiner og klinisk bruk, er det nødvendig å forstå konsekvensene av deres interaksjon med biologiske systemer. Nanopartiklers fysiske og kjemiske egenskaper som størrelse, form og overflatelading, er avgjørende for hvor kompatible de er med biologiske systemer. I biologiske væsker adsorberer proteiner til nanopartikkel-overflaten og danner en proteinkorona rundt nanopartikkelen. Dette definerer den biologiske identiteten til nanopartikkelen, og utgjør det som registreres av det funksjonelle maskineriet til celler. For å opprettholde normal funksjon og integritet må celler tilpasse seg og respondere på endringer i omgivelsene, som for eksempel behandling med tre veldig like poly(alkylcyanoakrylat) (PACA) nanopartikler, som kun skiller seg fra hverandre ved at de har forskjellige alkylsidekjeder; PBCA (butyl), PEBCA (etylbutyl) og POCA (oktyl). Dette for å øke vår forståelse av de dynamiske og varierte interaksjonene som oppstår mellom nanopartikler og det biologiske miljøet.

Den første artikkelen undersøker aktivering av *integrert stressrespons* (ISR), *ufoldet proteinrespons* (UPR) og *antioksidantrespons* i forhold til nanopartikkel-indusert cytotoksisitet og type celledød. Alle PACA-variantene aktiverte ISR som fører til fosforylering av eIF2a, attenuering av global proteintranslasjon og akkumulering av transkripsjonsfaktoren ATF4. POCA og høye konsentrasjoner av PEBCA induserte ER-stress, observert ved aktivering av UPR. Både PEBCA og PBCA induserte oksidativt stress, observert ved aktivering av cellulær ROS, hvorpå PBCA i tillegg tømte de cellulære GSH-reservene. Den differensielle induksjonen av cellulært stress gir tilsvarende forskjeller i cytotoksisitet og type celledød. POCA induserte generelt den høyeste cytotoksisitet, og dette ble tilskrevet en kraftig «pro-survival» akkumulering av ATF4 og enda viktigere Nrf2, som oppregulerte nøkkelfaktorer innen antioksidantresponsen. Oppregulering av cystintransportøren SLC7A11 ble funnet å være av stor betydning. Selv om PBCA også induserte pro-survival ATF4- og Nrf2-signalering, var

cellene ikke i stand til å hemme ROS-dannelse eller tap av GSH, og PBCA førte til cytotoksisitet nedstrøms for oksidativt stress. Et svært interessant funn var at både PEBCA og PBCA induserte celledødsmekanismen *ferroptose*, avhengig av cellens evne til å understøtte et redoksforsvar. Følgelig ble det vist at PEBCA- og PBCA-indusert cytotoksisitet var sterkt avhengig av nivået av cystin og transkripsjon av cystintransportøren SLC7A11.

Den andre artikkelen undersøker hvordan PACA-variantene påvirker *autofagi*, en prosess som bryter ned cytoplasmatisk materiale og er viktig for å opprettholde cellulær homeostase. Vi fant at behandling med PEBCA økte LC3-II proteinnivået og oppregulerte *LC3B* mRNA-ekspresjon via ISR-aktivering og ATF4 på en måte som ikke endret LC3-fluks eller degradering ved autofagi. PBCA oppregulerte også *LC3B* mRNA-nivåer via ISR og ATF4, men økte overraskende nok ikke LC3-II-proteinnivåer. I motsetning førte PBCA til en hemming av LC3-lipidering og degradering ved autofagi. Behandling med POCA medførte kraftig akkumulering av LC3-II proteinnivåer uten å påvirke *LC3B* mRNA-nivåer. POCA ble funnet å hemme degradering ved autofagi og av den grunn akkumulere LC3-II.

Den tredje artikkelen undersøker hvordan PBCA spesifikt regulerer autofagi ved å etablere og sammenligne flere funksjonelle autofagi-analyser som måler omsetningen av autofagisk «bulk cargo». LC3 som autofagosom-markør brukes ofte til å avgjøre hvordan nanopartikler regulerer autofagi, uten å undersøke funksjonell degradering, noe som igjen resulterer i en dårlig forståelse av mekanismene. Vi viser i dette arbeidet at PBCA-indusert redoks-ubalanse stimulerer degradering ved autofagi ved moderate nivåer og hemmer degradering ved autofagi ved høye nivåer. Stimuleringen av autofagi ble funnet å være avhengig av JNK1 og p38 MAPK-aktivering, mest sannsynlig gjennom fosforylering av Beclin 1 Ser90. Videre viser vi at PBCA forårsaket en redoks ubalanse-avhengig hemming i LC3-lipidering som er regulert uavhengig av degraderings reguleringen. Ved vendepunkts-konsentrasjonen av PBCA, reduseres LC3-lipidering, men cytoprotektiv autofagi økes fortsatt i kampen for å gjenvinne homeostase.

Dette arbeidet viser tydelig hvordan den spesifikke nanopartikkel-sammensetningen kan være bestemmende for utfallet av nanopartikkel-celleinteraksjonen, som igjen får konsekvenser for cytotoksisitet og type celledød. Ved å belyse de molekylære mekanismene hvormed nanopartikler induserer stress, kan man bedre utnytte disse mekanismene til å predikere mulig *in vivo*-toksisitet og finjustere effekten av behandlingen.

ABBREVIATIONS

AMP	5' adenosine monophosphate
АМРК	(5' adenosine monophosphate)-activated protein kinase
AP-1	Activator protein-1
ARE	Antioxidant response element
ATF/CREB	Activating transcription factor/cyclic AMP response element binding protein
ATF4	Activating transcription factor 4
ATF6	Activating transcription factor-6
ATG	Autophagy-related
BafA1	Bafilomycin A1
BH3	Bcl-2 homology domain
bZIP	Basic leucine zipper domain
CaMKII	Calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II
СНОР	C/EBP-homologous protein
СМА	Chaperone-mediated autophagy
CMV	Cytomegalovirus
CReP	Constitutive repressor of eIF2a phosphorylation
DAPK1	Death-associated protein kinase-1
DFCP1	Zinc finger FYVE domain-containing protein 1
EBSS	Earle's balanced salt solution
eIF2a	α subunit of eukaryotic translation initiation factor-2
ER	Endoplasmic reticulum
ERAD	ER-associated degradation
ESCRT-III	Endosomal sorting complex required for transport III
GABARAP	Gamma-aminobutyric acid receptor-associated protein
GADD34	Growth arrest and DNA damage-inducible protein
GCN2	General control non-derepressible-2
GPX4	Glutathione peroxidase 4
GRP78	78-kDa glucose-regulated protein
GSH	Glutathione
GSSG	Oxidized GSH
HRI	Heme-regulated inhibitor

IRE1	Inositol-requiring enzyme-1
ISR	Integrated stress response
JNK	c-jun NH ₂ -terminal kinase
Keap1	Kelch-like ECH-associated protein 1
LDH	Lactate dehydrogenase
LDHB	Lactate dehydrogenase B
LIR	LC3-interacting region
LLPD	Long-lived protein degradation assay
MAPKs	Mitogen-activated protein kinases
MDA	Malondialdehyde
mKeima	Monomeric Keima
Mst1	Mammalian STE20-like protein kinase 1
mTOR	Target of rapamycin
mTORC1	Target of rapamycin complex 1
NF-kB	Nuclear factor kappa B
NPs	Nanoparticles
Nrf2	Nuclear factor erythroid 2 (NF-E2)-related factor 2
p-eIF2α	Phosphorylated α subunit of eIF2
PACA	Poly(alkyl cyanoacrylate)
PBCA	Poly(butyl cyanoacrylate)
PE	Phosphatidylethanolamine
PEBCA	Poly(ethylbutyl cyanoacrylate)
PEG	Polyethylene glycol
PERK	Protein kinase RNA (PKR)-like ER kinase
PI(3)P	Phosphatidylinositol 3-phosphate
PI3K	Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase Class I
PI3KC3	Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase Class III
PKR	Protein kinase double-stranded RNA-dependent
POCA	Poly(octyl cyanoacrylate)
PP1	Protein phosphatase 1 complex
RIDD	Regulated IRE1-dependent decay
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SDS-PAGE	Sodium dodecyl sulphate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis

siRNAs	Small interfering RNAs
TEM	Transmission electron microscopy
TFEB	Transcription factor EB
tRNAs	transfer RNAs
ULK1	Unc-51-like kinase 1
UPR	Unfolded protein response
WIPI	WD-repeat protein-interacting phosphoinositide
XBP1	X-box-binding protein 1
αMSH-PEG-C' dots	PEG-coated silica NPs functionalized with a melanoma-targeting peptide

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS INCLUDED IN THIS THESIS

- I. Small variations in nanoparticle structure dictate differential cellular stress responses and mode of cell death. Szwed M*, <u>Sønstevold T*</u>, Øverbye A, Engedal N, Grallert B, Mørch Ý, Sulheim E, Iversen TG, Skotland T, Sandvig K, Torgersen ML. Nanotoxicology. 2019 Aug;13(6):761-782. * shared first author
- II. Structural Variants of poly(alkylcyanoacrylate) Nanoparticles Differentially Affect LC3 and Autophagic Cargo Degradation.
 <u>Sønstevold T</u>, Engedal N, Mørch Ý, Iversen TG, Skotland T, Sandvig K, Torgersen ML. J Biomed Nanotechnol. 2020 Apr 1;16(4):432-445.
- III. Perturbation of cellular redox homeostasis dictates divergent effects of polybutyl cyanoacrylate (PBCA) nanoparticles on autophagy
 <u>Sønstevold T</u>, Engedal N, Torgersen ML. *Manuscript*

Related publications not included in this thesis

I. Ceramide-containing liposomes with doxorubicin: time and cell-dependent effect of C6 and C12 ceramide.

Øverbye A, Holsæter AM, Markus F, Škalko-Basnet N, Iversen TG, Torgersen ML, <u>Sønstevold T</u>, Engebraaten O, Flatmark K, Mælandsmo GM, Skotland T, Sandvig K. *Oncotarget. 2017 Aug 12;8(44):76921-76934*.

 II. Cabazitaxel-loaded poly(alkyl cyanoacrylate) nanoparticles: Toxicity and changes in the proteome of breast, colon and prostate cancer cells
 Øverbye A, Torgersen ML, <u>Sønstevold T</u>, Iversen TG, Mørch Ý, Skotland T, Sandvig K. Nanotoxicology. Accepted 2021 Apr. DOI: 10.1080/17435390.2021.1924888

INTRODUCTION

The general idea that a drug's performance could be improved if the active molecule can reach and interact better with its target site was established at the beginning of the twentieth century by Paul Ehrlich's concept of the 'Magic bullet'. This idea emerged from the understanding of the antibody-antigen specificity related to infectious diseases (Strebhardt et al. 2008). Since then, delivering drugs to their site of action to achieve a better therapeutic outcome has evolved into a vast research field and 'big pharma'. Drug delivery systems are developed to maximize drug efficacy and minimize side effects for the patient. Nanotechnology holds significant promise to improve treatment and prevention of disease, by providing vehicles for targeted therapy. To understand the true potential and limitations of nanoparticles (NPs) as drug delivery systems, we need to decipher the consequences of their interactions with biological systems. This work addresses the variation in cellular stress responses that can arise from even subtle differences in the polymer composition of poly(alkyl cyanoacrylate) (PACA) NPs.

NANOPARTICLES IN DRUG DELIVERY

The prefix 'nano' has become a popular label in modern science, arising from the characteristics of nanoscale structures. The nanometer is a metric unit length equal to one-billionth of a meter (10⁻⁹ m). Nanotechnology includes all types of research and technologies that deal with the unique properties of matter that occur below a given size threshold. In effect, nanomaterials are according to their size positioned between bulk structures and atomic or molecular structures, enabling unique applications of the materials (Buzea et al. 2007). One characteristic feature is the increase in surface area to volume ratio, altering the material's mechanical, thermal, and catalytic properties compared to known bulk properties. Nanomedicine exploits these unique physico-chemical characteristics in tissue engineering, or to develop biosensors and drug delivery systems (Pelaz et al. 2017).

The general purpose of a drug carrier is to provide the drug with a more appropriate or attractive pharmacokinetic and biodistribution profile, promoting biological efficacy and reducing side effects by giving a more efficient distribution at the target site (Vauthier 2019). This may be achieved by exploiting the unique properties of NPs. NP encapsulation may increase the

solubility and stability of a drug, enabling increased circulation times and bioavailability. They can be designed to improve specificity of distribution and bypass important physiological barriers. All of which will promote a greater accumulation at the target site, making it possible to reduce the administrated dose and in turn limit side effects (Blanco et al. 2015).

In the infancy of the research field in the early 1970s, small vesicles called liposomes were used to encapsulate and improve the performance of existing drugs. As opposed to covalently linking the active ingredient to its carrier, entrapment within a vesicle kept the chemical structure unaltered and allowed for more molecules to be packaged within each vesicle (Vauthier 2019). Today, NPs have revolutionized drug delivery and they are extensively studied as carriers of genes or drugs, as sole therapeutic agents, and even as multifunctional particles combining a diagnostic and therapeutic function (Pelaz et al. 2017). Perhaps the prime example of NPs as delivery vehicles today is the Covid-19 vaccine. Several pharmaceutical companies have successfully based their vaccine on intracellular delivery of the SARS-CoV-2 spike protein mRNA by lipid NPs (Polack et al. 2020, Baden et al. 2021).

Polymer nanoparticles

Compared to the early liposomes, polymer NPs were more stable in biological media, provided a higher loading capacity and greater possibility for sustained drug-release (Zheng et al. 2016). However, to synthesize polymer NPs compatible with clinical application, NPs were made from the polymerization of alkyl cyanoacrylate monomers already used as surgical glue. This provided a biodegradable polymer NP that was further demonstrated to be able to associate drugs and function as lysosomotropic carriers (Couvreur et al. 1979). Today, biodegradable PACA NPs having distinct features can be obtained by various polymerization and spontaneous emulsification techniques using a variety of monomers to titrate the wanted properties (Landfester 2006, Nicolas et al. 2009). A general PACA NP is illustrated in Figure 1 and Figure 10. The biodegradable PACA polymers are hydrophobic, and as drugs are not covalently linked but associated through hydrophobic interaction the PACA NPs are especially suitable for encapsulating hydrophobic drugs (Nicolas et al. 2009).



Figure 1. Schematic presentation of a PACA NP coated with a stealth polymer.

Efficient drug delivery requires both NP uptake by cells and release of the drug once inside the cell. Clathrin-mediated endocytosis is the predominant cellular uptake mechanism of PACA NPs, although caveolin-mediated endocytosis is also found to be involved (Iversen et al. 2011, Sulheim et al. 2016). Inside the late endosomes, hydrolysis of the ester bond of the alkylcyanoacrylate (the alkyl side chain of the polymer) is described as the primary mechanism causing dissolution of the PACA NPs and release of drugs concomitant to NP degradation in vivo. Resultantly, degradation of PACA NPs leads to the water-soluble alkyl alcohol and poly(cyanoacrylic acid) that can be renally excreted (Vauthier et al. 2003, Graf et al. 2009). An important proof of concept that degradable PACA NPs could reduce the toxicity of a drug while providing a therapeutic effect was illustrated with the anticancer drug doxorubicin. The cardiotoxicity of doxorubicin, initially limiting patient treatment, was decreased by entrapment within PACA NPs due to low uptake in myocardium. In addition, a significant reduction in both mortality and weight loss of the mice was obtained (Couvreur et al. 1982). Furthermore, poly(2ethyl-butyl cyanoacrylate) NPs loaded with cabazitaxel showed longer circulation time in blood, higher drug concentration in tumor and higher infiltration of anti-tumorigenic macrophages compared to free cabazitaxel, increasing treatment efficacy in basal-like patientderived xenografts (Fusser et al. 2019).

Mechanisms of nanoparticle-induced toxicity

While considerable progress has been made in understanding NPs as drug carriers, many challenges remain to accelerate translation into clinical use. Upon interaction with living cells the altered properties of nanomaterials, such as surface reactivity, may lead to undesired and unforeseen physiological consequences. The NP physicochemical characteristics, such as size, shape, surface charge, and coating, play key roles in determining the biocompatibility of NPs (Savage et al. 2019). Adsorption of proteins onto surfaces was demonstrated already in 1962 by Leo Vroman (Vroman 1962), and the continuous flux of adsorption and desorption of proteins (Vroman et al. 1980) was later termed the 'Vroman effect'. As depicted in Figure 2, a phenomenon referred to as a protein corona forms around NPs in biological fluids as proteins compete for the NP surface. The rate, affinity and stoichiometry of protein association and dissociation defines the NP surface in the end; the biological identity of the NP (Cedervall et al. 2007). The association and dissociation kinetics between the proteins and the NP surface divide the protein corona into two layers, the 'hard' and the 'soft' corona. Proteins which bind with high affinity and display high association rates interact tightly with the NP surface and constitute the hard corona, whereas proteins with low binding affinity and low association rates interact more loosely with the NP surface and constitute the soft corona (Cedervall et al. 2007, Monopoli et al. 2012, Wolfram et al. 2014, Ahsan et al. 2018). The selective adsorption of proteins on the NP surface has been shown to be determined by a complex interplay between the NP's synthetic characteristics and the relative concentrations of different proteins in the biological fluid (Maiorano et al. 2010, Tenzer et al. 2011, Zhang et al. 2011, Ghavami et al. 2013, Mohammad-Beigi et al. 2020). The protein corona consists in large parts of opsonins, marking the NPs for rapid clearance by phagocytosis (Cai et al. 2020). This largely affect NP circulation time, and a common approach to overcome this is to coat the synthetic surface of the NP with a 'stealth' polymer, such as polyethylene glycol (PEG), reducing interactions with the components of biological fluids. Such PEGylation is demonstrated in Figure 1. Moreover, the PEG coat also shields NPs from surface aggregation as uncoated NPs often have hydrophobic surfaces (Suk et al. 2016). Effectively, for coated NPs, the coat is an essential determinant for the exact interaction with the various components of biological fluids.

Importantly, the specifically acquired protein corona defines the NP's biological identity, and hence, what is seen by the functional machinery of cells, affecting cell internalization, biodistribution and cytotoxicity (Owens et al. 2006, Lundqvist et al. 2008,

Aggarwal et al. 2009). The density and thickness of the protein corona determines overall size of the NP and level of exposure of the underlying synthetic NP surface. The identity and orientation of adsorbed proteins influence the array of possible biological interactions and the accessibility of potential binding- and catalytic-domains. Furthermore, the protein conformation affects protein activity and its interaction with other biomolecules (Walkey et al. 2012, Liu et al. 2020). As illustrated in Figure 2, the interface between NPs and biological systems consists of the NP surface (the NP's synthetic characteristics, Figure 2A), the solidliquid interface (the NP's biological characteristics defined by the protein corona, Figure 2C), and the contact zone with the biological substrate (the interaction between the NP's biological identity and cells, Figure 2B) (Nel et al. 2009). Cell membranes are self-assembled lipid bilayers, wherein the shape of the lipid species and membrane curvature govern transmembrane structures, membrane permeability and enzyme activation (Mouritsen 2011). Proteins, cholesterol and lipopolysaccharides in the lipid bilayer allow the cell to respond to the external environment and communicate with other cells (Gatenby 2019). The non-covalent electrostatic forces, hydrophobic interactions and hydrogen bonding are the main forces driving NP-cell contact, further ligand-receptor interactions increase the complexity of the contact site (Nel et al. 2009, Wang et al. 2019). The nature of the NP surface facilitates the interaction with charged regions or binding to surface ligands of the cell membrane, and may induce conformational changes due to changes in free surface energy or oxidant injury due to increased ROS (Nel et al. 2006). The NP-cell interaction may lead to alterations in membrane fluidity, the composition of micro-domains, or membrane curvature (Nel et al. 2009). Such membrane alterations are known to affect the activity of membrane proteins like receptors, enzymes, ion channels, and nutrient transporters, and have been proposed to signal membrane stress to the cell interior (Mouritsen 2011). The nature and extent of these interactions influence processes such as NP wrapping at the cell surface, endocytosis and intracellular biocatalysis properties, and participate in determining the biocompatibility of a given NP (Nel et al. 2009, Wang et al. 2019).



Figure 2. The physicochemical characteristics of the initial NP material make up the synthetic identity of the NP (A). These characteristics govern the formation of the protein corona in a biological environment (B). Protein attachment/detachment kinetics divide the protein corona into two layers. The hard corona constitutes proteins with high binding affinity, whereas the soft corona constitutes proteins of low binding affinity. The nature of the NP surface drive cell contacts through non-covalent electrostatic, hydrophobic, or hydrophilic interactions, and ligand-receptor binding. Depending on the NP chemical composition, catalytically active or passive surface groups may facilitate electron transfer, metal ions may participate in Fenton reactions, protein interactions may cause dissolution of the NP or NP-cell interactions may lead to membrane alterations (C).

A fundamental property of nanomaterials is their ability to facilitate electron transfer, thus promoting oxidative damage or conversely providing antioxidant protection (Nel et al. 2006, Wen et al. 2020). Reactive oxygen species (ROS) are regarded as unavoidable byproducts of aerobic metabolism and are thus continuously generated, transformed, and consumed in all living organisms (Ray et al. 2012). As such, ROS serves as important physiological regulators activating signaling pathways (Finkel 2011, Murphy et al. 2011, Sena et al. 2012). However, when there is an imbalance between ROS production and ROS scavenging, high ROS levels promote oxidative stress potentially damaging proteins, DNA and lipids (Ray et al. 2012, Schieber et al. 2014), as illustrated in Figure 3.

Generation of free radicals and other reactive species, disturbing the existing oxidative balance, are found to be the main cause of NP-induced cytotoxicity and genotoxicity of various NPs (Nel et al. 2006, Fu et al. 2014, Wen et al. 2020). Electron transfer at the nano-bio interface is a complicated process as the redox potentials and energy states of the surface atoms differ with the varying structural features of NPs, such as size, shape, coating, and adsorbed proteins. Additionally, external factors such as the pH of the solution and possible external irradiation

largely impacts the pro- or antioxidant abilities of NPs (Hartmann et al. 2013, Wang et al. 2015, Tian et al. 2018, Wang et al. 2019). As the size of the particle decreases a greater proportion of its atoms or molecules are displayed on the surface rather than interior of the material. The smaller size may increase the number of structural defects which give rise to altered electronic properties and can establish specific surface groups that function as reactive sites. Depending on the particular NP chemical composition this may give hydrophilic or hydrophobic, lipophilic or lipophobic, or catalytically active or passive surface groups (Oberdörster et al. 2005, Nel et al. 2006).

Electron-transfer will occur only if the relevant orbital energies of the electron donors and acceptors are at approximately the same level (Xu et al. 2000). When the energy levels of NPs are lower than the redox potential of reactive species in biological fluids, electrons can directly transfer to the NP and the NP functions as a ROS scavenger mitigating the oxidative stress (Wang et al. 2019). This has been demonstrated for carbon-based NPs such as fullerene (Lao et al. 2009), ceria NPs (Li et al. 2015), and palladium nanocrystals (Ge et al. 2016). Conversely, some NPs have been found to cause reactive species via the surface sorbate obtained through interaction with biological components. Attached molecules can change the surface energy properties of the NP and enable surface atom dissolution or electron donation reducing H₂O, O₂ and H₂O₂ to form O₂^{•-} or •OH (Nel et al. 2006, Kermanizadeh et al. 2015, Wang et al. 2019). This has been well demonstrated for palladium-based nanostructures (Fang et al. 2018). Furthermore, metal ions released by metal oxide NPs are found to promote ROS through participation in redox cycling or catalysis via Fenton reaction [(i) $Fe^{2+} + H_2O_2 \rightarrow Fe^{3+}$ + •OH + OH⁻, (ii) Fe³⁺ + H₂O₂ \rightarrow Fe²⁺ + •OOH + H⁺] or Fenton-like reactions such as demonstrated for AgNPs [Ag + H₂O₂ + H⁺ \rightarrow Ag⁺ + •OH + H₂O] (Nel et al. 2006, He et al. 2012, Tian et al. 2018). NPs such as silver and silicon dioxide may cause enzyme deactivation or membrane structure disruption which further facilitate ROS generation by impairing mitochondrial respiration, affecting NADPH oxidase or cellular calcium homeostasis (Carlson et al. 2008, Guo et al. 2016, Cui et al. 2020, Lee et al. 2020).

Taken together, the NPs synthetic and biological identity may induce toxicity by a variety of known and unknown mechanisms initiating cellular stress. The cellular stress responses investigated in this thesis are presented in the section below.



Figure 3. A stratified oxidative stress model. At normal levels, ROS are continuously generated, transformed, and consumed. At low levels, antioxidants are induced via transcriptional activation of the antioxidant response to restore homeostasis. As ROS levels increase this protective response is overtaken by inflammation and finally cytotoxicity damaging proteins, DNA, and lipids.

CELLULAR STRESS RESPONSES

Responding to its continuously changing environment is one of the biggest challenges for cells. To maintain proper function and integrity, the cell needs to adapt to fluctuations in external conditions (such as temperature and ultraviolet light), in chemical signals (such as ion concentrations, redox potentials and levels of metabolic intermediates or byproducts), in extracellular signals (such as hormones and cytokines), and pathogen invasions. Beyond a certain threshold, these fluctuations are perceived as stress, and the cell's ability to respond determines its fate. Consequently, an intricate surveillance network is put in place for the cell to protect itself from unfavorable conditions (Chen et al. 2010, Kroemer et al. 2010).

The stress induced by NPs has the potential to initiate a whole spectrum of cellular stress responses with the aim to regain homeostasis. Changes in a range of physiological and pathological conditions activate the *integrated stress response* (ISR), while endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress activates the *unfolded protein response* (UPR) more specifically. An increase in ROS or reduction of ROS scavengers may activate the *antioxidant response* mediated by transcription factors such as Nrf2 (nuclear factor erythroid 2 (NF-E2)-related factor 2) and ATF4 (activating transcription factor 4), while at the same time engaging the ISR and

autophagy. Autophagy is induced to clear dysfunctional components or recycle unnecessary components when nutrient availability is scarce. While these cellular stress responses initially work as pro-survival pathways, they may also facilitate cellular death if the insult is prolonged or too severe.



Figure 4. In mammals the UPR includes three separate signal transduction pathways downstream of three ER transmembrane protein sensors, namely ATF6, IRE1, and PERK. The luminal domains of these ER stress transducers sense the protein folding status and transmit the information to the cytoplasmic domains, interacting with the transcriptional and translational apparatus. The PERK pathway of the UPR is also known as part of the ISR. Changes in a range of physiological and pathological conditions activate the ISR. The common point of convergence is phosphorylation of eIF2 α , downregulating global protein synthesis while at the same time allowing translation of selected genes important for cell survival. In the antioxidant response, GSH is considered the most abundant antioxidant enabling electron donation as two electron-donating GSH molecules form oxidized GSSG. Cystine import through the cystine/glutamate antiporter system X_c^- is a crucial factor regulating intracellular levels of cysteine, a precursor for GSH synthesis, hence maintaining cellular GSH levels

and redox balance. A major regulator of cytoprotective responses to oxidative stress is the Nrf2-Keap1 pathway. Keap1 targets Nrf2 for ubiquitination and subsequent degradation by a Cullin-3-mediated ubiquitination complex, keeping Nrf2 at low levels under normal conditions. When cells are exposed to oxidative stress, oxidation of reactive cysteine residues in Keap1 inactivates Keap1 resulting in Nrf2 stabilization, translocation to the nucleus and upregulation of cytoprotective genes.

The unfolded protein response

The ER does not only serve as a 'protein folding factory' coordinating folding and posttranslational modifications, but participates in various fundamental functions including calcium homeostasis, glucose concentration regulation, and lipid metabolism (Liu et al. 2015, Hetz et al. 2020). Consequently, a fully functional ER is vital for the cell.

During translation, the linear sequence of amino acids rapidly starts the protein folding process to fulfill thermodynamic and kinetic requirements, burying nonpolar residues in the core of the molecule. Rate-limiting reactions in the folding process are further accelerated by folding enzymes, such as protein disulfide isomerases, while proteins acting as molecular chaperones, such as small heat shock proteins, prevent aggregation and facilitate protein maturation (Hebert et al. 2007). As virtually all signaling proteins that the cell uses to communicate with its environment are assembled in the ER, only properly folded proteins should be able to advance from the ER. When ER is challenged by physiological demands or pathological insults, such as perturbations in cellular energy, calcium homeostasis or redox status, accumulation of unfolded or misfolded proteins causes a condition referred to as 'ER stress' (Hebert et al. 2007, Hetz et al. 2020). Accumulation of misfolded proteins is harmful to the cell, and thus mechanisms designed to detect such proteins and either refold them or target them for degradation have evolved. To ensure protein folding fidelity and maintain ER functions, ER stress engages the UPR (Hebert et al. 2007, Hetz et al. 2020). The UPR aims to restore normal function by halting protein translation lessening the protein processing load for the ER, and upregulating genes involved in protein folding such as ER chaperones and folding enzymes, as well as components of the ER-associated degradation (ERAD) pathway (Hetz et al. 2020). Protein folding and degradation is strongly interconnected, and proteins that cannot be refolded to their correct conformation is ubiquitinated and targeted for proteasomal degradation by the ERAD pathway (Hebert et al. 2007). Resultantly, increased protein ubiquitination and expression of heat shock proteins are markers of ER stress. However, if the cell is not able to regain ER function or the disruption is prolonged, the UPR initiate apoptosis in a model proposed to depend on death threshold levels of CHOP (C/EBP-homologous protein) and GADD34 (growth arrest and DNA damage-inducible protein) (Ron et al. 2007).

In mammals the UPR includes three separate signal transduction pathways downstream of three ER transmembrane protein sensors, namely the inositol-requiring enzyme-1 (IRE1), the activating transcription factor-6 (ATF6), and the protein kinase RNA (PKR)-like ER kinase (PERK). The luminal domains of these ER stress transducers sense the protein folding status and transmit the information to the cytoplasmic domains, interacting with the transcriptional and translational apparatus (Ron et al. 2007), as illustrated in Figure 4.

IRE1 oligomerizes in the ER membrane upon direct binding of unfolded proteins to its luminal domain. This allows for *trans*-autophosphorylation of the IRE1 kinase domain, which acts as a site-specific endonuclease to cleave the mRNA encoding the transcription factor X-box-binding protein 1 (XBP1) (Calfon et al. 2002). This results in the expression of an active XBP1 transcription factor that upregulates genes involved in ER protein translocation, folding and secretion, and degradation of misfolded proteins (Hetz et al. 2020). IRE1 can also cleave a small set of mRNAs or precursor microRNAs in a process known as regulated IRE1-dependent decay (RIDD), thought to relieve protein folding load by lowering mRNA abundance (Hollien et al. 2006).

ATF6 is synthesized as an inactive precursor, tethered to the ER membrane by its transmembrane segment. Upon ER stress, ATF6 transits from ER to the Golgi apparatus, where it is cleaved to release the active cytosolic DNA-binding fragment, termed ATF6p50 (Haze et al. 1999). ATF6p50 translocates to the nucleus where it acts both in parallel and overlapping with XBP1, upregulating ER protein folding capacity as well as promoting ER and Golgi apparatus biogenesis to increase secretory capacity (Hetz et al. 2020).

The ER luminal domain of PERK is normally bound by the 78-kDa glucose-regulated protein (GRP78). In the classical model of PERK activation, GRP78 dissociates from PERK upon an accumulation of misfolded proteins, allowing *trans*-autophosphorylation of its kinase domain (Bertolotti et al. 2000), and thereby gaining full catalytic activity to phosphorylate the α subunit of eukaryotic translation initiation factor-2 (eIF2 α) on serine 51 (Ernst et al. 1979, Pathak et al. 1988, Harding et al. 1999). However, due to its strong sequence homology with IRE1, PERK has also been proposed to be activated by direct binding of unfolded proteins to its luminal domain (Korennykh et al. 2012). eIF2 participates in translation initiation by forming a 43S preinitiation complex, and when bound to GTP facilitates recognition of the

initiation codon by this complex (Jackson et al. 2010). Phosphorylation of the α subunit of eIF2 (p-eIF2 α) inhibits the guanine nucleotide exchange factor eIF2B, which catalyze the exchange of GDP-bound eIF2 to its active form GTP-bound eIF2. Consequently, p-eIF2 α reduce the amount of active eIF2 resulting in lower levels of translation initiation and, hence, global reduction in the load of newly synthesized proteins (Kimball 1999, Jackson et al. 2010). In addition to reducing protein load for the ER, PERK-mediated p-eIF2 α also contributes to transcriptional upregulation of specific mRNAs that harbor one or more upstream open reading frames in their 5' untranslated regions, whereof ATF4 is the best characterized (Lu et al. 2004). Additional eIF2 kinases exist that can activate this pathway independent of ER stress. Hence, the PERK pathway of the UPR is also known as part of the ISR (Figure 4).

The integrated stress response

The ISR is an elaborate signaling pathway in eukaryotic cells activated in response to both extrinsic conditions, such as hypoxia and amino acid deprivation, and intrinsic conditions, such as accumulation of misfolded proteins. The common point of convergence is phosphorylation of the serine 51 residue of eIF2 α (Ron 2002, Pakos-Zebrucka et al. 2016), downregulating global protein synthesis while at the same time allowing translation of selected genes important for cell survival (Lu et al. 2004).

As illustrated in Figure 4, four serine/threonine kinases catalyze the phosphorylation of eIF2 α ; PERK (as already addressed under UPR), PKR (protein kinase double-stranded RNAdependent), GCN2 (general control non-derepressible-2) and HRI (heme-regulated inhibitor). They have a high degree of sequence similarity, underlying their common role in phosphorylating eIF2 α . However, each kinase primarily responds to a distinct type of stress, reflecting their unique regulatory mechanisms (Donnelly et al. 2013). While PERK is primarily activated by ER stress, PKR is primarily activated by double-stranded RNA during viral infections, GCN2 in response to amino acid deprivation and HRI by heme deficiency and oxidative stress (Pakos-Zebrucka et al. 2016). Although distinct types of stress activate the eIF2a kinases, they have overlapping functions and may act cooperatively or compensate for each other to precisely tune the cellular response (Ron 2002, Donnelly et al. 2013, Pakos-Zebrucka et al. 2016). The PKR protein is localized in the cytosol and nucleus, and contains an N-terminal double-stranded RNA binding domain and a C-terminal kinase domain. Dimerization of the kinase domain upon binding of double-stranded RNA leads to autophosphorylation and subsequent functional activation of the kinase (Ung et al. 2001, Vattem et al. 2001, Lemaire et al. 2008). As an important strategy to inhibit viral replication, PKR activation leading to p-eIF2 α blocks translation of viral mRNAs. PKR activation has also been implicated as an activator of signaling pathways such as p53 and NF- κ B, mediating PKR-induced apoptosis (García et al. 2007).

Activation of GCN2 is proposed to depend on the accumulation of deacylated transfer RNAs (tRNAs) that occur when cells are starved for amino acids as tRNA synthetase enzymes fail to aminoacylate tRNA (Wek et al. 1989, Masson 2019). The binding of deacylated tRNAs to the histidyl-tRNA synthetase-related domain on GCN2 is thought to release the autoinhibitory interactions of the inactive GCN2 homodimer (Dong et al. 2000). This allows for autophosphorylation and kinase activation, attenuating general protein translation when amino acids are scarce. As an additional mechanism, independent of deacylated tRNA, stalled ribosomes are described to mediate GCN2 activation (Ishimura et al. 2016), and GCN2 is further found to be activated by glucose deprivation (Ye et al. 2010), viral infections (Berlanga et al. 2006) and UV irradiation (Grallert et al. 2007).

HRI was initially thought to mainly be expressed in erythroid cells, protecting the cell against toxic accumulation of α - and β -globin when heme levels are low under iron deficiency (Kramer et al. 1976, Levin et al. 1976, Chen 2006). Binding of heme to the two heme-binding domains of HRI causes a stable, inactive HRI dimer when cellular heme levels are high. In the absence of heme, the HRI dimer autophosphorylates activating its kinase domain attenuating general protein translation including globin mRNA (Rafie-Kolpin et al. 2000, Bauer et al. 2001, Rafie-Kolpin et al. 2003, Chen 2006, Donnelly et al. 2013). Activation of HRI independent of heme, has been proposed to be mediated by heat shock proteins HSP90 and HSP70 in response to arsenite-induced oxidative stress, heat shock or osmotic stress (Lu et al. 2001).

Regulation of protein synthesis holds the advantage of enabling an immediate and reversible response upon cellular stress (Holcik et al. 2005). Dephosphorylation of eIF2 α is required to terminate the ISR and restore protein synthesis and normal cell function. The dephosphorylation process is mediated by the protein phosphatase 1 complex (PP1) (Pakos-Zebrucka et al. 2016). PP1 activity is regulated by GADD34, whose expression is induced as part of the ISR, or by the constitutive repressor of eIF2 α phosphorylation (CReP) responsible for targeting PP1 to

eIF2 α (Figure 4). CReP acts to sustain translational homeostasis under normal conditions by maintaining low levels of p-eIF2 α (Jousse et al. 2003). In contrast, the GADD34-eIF2 α pathway acts as an important negative feedback loop to significantly increase eIF2 α dephosphorylation once the stress is resolved (Kojima et al. 2003). The dephosphorylation step is important to facilitate translation of accumulated stress-responsive genes and allow for the expression of death-inducing proteins when cellular homeostasis cannot be restored (Pakos-Zebrucka et al. 2016).

While regulation of translation provides the cell with the plasticity needed to respond rapidly, regulation at the transcription level fine-tunes the long-term cellular response through sophisticated gene expression programs. A key output of p-eIF2 α is enhanced translation of bZIP (basic leucine zipper domain) transcription factors such as ATF4 (Figure 4). ATF4 belongs to the activating transcription factor/cyclic AMP response element binding protein (ATF/CREB family) and is the best characterized effector of the ISR tailoring the responses to the different cellular stresses (Ameri et al. 2008). Its interaction with other proteins, via the bZIP domain, modulates the transcriptional selectivity of ATF4. Increased levels of ATF4 serve as a transcriptional inducer of numerous genes involved in resolving the cellular stress, such as antioxidant response, amino acid metabolism and transport, protein synthesis, and autophagy. Additionally, ATF4 participates in the GADD34-eIF2 α feedback loop by increasing GADD34 transcription, and upregulates genes involved in programmed cell death upon prolonged stress activation (Pakos-Zebrucka et al. 2016, Hetz et al. 2020).

The antioxidant response

It is generally accepted that biological redox reactions promote both physiological responses and pathological cues (Espinosa-Diez et al. 2015, Wen et al. 2020). Low or moderate ROS or reactive nitrogen species act as part of signaling pathways and defense mechanisms initiating homeostatic responses. In contrast, overproduction of such reactive species is detrimental to cells, incurring damage to proteins, DNA, and lipids. In the defense system, cells have evolved enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidants and antioxidant signaling pathways to manage scavenging of excessive ROS (Wen et al. 2020).

ROS alters protein function mainly by oxidation of redox-reactive cysteine residues, forming reactive sulfenic acid (-SOH). This oxidized form can react with other nearby cysteines forming disulfide bonds or undergo further oxidation. Most of these redox modifications are reversible by antioxidant reducing systems, enabling ROS regulation of signaling pathways (Ray et al. 2012). Antioxidant molecules can react with oxidants giving them one or two electrons. Glutathione (GSH) is considered the most abundant among the endogenous antioxidants, enabling electron donation as two electron-donating GSH molecules form oxidized GSSG (Lu 2009), as illustrated in Figure 4. GSH acts as a ROS scavenger by direct interaction with reactive species and indirectly by revitalizing other antioxidants systems. As such, GSH homeostasis, regulated by de novo synthesis, utilization, recycling and cellular export, is important for the cell to maintain cellular redox balance (Lu 2009, Espinosa-Diez et al. 2015). GSH is synthesized in two steps; first, glutamate-cysteine ligase catalyzes the formation of γ glutamylcysteine from L-glutamate and cysteine; second, glutathione synthetase catalyzes the addition of glycine to the C-terminal of γ -glutamylcysteine (Meister et al. 1983, Lu 2009). Under homeostatic conditions, the GSH synthesis rate is largely determined by the cysteine availability and the glutamate-cysteine ligase activity. Cysteine readily autoxidizes to cystine in the extracellular fluid, however once it enters the cell, cystine is rapidly reduced to cysteine (Bannai et al. 1986). Therefore, cystine import through system X_C⁻ is a crucial factor regulating intracellular levels of cysteine (Bannai et al. 1980, Makowske et al. 1982, Takada et al. 1984, Bannai 1986). System X_C⁻ is a cystine/glutamate antiporter (Bannai 1986) composed of two components, the catalytic subunit SLC7A11 and the anchoring protein SLC3A2 (Sato et al. 1999). Inhibition of cystine import via system X_c⁻ trigger ferroptosis (Dixon et al. 2012), an iron-mediated lipid-peroxidation-dependent form of regulated cell death, demonstrating the antiporter's significance in maintaining cellular GSH levels and redox balance (Dixon et al. 2012, Xie et al. 2016, Stockwell et al. 2017) (Figure 4).

Multiple ROS sensing pathways converge on transcription factors, such as Nrf2 (Itoh et al. 1997), AP-1 (activator protein-1) (Sen et al. 1996), and NF-kB (nuclear factor kappa B) (Gloire et al. 2006), to increase the expression of genes involved in ROS detoxification and cellular homeostasis. A major regulator of cytoprotective responses to oxidative stress is the Nrf2-Keap1 (Kelch-like ECH-associated protein 1) pathway (Motohashi et al. 2004, Baird et al. 2011). The half-life and hence transcription factor activity of Nrf2 is tightly regulated by its interaction with Keap1, as illustrated in Figure 4. Keap1 targets Nrf2 for ubiquitination and subsequent degradation by a Cullin-3-mediated ubiquitination complex (Cullinan et al. 2004).

The Keap1-mediated rapid turnover of Nrf2, keeps Nrf2 at low levels under normal conditions. However, when cells are exposed to oxidative stress, oxidation of reactive cysteine residues in Keap1 inactivates Keap1 resulting in Nrf2 stabilization and translocation to the nucleus (Itoh et al. 1999). The oxidation sensitive cysteine residues act as molecular switches that enable Keap1 to regulate steady-state levels of Nrf2 in response to perturbations in the intracellular redox environment (Baird et al. 2011). In the nucleus, Nrf2 heterodimerize with members of the sMaf protein family and targets a *cis*-acting antioxidant response element (ARE) sequence located in the promoter region of many cytoprotective genes (Itoh et al. 1997). Nrf2 triggers the transcriptional upregulation of enzymes involved in antioxidant response such as glutamate-cysteine ligase (rate-limiting step in GSH synthesis), glutathione S-transferases (conjugation of GSH to electrophiles), heme oxygenase-1 (breakdown of heme into the antioxidant biliverdin), system X_C^- (cystine/glutamate antiporter), as well as genes involved in lipid metabolism, NADPH regeneration and autophagy biogenesis (Motohashi et al. 2004, Baird et al. 2011, Espinosa-Diez et al. 2015).

Autophagy

One of the key pathways that mediate stress-induced metabolic adaptation to prevent potential damage is autophagy. Autophagy, which translates to *self-eating*, is a highly conserved catabolic process delivering intracellular material to the lysosomes for degradation and recycling of building blocks (Mizushima et al. 2011). The autophagic process is thus able to remove damaged organelles and protein aggregates, and provide the cell with nutrients for vital cellular functions. This makes autophagy both an important housekeeping pathway under homeostatic conditions, and cytoprotective pathway under stress.

The autophagy pathway is generally subdivided into three categories; microautophagy, macroautophagy, and chaperone-mediated autophagy (CMA) (Boya et al. 2013). The division is based on the mechanism of delivering cytoplasmic material to the lysosome, which for microautophagy involves the direct invagination of the lysosomal membrane (Oku et al. 2018) and for CMA involves a transmembrane protein translocation complex in the limiting membrane of the lysosome (Kaushik et al. 2018). By contrast, during macroautophagy the formation of a double-membrane vesicle, the autophagosome, engulfs the cytoplasmic cargo

and fuses with the lysosome (Klionsky et al. 1999, Yang et al. 2010, Mizushima et al. 2011). Macroautophagy is the best characterized of the three and the focus of this thesis, and will henceforth be referred to as autophagy. Autophagy was initially believed to be non-selective, sequestering an arbitrary portion of the cytoplasm (Kopitz et al. 1990, Seglen et al. 1990). Today, we know that autophagy can also be selective (Beese et al. 2020), where specific cargo receptors serve as adaptors to target substrate such as ER or mitochondria (Klionsky et al. 2007). This work has, however, focused on the non-selective phagophore-mediated bulk autophagy.



Figure 5. The autophagy pathway is initiated by the ULK complex (ULK1 and 2, ATG13, ATG101, FIP200), which translocate to the phagophore assembly site and engage phospholipid synthesis through the PI3KC3 complex (Vps34, Vps15, Beclin 1, ATG14L). DFCP1 and WIPI proteins binds the resulting PI(3)P, and recruits the E1-, E2- and E3-like conjugation machinery (ATG3, ATG7, ATG10, ATG12, ATG5, ATG16L1) in the proximity to the nascent phagophore. Cytosolic ATG8-I is conjugated to the phagophore after cleavage by ATG4, forming the lipidated ATG8-II. The phagophore expands and sequesters cytosolic components and organelles, and ultimately closes in on itself to from the autophagosome. Upon fusion with the lysosome, the inner autophagosomal membrane and the sequestered cargo is degraded by lysosomal hydrolases.

Genes encoding proteins involved in autophagy were first described in yeast (Tsukada et al. 1993), however several independent groups identified genes essential for autophagy during the same period, resulting in several names for the same gene/protein and the need for a common

nomenclature for autophagy-related (ATG) genes/proteins (Klionsky et al. 2003). Mechanistically the autophagy pathway involves a complex set of steps depending on the sequential action of a distinct set of ATG proteins (Itakura et al. 2010), as illustrated in Figure 5. A subset of 'core' ATG proteins are essential for autophagosome formation. This core molecular machinery consists of: (1) Atg1/the unc-51-like kinase 1 (ULK1) complex (ULK1 and 2, ATG13, FIP200, ATG101), (2) the class III Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3KC3) complex (Vps34, Vps15, Beclin 1, ATG14L), (3) two ubiquitin-like protein conjugation systems (ATG12, ATG5, ATG16L1 and Atg8/LC3/GABARAP), and (4) two multi-spanning transmembrane proteins (ATG9L and VMP1) (Kabeya et al. 2000, Yang et al. 2010, Mizushima et al. 2011).

Autophagy is initiated by the concerted action of the ULK1 complex and PI3KC3 complex, acting downstream of the target of rapamycin (mTOR) complex 1 (mTORC1) (Chan et al. 2007, Ganley et al. 2009, Hosokawa et al. 2009, Mizushima et al. 2011, Russell et al. 2013). Under nutrient-rich conditions, mTORC1 keeps the ULK1 complex in an inactive state by phosphorylating ULK1 at Serine757 (Kim et al. 2011) and ATG13 at Serine258 (Puente et al. 2016). Upon nutrient starvation or pharmacological inhibition of mTORC1, mTORC1 dissociates from the ULK1 complex, resulting in dephosphorylation and translocation of the complex to the site of phagophore assembly (Ganley et al. 2009, Kim et al. 2011, Puente et al. 2016). Assembly of the initial phagophore membrane, as a cup-shaped structure in the ER, called omegasome, requires PI3KC3 activation (Axe et al. 2008, Hayashi-Nishino et al. 2009). The activated ULK1 kinase is recruited to the PI3KC3 complex through binding of the ATG14L component (Matsunaga et al. 2010). ULK1 thus phosphorylates Beclin 1 activating the Vps34 kinase (Russell et al. 2013). This leads to generation of phosphatidylinositol 3-phosphate (PI(3)P) at the phagophore membrane by phosphorylation of the lipid phosphatidylinositol, recruiting the machinery involved in phagophore expansion (Volinia et al. 1995, Russell et al. 2013).

PI(3)P serves as a binding site to recruit specific effectors such as DFCP1 (zinc finger FYVE domain-containing protein 1) (Derubeis et al. 2000, Axe et al. 2008) and WIPI (WD-repeat protein-interacting phosphoinositide) (Proikas-Cezanne et al. 2004, Mauthe et al. 2011). These effectors rapidly recruit the ATG12, ATG5, ATG16L1 ubiquitin-like conjugation system. In an E1- and E2-like manner (facilitated by ATG7 and ATG10), ATG5 and ATG12 are conjugated and non-covalently associated with ATG16L1, which binds WIPI in the forming phagophore (Itakura et al. 2010, Dooley et al. 2014). This complex further acts as an E3-like
enzyme for LC3 lipidation, who's ubiquitin-like reactions are occurring in parallel. There are two subfamilies of ATG8 proteins in mammals; the LC3 subfamily of LC3A, LC3B and LC3C and the gamma-aminobutyric acid receptor-associated protein (GABARAP) subfamily of GABARAP, GABARAPL1 and GABARAPL2/Golgi-associated ATPase enhancer of 16 kDa (GATE-16) protein (Shpilka et al. 2011). Newly synthesized pro-LC3 is cleaved at the Cterminal by the cysteine protease ATG4 exposing a glycine and generating the cytosolic LC3-I (Kirisako et al. 2000). This glycine residue is used to conjugate LC3-I to phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) in the phagophore membrane in an E1- and E2-like manner facilitated by ATG3 and ATG7, forming the lipidated LC3-PE (LC3-II) (Ichimura et al. 2000, Fujita et al. 2008). The 'ATG12, ATG5, ATG16L1'- E3-like enzyme recruits and stimulates the E2-like protein ATG3, and hence promote LC3 lipidation (Hanada et al. 2007). LC3-II attaches to both faces of the phagophore membrane, and has been proposed to promote autophagosome formation (Nakatogawa et al. 2007, Weidberg et al. 2010). Furthermore, the ATG8s recruit cargo receptors for selective degradation by binding to the LIR (LC3-interacting region) motif of the cargo receptors (Pankiv et al. 2007, Noda et al. 2008). The forming autophagosome can thus capture cargo either in bulk or in a highly selective manner, emphasizing the importance of the pathway in relation to various cellular stress (Reggiori et al. 2012). ATG4 is further involved in deconjugating and hence removing LC3 from the outer surface of closed autophagosomes (Satoo et al. 2009).

The completed autophagosomes are then transported by motor proteins along the cytoskeleton to the perinuclear region in proximity to lysosomes (Cardoso et al. 2009, Pankiv et al. 2010, Maday et al. 2012). The molecular mechanisms of transport and fusion is incompletely understood, but known to involve RAB GTPases (Ganley et al. 2011), membrane tethering factors (McEwan et al. 2015, Wartosch et al. 2015), and SNARE proteins (Fader et al. 2009, Itakura et al. 2012). During maturation the autophagosome may fuse with endosomes forming an amphisome (Gordon et al. 1988, Berg et al. 1998), which subsequently fuses with the lysosome, or the autophagosome may directly fuse with the lysosome (Dunn 1990). Upon fusion with the lysosome, the inner autophagosomal membrane and the sequestered cargo is degraded by lysosomal hydrolases (Mizushima et al. 2002).



Figure 6. mTORC1 is the master negative regulator of autophagy. Activated mTORC1 will phosphorylate the translation inhibitor 4E-BP1 and ribosomal protein S6 kinase leading to translation initiation and protein synthesis, while at the same time inactivate autophagy. Deprivation of amino acids inhibits mTORC1, thus activating autophagy. Growth factor signaling through PI3K/AKT pathway inhibits autophagy by activating mTORC1. The energy-sensor AMPK may activate autophagy by inhibiting mTORC1 or directly phosphorylating and activating ULK1 or Beclin 1, or suppress autophagy by phosphorylating ATG13. Various stress-inducing factors converge on Beclin 1 for autophagy regulation.

Efficient regulation of autophagy is crucial for the cell to adapt to various stress and autophagosome formation is thus highly inducible upon demand. Being tightly coupled to the cell's metabolic needs, different nutrient-sensing pathways convey signals to the autophagy machinery, as illustrated in Figure 6. The large serine/threonine protein kinase mTOR regulates cellular homeostasis by coordinating anabolic and catabolic processes (Blommaart et al. 1995, Sengupta et al. 2010). Two mTOR complexes exist, wherein mTORC1 is found to be the master negative regulator of autophagy. Activated mTORC1 will phosphorylate the translation inhibitor 4E-BP1 and ribosomal protein S6 kinase leading to translation initiation and protein synthesis. While at the same time binding and phosphorylating ATG13 (Puente et al. 2016) and ULK1 (Kim et al. 2011), thus inactivating autophagy (Kim et al. 2019). Deprivation of amino acids is the best characterized trigger of autophagy, inhibiting mTORC1 releasing the breaks on autophagy (Seglen et al. 1980, Seglen et al. 1984, Blommaart et al. 1995). AMP (5'

adenosine monophosphate)-activated protein kinase (AMPK) is another well characterized regulator of autophagy. AMPK is an energy-sensing kinase activated when intracellular ATP levels are reduced, resulting in a relative increase in AMP or ADP. Thus, activated AMPK initiates catabolic processes such as autophagy to generate more ATP. The best-studied mechanism of autophagy activation by AMPK is by suppression of the mTORC1 pathway (Mihaylova et al. 2011). However, evidence indicates that AMPK can bypass mTORC1 and induce autophagy by directly phosphorylating ULK1 at Serine317 and Serine777 (Kim et al. 2011), or suppress autophagy by phosphorylation of ATG13 at Serine224 (Puente et al. 2016). Oppositely, growth factor signaling through the class I Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K)/AKT pathway is known to inhibit autophagy by activating mTORC1 (He et al. 2009). Moreover, several stress-inducing factors such as ROS, DNA-damage, hypoxia/anoxia, and ER-stress are also described to fine-tune autophagy through activation of stress-responsive kinases (He et al. 2009), and upregulation of transcription factors, like ATF4, TFEB and TFE3 (Füllgrabe et al. 2016).

Several of the stress-activated signaling pathways have been demonstrated to converge on Beclin 1 for autophagy regulation (Menon et al. 2018). Beclin 1 was originally identified as an interaction partner of the anti-apoptotic protein Bcl-2 (Liang et al. 1998), and binding of Bcl-2 to the N-terminal Bcl-2 homology (BH3) domain on Beclin 1 is found to inhibit autophagy (Pattingre et al. 2005). Death-associated protein kinase-1 (DAPK1) phosphorylates the BH3domain of Beclin 1, disturbing its interaction with Bcl-2 facilitating autophagy (Zalckvar et al. 2009). The proapoptotic kinase Mst1 (mammalian STE20-like protein kinase 1) is on the other hand found to stabilize the Beclin 1-Bcl-2 interaction, inhibiting autophagy in cardiomyocytes (Maejima et al. 2013). The stress-activated mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPKs), c-jun NH2-terminal kinase (JNKs) and p38 MAPKs, are found to increase the lipid kinase activity of the Vps34 in PI3KC3 autophagy nucleation complex through its effects on Bcl-2 and Beclin 1 (Wei et al. 2015). JNK1 was demonstrated to phosphorylate Bcl-2 inducing the dissociation of the Beclin 1-Bcl-2 complex, while the p38-downstream kinases MAPKAPK2 and MAPKAPK3 directly phosphorylate Beclin 1 at the Serine 90 residue (Wei et al. 2015). The Serine 90 and 93 phosphorylation sites of Beclin 1 was originally identified during starvation-induced autophagy (Fogel et al. 2013), but have later been demonstrated to be a target of several kinases such as AMPK (Kim et al. 2013), DAPK3 (Fujiwara et al. 2016), and CaMKII (Calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II) (Li et al. 2017).

AIMS OF THE STUDIES

Fundamental studies on how NPs interact with biological systems is imperative for their use as therapeutic or diagnostic agents. The three papers of this thesis investigate how NPs affect cellular stress responses *in vitro* (in cultured cells) with the aim to characterize the stress response pathways and decipher the consequences such stress impose on cytotoxicity, cell death mechanisms and the lysosomal intracellular degradation pathway, autophagy.

To exploit the potential of NPs in medicine, detailed knowledge on the nature and extent of NP-induced cellular stress responses is required. In the work of **Paper I**, we aimed to study how minor alterations in the NP polymer composition can affect the type and magnitude of cellular stress, and whether this reflects NP-induced cytotoxicity and mode of cell death.

Nanoparticles trigger a variety of cellular stress responses, among which autophagy is one of the pathways important to maintain cellular homeostasis. By using the highly similar PACA particles employed in Paper I, we aimed in the work of **Paper II** to systematically study how the PACA variants affects the autophagy pathway and whether the PACA-induced stress responses, identified in Paper I, relate to the effect on autophagy.

Our investigations in Paper II exemplify the ambiguity that may be associated with LC3 as a marker of autophagy regulation upon NP exposure. In the work of **Paper III**, we aimed to investigate how NPs may regulate autophagic cargo degradation. This was performed by comparing several functional autophagy assays, and we used the PBCA particle, one of the PACA NPs employed in Paper I and II, as a model particle. Both because this NP is known to induce redox imbalance (Paper I), which is a representative feature of several NPs, but also to further explore the surprising block in LC3 lipidation that we observed in Paper II.

SUMMARY OF PAPER I

Small variations in nanoparticle structure dictate differential cellular stress responses and mode of cell death

NPs can be highly reactive structures and induce cellular stress upon treatment. In the aim to regain homeostasis the cell can initiate a variety of stress responses. However, if the insult is too severe the originally induced pro-survival pathways may be switched to a pro-death mechanism. Consequently, the NP-induced stress responses may contribute to the therapeutic response, but may also counteract the intended therapy.

To investigate how minor differences in NP composition may affect the outcome of NP-cell interaction, we employed PACA NPs made from alkylcyanoacrylate monomers differing only in their alkyl side chains. The resulting particles, PBCA (butyl), PEBCA (ethylbutyl) and POCA (octyl), exhibited similar physicochemical characteristics, such as size (133-153 nm), polydispersity (0.13-0.16) and surface charge (-2.4 to -3.4 mV).

Strikingly, the highly similar PACA particles displayed different cytotoxicity in a panel of cell lines. In general, POCA induced the highest cytotoxicity, whereas PEBCA was the least toxic. All PACAs activated the ISR observed by phosphorylation of $eIF2\alpha$ in a manner dependent on several ISR kinases, however with a stronger dependency on the HRI kinase for PBCA. The POCA particle induced ER stress through PERK and IRE1 activation, and selectively induced apoptotic cell death attributed to caspase activation and fully rescued by the pan-caspase inhibitor z-VAD. The PEBCA and PBCA particles induced oxidative stress, accumulating ATF4 and Nrf2, and induced the cell death mechanism *ferroptosis* in a manner dependent on the cell's ability to mount a redox defense. Consequently, the PEBCA- and PBCA-induced cytotoxicity was demonstrated to be highly dependent on the level of cystine and transcription of the cystine transporter *SLC7A11*. PEBCA induced pro-survival Nrf2 activation to a larger extent than PBCA, upregulating SLC7A11 among other antioxidant proteins. The PEBCA- and PBCA-induced that the increased ability to activate a prolonged cell protective response contributes to the lower cytotoxicity of PEBCA particles.

In conclusion, our study demonstrates that even minor alterations in PACA NP composition have consequential effects on cellular responses and mode of cell death. It further underscores the importance of detailed investigations of the NP-cell interaction for optimal exploitation of NPs in medicine.



Figure 7. Summarized illustration of Paper I. A model of the variation in PACA-induced cellular stress responses and mode of cell death. * HRI is particularly induced by PBCA. ** Nrf2 is particularly induced by PEBCA.

SUMMARY OF PAPER II

Structural Variants of poly(alkylcyanoacrylate) Nanoparticles Differentially Affect LC3 and Autophagic Cargo Degradation.

In **Paper I**, we showed that small variations in the alkyl side chains of PACA NPs, butyl (PBCA), ethylbutyl (PEBCA), or octyl (POCA), differentially induce ER stress and redox imbalance in human cell lines. The stress induced by NPs may initiate a concerted action of stress response pathways. One of the key pathways that mediates stress-induced adaptation is autophagy, having fundamental functions in cellular homeostasis and survival. Understanding the details of how NPs influence autophagy-related proteins and the autophagic process is thus of great interest.

Here, we systematically investigate how the PACA variants studied in Paper I, affect the autophagy pathway and whether the PACA-induced stress responses relate to the effect on autophagy.

Interestingly, we found that treatment with both PEBCA and POCA particles led to intracellular accumulation of the autophagosome marker LC3-II. PEBCA increased transcription of *LC3B* mRNA by activation of the ISR and accumulation of ATF4, causing elevated LC3-II protein levels. POCA, on the other hand, increased LC3-II protein levels as a consequence of inhibited LC3-II degradation determined both by inhibition in LC3 flux and autophagic cargo degradation (LLPD). In contrast, treatment with PBCA did not affect LC3-II protein levels, even though activation of the ISR and accumulation of ATF4 increased LC3B mRNA levels. On the contrary, PBCA seemed to inhibit LC3-lipidation, reducing LC3 flux and autophagic LLPD. Moreover, lysosomal dysfunction did not attribute the different effects on autophagy by the PACA NPs.

In conclusion, our data demonstrate that PACA NP composition have profoundly different impact on the autophagy-related gene product LC3 and autophagic degradation, being a key process for cellular homeostasis. These findings have important implications for the choice of PACA monomer in different therapeutic settings. Additionally, our data highlights that careful monitoring of autophagic flux and cargo degradation is critical for drawing accurate conclusions on the impact of NP treatment on autophagy.



Figure 8. Summarized illustration of Paper II. A simplified model of the PACA NPs' differential effects on LC3B and the various steps of autophagy. Lys: Lysosomes.

SUMMARY OF PAPER III

Perturbation of cellular redox homeostasis dictates divergent effects of polybutyl cyanoacrylate (PBCA) nanoparticles on autophagy.

Cells undergo rapid changes to adapt their metabolism and protect themselves against potential damage. Autophagy is a major cytoprotective pathway in this respect, and efficient regulation is thus crucial for the cell. Oxidative stress is both recognized as a regulator of autophagic activity and a frequent underlying mechanism of NP-induced stress. In Paper II we demonstrated that the highly similar PACA NPs had very different effects on LC3 levels. Where POCA and PEBCA increased LC3-II, treatment with PBCA surprisingly reduced LC3-II levels due to a block in LC3 lipidation to the forming autophagosome.

Intrigued by this, we performed a comprehensive investigation into how the PBCA particle affects the different steps of autophagy, from LC3 lipidation and autophagosome formation, to degradation of typical autophagic cargos in several functional assays.

Strikingly, PBCA induced opposing effects on autophagy regulation depending on the NP concentration. Treatment with the highest concentration of PBCA ($25 \mu g/ml$), inhibited Torin1-induced LC3 lipidation and autophagic cargo degradation in a redox imbalance-dependent manner. The inhibition was fully reversible by co-treatment with antioxidants and was mimicked by H₂O₂. In contrast, at lower concentrations (<12.5 µg/ml) PBCA increased autophagic degradation beyond that induced by the mTORC1-inhibitor Torin1, without a concomitant increase in LC3 turnover. The stimulatory effect was found to depend on activation of both the JNK and p38-MAPKAPK2 pathway downstream of redox stress, which led to increased phosphorylation of Bcl-2 and the Ser90 residue of Beclin 1, respectively.

In conclusion, our data demonstrates how the degree of redox imbalance induced by PBCA can modulate the autophagic response. At moderate levels, the cell can respond by stimulating autophagy to regain homeostasis. In contrast, if the oxidative imbalance is too severe, the autophagic process is inhibited, and cell survival decrease over time. Furthermore, this study illustrates the high grade of corroboration between several functional autophagy assays.



Figure 9. Summarized illustration of Paper III. A model of the dual effect on autophagy depending on the severity of the PBCA-induced oxidative stress.

EXPERIMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS

All methods used in this work is thoroughly described in their respective papers. This section discusses important methodological considerations with regards to the primary methods employed throughout this thesis.

Aspects of nanoparticle characterization and treatment

Fundamental to NP studies is proper characterization of their physicochemical properties as they provide the foundation for systematic investigations and are important determinants of NP cytotoxicity. The PACA NPs used in this thesis were obtained through collaboration with Dr. Yrr Mørch at SINTEF (SINTEF Industry, Dept. Biotechnology and Nanomedicine, Trondheim, Norway). SINTEF have the proper equipment, staff and expertise for both manufacturing and characterizing NPs. The PACA NPs are synthesized by mini-emulsion polymerization using cyanoacrylate monomers having different alkyl groups; butyl (PBCA), ethylbutyl (PEBCA) and octyl (POCA) as illustrated in Figure 10. The mini-emulsion polymerization is a one-step method mixing the oil phase with the aqueous phase using an ultrasonic homogenizer. The oil phase consists of the specific PACA monomer and the co-stabilizer miglyol®810N (2 wt%, Cremer). When preparing NPs for cellular uptake studies, also the hydrophobic dye pentamer hydrogen thiophene acetic acid methyl ester (pHTAM, 0.5 wt%) was included in the oil phase. The aqueous phase consists of hydrochloric acid (HCl, 0.1 M) and the PEG-surfactants Kolliphor[®] HS15 (6 mM) and Pluronic[®] F68 (long PEG), 1mM). The anionic polymerization was initiated by addition of the PEG-surfactants, and the polymerization reaction was allowed to carry out overnight. After which, unreacted monomers and surplus of surfactants were rinsed by extensive dialysis. The final concentration of "free" surfactant in the NP dispersions were found to be far below cytotoxicity levels. The PACA NPs were further characterized at their facilities by size, size distribution and surface charge in 0.01 M phosphate buffer by a Zetasizer Nano ZS (Malvern Instruments) using dynamic and electrophoretic light scattering. They found the PACA NPs to be stable for many years when kept at acidic conditions (< pH 5) at 4 °C. This extraordinary stability was highly beneficial and simplified our use of these NPs, and importantly, data obtained during a single project resulted from the use of just a few (Paper I and II) or in fact only one batch of NPs (Paper III). Degradation of the PACAs increased at pH

6-7 (Sulheim et al. 2016). Moreover, the PACA NPs were found to be colloidally stable when transferred to either PBS, cell medium or human plasma at physiological pH. However, when degradation starts the NPs swell due to hydrolyzation and partly agglomeration. This is a beneficial property with regards to drug delivery as the NPs eventually need to degrade in order to release the payload and be excreted from the body.

By the mini-emulsion method the dye/drug is associated with the PACA NP through hydrophobic interactions, not covalently bound, and is hence a constituent of the oil phase. This makes the dye/drug susceptible to leakage once in contact with other hydrophobic domains (Klymchenko et al. 2012, Snipstad et al. 2017). It has been demonstrated that the less hydrophobic dye Nile Red is delivered directly to the cytosol by contact-mediated transfer from the PBCA NP, not requiring endocytosis for internalization. Whereas the more hydrophobic dye pHTAM, which was included in the particles used in Paper I, requires endocytosis to be internalized and is hence internalized with the PBCA NP (Snipstad et al. 2014). This is an important aspect, as fluorescence from released dye can wrongly be interpreted to be associated with the NP. Such a contact-mediated transfer and leakage from various NPs has been demonstrated by several groups (Xu et al. 2009, Andreozzi et al. 2013, Snipstad et al. 2014, Simonsson et al. 2016).

Upon reception in our lab, the PACA NPs were stored as recommended at 4 °C. Additionally, before the NPs were employed in any experiment, we validated the physicochemical characterization, such as size and size distribution.



Figure 10. The PACA NPs used in this work were synthesized by mini-emulsion polymerization using the monomers butyl cyanoacrylate (BCA), ethylbutyl cyanoacrylate (EBCA) and octyl cyanoacrylate (OCA) (**A**). The anionic polymerization process of BCA (**B**): a group containing a free electron bind the CH₂ group, and the free electron is moved to the central C-atom, i). The now negative charged BCA can act on a neighboring BCA molecule, ii). The chain reaction leads to the polymerization of the PBCA molecules, iii). The completed PACA NP with the dye, pHTAM, associated through hydrophobic interactions and the PEG-polymers, Kolliphor HS15 and Pluronic F68, chemically bound to the PACA polymer (**C**).

Our three papers investigate how NPs affect cellular stress responses *in vitro* (in cultured cells) wherein there are several aspects to consider. First, the colloidal NP suspension was vortexed directly before use to ensure full dispersion in the solvent. Second, we aimed to keep the NP-to-cell ratio as constant as possible throughout the different assays, as this parameter has proved

to be more important than NP concentration when working with cells seeded in tissue culture plates (Unciti-Broceta et al. 2015, Drasler et al. 2017, Moore et al. 2019). To obtain a constant NP-to-cell ratio when working with tissue culture dishes ranging from 96-well plates to 6-well plates, the volume of growth medium in the dish during NP treatment was adjusted according to the different well areas. Third, to be able to compare NP cytotoxicity across our panel of cancer cell lines, all cell types were seeded to have a confluency of approximately 80% at the time of NP treatment. Fourth, the protein corona forming around NPs in biological systems is an important topic in NP cytotoxicity as it dictates the NP-cell interaction (Nel et al. 2009, Corbo et al. 2016, Wang et al. 2019). To keep the protein corona as similar as possible between amino acid starvation conditions (EBSS, Earle's balanced salt solution) and complete medium we supplemented the EBSS with dialyzed, and thus amino acid free, fetal bovine serum. By using a dialysis tube cutoff of 3.5 kDa, we exclusively remove amino acids and other small soluble components while maintaining the serum proteins.

Assessment of cellular effects of nanoparticles

Assessment of NP cytotoxicity generally fall into two categories, functional assays (addressing the effects of NPs on cellular processes) and viability assays (addressing cell death or metabolic changes induced by NP treatment). Verifying that the three PACA NPs were internalized to the same degree across a panel of cell lines, was critical to this work to be able to relate the differences in cellular responses and cytotoxicity between the PACA variants, and between different cell lines, to the actual amounts of NPs that were internalized. Throughout this work we have mainly assessed effects of subtoxic concentrations of NPs, giving less than 20% reduction in the cellular ATP levels (as a surrogate for viability) after 24 hours and no reduction after 4 hours, to be able to evaluate effects of NP treatment on living cells.

Viability assays

Cytotoxicity assays are normally based on assessing damage to cellular membranes, cell viability/metabolic activity or cell proliferation. We have combined various cytotoxicity assays to reveal specific information regarding the mechanism of cell death by the PACA variants. The reagent CellTox[™] Green (Promega) is based on a fluorescent DNA binding dye that cannot

enter intact live cells, but binds DNA when accessible upon loss of membrane integrity. Fluorescence only occurs upon cell death correlating with the NP-induced cytotoxicity. In a similar manner, we also used the DNA-binding dyes propidium iodide or Hoechst.

By combining assays monitoring cell integrity with assays monitoring caspase activity, such as CellEvent[™] Caspase-3/7 (Invitrogen), we can determine whether cell death is caused by apoptosis. CellEvent[™] Caspase-3/7 Green Detection Reagent is a four-amino acid peptide conjugated to a nucleic acid-binding dye, inhibiting the ability of the dye to bind DNA. Activation of caspase-3 is an essential event during apoptosis (Porter et al. 1999), and after caspase-3/7 activation the four-amino acid peptide is cleaved off, enabling the dye to bind DNA. If Caspase-3/7 fluorescence precedes membrane integrity staining during NP treatment, we can infer that the NPs induce cell death by apoptosis.

In contrast to cell death assays, which estimate the accumulation of dead cells, viability assays provide information on cell viability, often based on the level of metabolic activity. However, viability assays offer little information about the underlying mechanism for the observed changes in metabolic activity. An observed reduction may be caused by a reduced cell number due to an anti-proliferative effect of the treatment, or alternatively, cellular metabolism is reduced without alterations in cell number. The assay CellTiter-Glo[®] (Promega) determines the number of viable cells based on quantification of cellular ATP levels, thus determining the amount of metabolically active cells.

Functional assays

Throughout the three papers of this thesis, we combined various methods to address the cellular stress response pathways affected by the PACA NPs. In Paper I and II this was deciphered mainly using protein markers, pharmacological inhibitors, and siRNA-mediated depletion of proteins (see next section). In Paper III, we turned our focus to measuring functional autophagic degradation after NP treatment. Through a comprehensive set of assays, we monitored the dynamic flux through the entire system, including fusion with lysosomes and processing within the lysosomes.

LC3 flux assay

The formation of LC3-II has been recognized as a hallmark of autophagy regulation, since it was demonstrated that LC3 translocate from cytosol (LC3-I) to the phagophore (LC3-II) upon

starvation (Kabeya et al. 2000). Immunoblotting provides a simple way of evaluating changes in LC3 as LC3-II migrates faster than LC3-I during gel electrophoresis. This results in bands of approximately 14 and 16 kDa, respectively, that can be simultaneously detected using an antibody against endogenous LC3. However, LC3-I and LC3-II can also be distinguished by fluorescence microscopy using antibodies or expression of fluorescently tagged LC3. Due to the membrane localization of LC3-II it will appear as punctate structures, while LC3-I being cytosolic will give a diffuse staining pattern (Klionsky et al. 2021). Upon increased autophagy initiation there is normally an enhanced conversion of LC3-I to LC3-II, which has led to the common interpretation that increased LC3-II indicates increased functional autophagy. However, it has later been clarified that the presence of the LC3 marker itself does not necessarily reveal the actual function of autophagy. Increased LC3-II may arise as more phagophores and autophagosomes are formed, but also as an accumulation-effect due to inhibited degradation. By assessing 'LC3 flux' in the presence or absence of a lysosomal inhibitor such as Bafilomycin A1 (BafA1), we can distinguish between alterations in LC3 lipidation and LC3 degradation. If phagophore formation is increased, inhibiting degradation by BafA1 will cause an enhanced accumulation of LC3-II compared to the inhibition alone (BafA1). However, if the LC3-II increase is already caused by an inhibition in degradation the addition of BafA1 will not change the accumulated LC3-II level (Mizushima et al. 2010, Klionsky et al. 2021). The results from Paper II and Paper III of this thesis clearly emphasize the need to complement the use of LC3-II as a marker, with measures of overall degradation of autophagic cargo proteins, to interpret how NPs may regulate autophagy. For this we exploited the well-established lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) sequestration assay (Luhr et al. 2018) and long-lived protein degradation (LLPD) assay (Luhr et al. 2018, Klionsky et al. 2021), and further made the effort to establish mKeima-based assays in our lab (Katayama et al. 2011).

LDH sequestration assay

The LDH sequestration assays is a method to quantitatively measure the sequestration rate of bulk cytosolic cargo into closed autophagosomes, by using the cytosolic protein LDH as a marker (Figure 11). LDH is a prominent marker of autophagic sequestration as it is ubiquitously expressed, exclusively degraded by autophagy, and sequestered at the same rate as other cytosolic proteins with varying half-lives (Kopitz et al. 1990). To quantify the net sequestration rate of LDH independent of its degradation, an inhibitor of lysosomal degradation, such as BafA1, needs to be included in the experimental procedure. After a given treatment period, the plasma membrane of cells is disrupted by a short electric pulse leaving the membranes of

organelles and vesicles intact. As such LDH sequestered into complete autophagosomes, unaffected membranes, can be separated from cytosolic LDH by density gradient centrifugation. The amount of LDH confined within closed autophagosomes to the total amount of LDH in each sample is measured by the enzymatic activity and divided by the treatment time with BafA1 giving the rate of sequestration. Measuring the enzymatic activity of LDH provides an amplified readout of the LDH level and makes the assay highly sensitive to compare changes in LDH sequestration rate. A strength of the method is thus that it measures sequestration of endogenous cargo in a quantitative manner. As LDH is a small protein, it leaks out of incompletely sealed phagophores and hence only accumulate when the autophagosome is completely sealed. This further allows for specific assessment of the phagophore closure step and the distinguishment of blocked autophagic degradation prior to or post phagophore closure. In a similar manner to LC3 flux, if LDH sequestration is further enhanced compared to the inhibition (BafA1) alone, it is an indication that macroautophagic sequestration is increased. Conversely, if sequestration is absent in the presence of BafA1, autophagy is inhibited at a step prior to phagophore closure. As the assay relies on inclusion of a lysosomal inhibitor to accumulate the sequestered LDH, and one cannot exclude the possible impact of the inhibitor on the autophagic process, time points should be kept short (typically 2-4 hours). A major advantage with the LDH sequestration assay is that it can be carried out in any mammalian cell line without the need to introduce exogenous probes (such as mKeima), since LDH is expressed in all mammalian tissues. As such, also primary cells having a limited lifespan can be assessed by this method.

Long-lived protein degradation assay

The long-lived protein degradation assay is a pulse-chase radiolabeling assay measuring the degradation of long-lived proteins, as illustrated in Figure 11. In the *pulse* cells are treated with radiolabeled ¹⁴C valine which gets incorporated into newly synthesized proteins over a period of 24 hours. In the subsequent *chase*, cells are washed and ¹⁴C valine is removed from the medium and replaced by a surplus of non-radioactive valine. Resultantly, the decrease in ¹⁴C-labeled proteins and increase in free ¹⁴C valine can be used as a readout of protein degradation. The ¹⁴C valine liberated during the first hours of the chase is a result of degradation of short-lived proteins predominantly degraded by the proteasome (Henell et al. 1987). A chase period of 3 h is therefore included to allow degradation and wash-out of short-lived proteins, before the autophagy-inducing conditions are applied and the chase allowed to continue for 4 h. Whereafter the cells are harvested and separated into an acid-insoluble protein fraction and an

acid-soluble fraction representing the degraded proteins. By measuring the radioactivity in both fractions the ratio of free ¹⁴C valine to total ¹⁴C radioactivity allows for the calculation of degradation rate. Although long-lived proteins are prototypical bulk autophagic cargos, a drawback of the method is that it also measures non-lysosomal degradation. Even though the chase-step enrich the contribution from long-lived proteins, non-lysosomal degradation accounts for about 70-80% of the protein degradation taking place under nutrient-rich conditions in mammalian cell lines (Fuertes et al. 2003, Engedal et al. 2013). This gives the method a high background signal, but even so, the autophagic fraction can be identified by inclusion of an autophagic inhibitor, such as SAR405, or by silencing key autophagy components such as ULK1/ULK2 or ATG13, in a highly reproducible and sensitive manner due to the radioactive-based readout. Like the LDH sequestration assay, the LLPD assay have the benefit of being compatible with any mammalian cell line, also primary cell lines.

mKeima-based assays

The autophagy flux reporter mKeima was established by Katayama et al., 2011, as a sensitive and quantitative method to monitor the entire flux of autophagy, including lysosomal fusion. Monomeric Keima (mKeima) is a pH-responsive fluorescent protein resistant to lysosmal proteases. As such, it can provide a cumulative readout of autophagic activity as it stably accumulates in the lysosome and undergoes a change in chromophore resting charge state upon trafficking to lysosomes (pH~4.5) (Katayama et al. 2011). As a pH-responsive fluorescent protein, mKeima has an emission peak at 620 nm and a bimodal excitation spectrum peaking at 440 nm and 586 nm corresponding to the neutral and ionized states of the chromophores phenolic hydroxyl moiety (Violot et al. 2009). Since mKeima is resistant to lysosomal proteases, its accumulation in autolysosomes can be observed as punctate structures by fluorescence microscopy excited at 586 nm. Moreover, autophagic flux of mKeima can be measured in a highly quantitative manner by flow cytometry as the ratio of mKeima excited at 586 nm, primarily mKeima present in the autolysosomes (acidic mKeima), to mKeima excited at 440 nm, primarily mKeima present in the neutral environment of the cytosol or autophagosomes (neutral mKeima) (Figure 11). An advantage with the flow cytometry-based analysis of mKeima trafficking is that the analysis software allows you to derive the ratio per cell as a third analysis parameter. This eliminates the impact of different expression levels of individual cells. However, as mKeima has a broad bimodal excitation spectrum, the assay fits poorly with various live/dead stains without compensation. mKeima can also be detected by immunoblotting, however, this analysis method provides little information if mKeima is not

fused with a protein of the autophagic pathway. Sequestration of such a fusion protein into lysosomes gives the appearance of a "processed"/cleaved mKeima band by immunoblotting as the protein linked to mKeima is cleaved of and degraded, while mKeima itself is resistant to degradation. Although, mKeima is acid-stable, the appearance of a denaturing mKeima fragment can be seen by immunoblotting because of heat-induced hydrolysis of the N-acyl imine in mKeima (An et al. 2018)(Paper III). mKeima can be exploited as a cytosolic cargo or conjugated to cytosolic proteins to study bulk autophagic sequestration, or to track flux of autophagic components such as LC3 and p62. Moreover, mKeima can be conjugated to specific proteins or targeted to specific organelles to study selective autophgay, such as mitophagy, ER-phagy or ribo-phagy.

In contrast to the LDH sequestration assay and the LLPD assay, the mKeima-based assays do not rely on an experimental block in autophagy to accumulate a product (LDH sequestration) or calculate the autophagic degradation fraction (LLPD). The non-degradable nature of mKeima eliminates the need for such additional inhibitors to assess autophagic degradation. This is particularly advantageous with respect to the complete assessment of autophagy, as inhibiting lysosomal proteolysis precludes the evaluation of lysosomal function, and may affect the routing of cargo, such as NPs, to the lysosomes. However, a drawback compared to LDH sequestration and LLPD, is that the assay requires genetic introduction of mKeima and the further establishment of stable cell lines. Because mKeima is relatively small (25 kDa), it presumably interferes very little with the target protein/organelle function. However, the effects of mKeima overexpression in mammalian cells are not well known. Additionally, it is not well elucidated whether accumulation of mKeima in lysosomes may affect autophagic processes.



Figure 11. Schematic drawing of the various functional autophagy assays employed in this thesis. The long-lived protein degradation assay is a pulse-chase radiolabeling assay measuring the degradation of long-lived proteins (**A**). The LDH sequestration assays is a method to quantitatively measure the sequestration rate of bulk cytosolic cargo into closed autophagosomes, by using the cytosolic protein LDH as a marker (**B**). The autophagy flux reporter mKeima is a quantitative method to monitor the entire flux of autophagy, including lysosomal fusion. mKeima is pH-responsive and resistant to

lysosomal proteases, and as such provides a cumulative readout of autophagic activity as it stably accumulates in the lysosome and undergoes a change in chromophore resting charge state upon trafficking to lysosomes (pH~4.5) (C-E). In this work we thoroughly tested three variants of inducible mKeima-reporters; free cytosolic mKeima as a bulk autophagic cargo by itself (C), mKeima C-terminally tagged to LDHB, a cytosolic bulk autophagic cargo (**D**) and mKeima N-terminally tagged to LC3 to the forming autophagosomal membrane (**E**).

In this work, we first tested cell lines stably expressing mKeima under the control of the CMV promoter. However, we quickly experienced that prolonged NP treatment up-regulated the expression level of the mKeima fusion-protein itself. We speculated whether it was caused by NP-induced activation of stress pathways upregulating the CMV promoter, as also described by others (Bruening et al. 1998, Wendland et al. 2015). Thus, in a collaboration with Dr. Lisa Frankel (Danish Cancer Society Research Center, Copenhagen, Denmark) we established Tetinducible mKeima-reporters to assess the autophagic impact of NPs. In this work we thoroughly tested three variants of inducible mKeima-reporters, as illustrated in Figure 11. To monitor LC3 flux, mKeima was N-terminally tagged to LC3 to track lipidation of LC3 to the forming autophagosomal membrane (*mKeima-LC3*). To monitor bulk autophagic cargo degradation we established both mKeima C-terminally tagged to lactate dehydrogenase B (LDHB), as a cytosolic bulk autophagic cargo (LDHB-mKeima), and free cytosolic mKeima as a bulk autophagic cargo by itself (free mKeima). The inducible mKeima expression is also under the control of the CMV promoter, giving a relatively high expression level when first initiated. We titrated the doxycycline concentration and found 100 ng/ml doxycycline satisfactory for all assays, however with a varying induction time to give a valuable readout. mKeima-LC3, which is turned over at a high rate by autophagy, needed 24 hours to express a level of mKeima-LC3 which made it possible to assess both the accumulation of a cleaved mKeima band (25 kDa) and the disappearance/usage of the total mKeima-LC3 band (39 kDa) by immunoblotting. The LDHB-mKeima-reporter, as a bulk autophagic cargo, needed 48 hours of induction to give a high enough expression level of LDHB-mKeima to give a measurable band of cleaved mKeima after degradation. The free mKeima-reporter, which could not be assessed by immunoblotting, induced a measurable level of acidic mKeima by flow cytometry after 24 hours with doxycycline.

The inducible mKeima-system became advantageous for us in several ways. First of all, we induced expression of the mKeima-reporter for a given time, whereafter the doxycycline was washed away and the NP treatment added. This eliminates the possibility of the NP-induced stress affecting the transcription level of the construct and obscuring the results. Furthermore, having a given amount of the mKeima-reporter, provided a reproducible and, by flow cytometry specifically, very sensitive readout of the degradation rate of that given amount by the various autophagy inducers (Torin1 and EBSS), as well as by the NP treatment. Measuring the cleaved level of mKeima by immunoblotting is naturally not equally sensitive and small changes in autophagic turnover rates are difficult to evaluate by this analysis method. In addition to providing a better measure of mKeima degradation by the treatments, inducing a given amount to a great extent diminish the impact of accumulated mKeima in the lysosomes prior to the conditions we were interested in assessing. We do not yet know the exact consequences of mKeima accumulating in the lysosomes, and how it may affect the autophagic process or even NP internalization. Hence, we kept the induction-time with doxycycline in our assays to a minimum, using 24 hours when adequate and 48 hours when required, keeping the mKeima accumulation low.

In Paper III we were interested in short-term effects of NPs on autophagic degradation capacity, without the interference from transcriptional upregulation. This is particularly important, as more than 20 transcription factors have been linked to long-term regulation of autophagy under various forms of stress (Füllgrabe et al. 2016). LDHB-mKeima holds the advantage over free mKeima, that it produces a cleavage product that can be assessed by immunoblotting, as a more visual readout in addition to the highly quantitative detection by flow cytometry. Notably, the mKeima-LC3 assay did pose some issues in interpretation of autophagic flux of our data, as PBCA treatment inhibited endogenous LC3 lipidation. Thus, when a certain treatment is found to inhibit mKeima-LC3 degradation, determining endogenous LC3 flux with a lysosomal inhibitor would indicate whether the blockade is at the lipidation step or at the final lysosomal degradation step.

Pharmacological inhibitors

Throughout this work we have used pharmacological inhibitors to assess the involvement of different stress-induced signaling pathways, to elucidate cell death mechanisms or to assess effects on the autophagic-lysosomal degradation pathway. Pharmacological inhibitors are useful tools to rapidly block the function of proteins, without depleting the protein in question (which is a more time-consuming process). Consequently, while the protein may lack a certain

activity it may still be able to interact with binding partners or assemble into macromolecular complexes. This can induce off-target effects and unforeseen feedback activation or inhibition. The efficacy of pharmacological inhibitors depends on specificity (its lack of binding to other proteins), potency (the concentration needed to inhibit the enzyme), membrane permeability (often requiring short preincubation for effect), solubility and chemical stability. To ensure few side effects and low toxicity, inhibitor concentrations were titrated, and we used as low concentrations as possible while still maintaining functional inhibition. Inhibitory effects were evaluated by specific downstream phosphorylation targets using immunoblotting for all inhibitors of the autophagy pathway. Furthermore, all inhibitor studies in this work were corroborated by alternative methods such as genetic knock-down or knock-out of the protein, or by using additional inhibitors against the same enzyme or other members of the target signaling pathway.

siRNA-mediated depletion of proteins

Small interfering RNAs (siRNAs) are powerful tools to investigate protein function in signaling pathways. In this work, siRNA-mediated depletion was used to elucidate stress response pathways and how they mediate protective responses to the NP insult, such as transcriptional upregulation of certain genes. Additionally, siRNA-mediated depletion of proteins was used to corroborate results by pharmacological inhibitors (and vice versa) in the aim to rule out possible off-target effects. siRNAs ideally bind only the target protein's RNA/mRNA sequence and interfere with protein translation, thus reducing protein expression (short-term). Compared to the immediate effects of pharmacological inhibitors, siRNAs usually take days to have effect depending on the turnover rate of the target protein. As many enzymes act in concert to maintain cellular homeostasis, this may allow time for compensatory mechanisms obscuring the phenotypic readout. Moreover, the depletion of a protein by siRNA is not necessarily complete, and for many proteins a small amount can still be sufficient to bypass the potential phenotypic effect. Consequently, in our studies knock-down efficiency was always checked at protein level by immunoblotting. Non-specific binding to similar mRNA sequences can cause off-target effects, cellular toxicity and activate innate immune responses. To account for this, we; i) titrated siRNA concentrations to use as low concentrations as possible (to reduce possible offtarget effects and toxicity), ii) tested several siRNAs against the same target (to evaluate response specificity), and iii) used a scramble control from the same producer as our target (to evaluate/eliminate effects from induction of immune/interferon response).

Immunoblot analysis

Immunoblotting exploits the specificity inherent in antigen-antibody recognition to detect specific proteins or protein modifications in a sample of tissue homogenate or extract. Hence, immunoblotting lack the ability to distinguish cellular subpopulations, as it only allows for evaluation of the average expression of a protein in your sample. Although immunoblot is considered rather a qualitative method, today's increased sensitivity and stability of the detection signal has improved the accuracy of quantification. Quantitative analysis of immunoblotting depends on an established correlation between the detection signal and the amount of protein, and as such it is important not to overload the membrane with protein. Furthermore, to make comparisons between samples, all samples must be within linear range of the signal intensity (without saturated pixels) and acquired with the same settings and run on the same gel. In this work we have used immunoblotting for relative quantifications, and consequently, a well-known loading control protein that is unaffected by the experiment conducted must be added to make sure differences in signal intensity is not an effect of different protein loading. Negative and/or positive controls for your specific protein or protein modification is important to make sure that absence or presence of a band is due to absence or presence of that specific antigen, and not solely a problem with the antibody or any other step of the experiment. In our experience, if appropriate care is taken (from cell seeding through lysate preparation, gel application, blotting and immunostaining) highly reproducible and valuable immunoblotting data can be obtained.

Flow cytometry

Flow cytometry is a highly quantitative analysis technique that simultaneously measure and analyze multiple properties of each particle separated in a fluid stream. These characteristics include relative size, internal complexity (granularity) and fluorescence intensity. As the data

from each event are collected, flow cytometry provides information about subpopulations within the sample, as opposed to immunoblotting. Furthermore, the scattered and fluorescent light can be used to gate for (single out) these subpopulations, and hence exclusively analyze certain subpopulations. This was valuable to us as we were interested in assessing cellular effects of subtoxic PACA NP concentrations. By including a live/dead stain in our samples, such as propidium iodide or Hoechst, we could exclude dead or dying cells from our analysis of autophagic turnover or redox accumulation. However, the flow cytometry analysis, relies on the practitioner understanding how to draw up cell population gates accurately, as incorrectly placed gates may obscure the results. The mKeima fluorophore has a very broad bimodal excitation spectrum, incompatible with any of the live/dead stains available in our lab without compensating the spectra overlap. Since treatment with PACA NPs slightly changed the granularity of cells compared to control, we did not want to solely rely on light scattering for our gating strategy. Consequently, we decided to read each sample twice. First to collect the fluorescence emission from the mKeima fluorophore and secondly, after adding propidium iodide, to be used as a template for setting gates accurately. Importantly, the flow cytometry measurements of autophagic turnover nicely complemented the immunoblotting analyzes of the same assay.

DISCUSSION

The unique properties of NPs are exploited to develop drug delivery systems that maximize drug efficacy and minimize side effects for the patient. Due to their unique characteristics, NPs can increase solubility, circulation time and bioavailability of a drug, promoting a greater accumulation at the target site. Nonetheless, efficient drug delivery requires both internalization of the drug-loaded NP and release of the drug once internalized (Vauthier 2019). One key feature of NPs is their increased surface area to volume ratio, altering the material's mechanical, thermal and catalytic properties compared to known bulk properties. Upon interaction with living cells these altered properties may lead to undesired and unforeseen physiological consequences, contributing to the large gap between the development of novel medicines and clinical translation (Fu et al. 2014, Mohammadinejad et al. 2019). To understand the true potential and limitations of NPs as drug delivery systems, we need to decipher the consequences of their interactions with biological systems. In this work we have compared the cellular impact of three highly similar PACA NPs to increase our understanding of the dynamic and varied interactions that arise between NPs and the biological environment. We here demonstrate that even subtle differences in the NP structure significantly impact the NP-induced cellular stress responses. Both the type and degree of stress varied between the PACA variants, impacting the UPR, ISR and autophagy differently. This in turn led to differential transcriptional activation and possibility of resolving the stress by for instance increasing the antioxidant response or autophagic degradation. Consequently, our data illustrate how the specific characteristics of each PACA NP impacts the variation in cytotoxicity and mode of cell death.

Minor alterations in the nanoparticle polymer composition affect the nanoparticlecell interaction and elicit particle-specific cellular stress

All the PACA variants, activated the ISR with the common effect of $eIF2\alpha$ phosphorylation. The POCA NP and high concentrations of the PEBCA NP induced ER stress. This was seen by the activation of PERK and its downstream effectors ATF4 and CHOP, and by accumulation of XBP1s, the downstream effector of IRE1 activation. Despite both NPs evoking ER stress, the NP-induced level of cytotoxicity was different. The PBCA NP only marginally induced

PERK activation, but instead induced oxidative stress seen by increased intracellular ROS and depletion of the cellular GSH reserves. PBCA was further found to preferentially activate the HRI kinase of the ISR, likely downstream of the induced oxidative stress as co-treatment with NAC or GSH abolished ISR activation. Treatment with PEBCA was also found to accumulate ROS, however having little effect on cytotoxicity before the cells were further challenged by cystine starvation. This emphasizes how NP-induced sub-toxic cellular stress can compromise cell function and render the cells more vulnerable upon additional insults. Treatment with the PEBCA NP was found to elevate LC3-II protein levels and upregulate LC3B mRNA expression via the ISR and ATF4, in manner that did not alter LC3 flux or autophagic cargo degradation. PBCA also upregulated LC3B mRNA levels via the ISR and ATF4, but surprisingly caused a redox imbalance-dependent inhibition in LC3 lipidation. The PBCA induced redox imbalance was further demonstrated to induce autophagic cargo degradation at moderate levels and inhibit autophagic cargo degradation at high levels. Treatment with the POCA NP strongly accumulated LC3-II protein levels without an effect on LC3B mRNA levels. The accumulation was found to be associated with reduced degradation of LC3-II as autophagic cargo degradation was inhibited by POCA. The outcome of the NP-cell interaction as reflected by cell viability of each PACA variant, seems to be determined by the balance between the pro-survival or prodeath responses induced.

The PACA nanoparticle variants are internalized to the same degree

NPs elicit a wide range of cellular responses depending on their physicochemical properties, which in turn determine their intracellular concentration, duration of contact, subcellular distribution, and interactions with biological molecules (Nel et al. 2009). However, the PACA variants investigated in this thesis exhibit very similar physicochemical characteristics with a size range from 133-153 nm, polydispersity between 0.13-0.16 and surface charge of -2.4 to -3.4 mV (Paper I), not obviously promoting such different responses. Cellular uptake of NPs is a premise for their application in drug delivery and a major determinant of NP induced stress. Size, shape, surface charge, surface hydrophobicity/hydrophilicity and surface functionalization directly affect the NP uptake level, endocytic route, and cytotoxicity (Foroozandeh et al. 2018). Moreover, dispersion, aggregation and agglomeration state has also been demonstrated to be important for NP internalization and cellular responses (Liao et al. 2011, Wang et al. 2011, Huang et al. 2015). The toxicity of graphene and graphene oxide NPs were found to depend on their state of aggregation, where aggregated NPs displayed a higher toxicity to adherent cells possibly due to faster sedimentation on top of the cells. However, fully dispersed sonicated NPs, yielding more cell-contactable reactive oxygen groups on the surface, displayed a higher hemolytic activity in suspended red blood cells (Liao et al. 2011). Huang et al., 2015, found that iron oxide, gold and silica NPs induced autophagy in a dispersitydependent manner. Aggregated NPs induced significant autophagic effects compared to welldispersed NPs, and they speculate whether increased uptake of NP aggregates is stimulating autophagy (Huang et al. 2015). The state of dispersion is affected by the way in which we administer particles to cell culture, which have been shown to significantly impact the particle cell-interaction (Moore et al. 2019). As such, the three PACA variants were handled equally in our experiments and all experiments were performed on fully dispersed NPs. The cellular uptake of the PACA NPs in this work was found to be energy dependent in a panel of cell lines, thus requiring an active uptake mechanism, and the PACA variants were internalized to the same degree after 2 hours of incubation (Paper I). However, the cell-associated POCA fluorescence was slightly higher than the PEBCA- and PBCA-fluorescence both during active uptake at 37 °C and when active uptake is inhibited at 4 °C. The PACA polymers have alkyl side chains of increasing hydrophobicity, where POCA is the most hydrophobic and PBCA is the least hydrophobic. Hence, the POCA NP may associate better with the cell membrane given the more hydrophobic monomer. This may affect the kinetics of POCA uptake at 37 °C and explain the slight degree of cell adhesion at 4 °C. In corroboration of this Sulheim et al, 2016, found that PC3 cells internalize POCA NPs to a larger extent than PBCA NPs after 3 hours. However, the uptake kinetics was found to be highly cell-type dependent as RBE4 cells internalized PBCA NPs to a higher degree than POCA NPs after 24 hours while the initial uptake efficiency was approximately equal (Sulheim et al. 2016). However, it cannot be excluded that there may be cell-dependent differences also in the exocytosis of particles, an effect that is revealed after prolonged uptake. In their studies the uptake of POCA NPs in PC3 cells was eightfold higher than PBCA after 3 hours (Sulheim et al. 2016), in vast contrast to our studies with only a slight difference in cell-associated fluorescence independent of cell-type (Paper I). Moreover, across the panel of cell lines used in Paper I, there was no correlation between the magnitude of POCA cell association and cellular toxicity. Even so, we cannot exclude the possibility that increased cell contact of the POCA NP compared to the PEBCA and PBCA NP, influence the differences in impact and type of cellular responses induced by the PACA variants.

Degradation of PACA nanoparticles gives alkyl alcohols of varying hydrophobicity

Given that the PACA NPs are internalized to the same degree, differences in intracellular concentrations are not likely a major cause of the variable cellular stress responses and cytotoxicity. However, the particle-specific end-products of degradation, once inside the cell, may contribute to such variations although the degradation of PACA NPs have been demonstrated to be slow in vitro (Sulheim et al. 2016). The main mechanism of PACA NP degradation is described to be hydrolysis of the ester bond of the alkylcyanoacrylate releasing a water soluble alkyl alcohol and cyanoacrylic acid (Vezin et al. 1980, Vauthier et al. 2003). Short-chain aliphatic alcohols have a high affinity for cellular membranes (Hunt 1975), and their insertion into cellular membranes may disrupt the structural organization of the lipid bilayer and membrane integrity (Lyon et al. 1981). Furthermore, the hydrophobicity of the alcohol has been correlated with its potency to alter membrane integrity and cause LDH release (McKarns et al. 1997). As such, the hydrophobicity of the alkyl alcohols released upon PACA polymer degradation, ethyl-butyl alcohol, butanol, or octanol, determines how readily it elicit possible toxic effects through hydrophobic interactions with cellular membranes. As a result, POCA degradation giving octanol, the most hydrophobic alkyl alcohol, as an end-product will likely affect membrane properties to a greater extent than PEBCA and PBCA. In support of this, octanol induced calcium release and apoptosis in neural crests at micromolar concentrations, whereas millimolar concentrations of butanol were required (Garic-Stankovic et al. 2006). In comparison, the POCA NP readily induce apoptosis even at comparably low concentrations, whereas the PEBCA and PBCA NP does not.

PACA nanoparticle specific formation of protein corona may affect nanoparticle-cell interactions

From our investigations, it seems likely that the PACA variants induce particle-specific effects depending on the NP-cell interaction, and not variations in cellular uptake. Investigations of the particle specific formation of protein corona have not been in the scope of this work. However, it is likely that the exact composition of the protein corona surrounding the PACA variants mediates the variability in cellular responses.

The most used method to reduce protein adsorption is to coat the NP with PEG. The PACA NPs were made by mini-emulsion polymerization, a one-step synthesis method incorporating PEG groups as the anionic polymerization of the PACA monomers is initiated

(Mørch et al. 2015). This method of preparing PEG-coated polymeric NPs results in chemical bonding of PEG to the PACA polymer chains, and hence assures tightly bound PEG at the particle surface (Peracchia et al. 1997). However, it does not assure complete surface coverage of PEG, as the PEG groups might be sterically hindered by the stabilizer (miglyol) in the polymerization procedure (Mørch et al. 2015). It has been demonstrated that the method of fucoidan-coated NP synthesis determines the polysaccharide chain conformation on the nanoparticle surface, and that this has a large impact on the cytotoxicity induced in J774 macrophages (Lira et al. 2011). Hence, it may be possible that the specific PACA polymer chain used for synthesis gives a slight difference in the spatial arrangement of the PEG-chains, and in this way also affect the accessibility of the NP core to the surrounding medium. Consequently, although the three PACA variants are of similar size, shape, and surface charge, the specific PACA polymer having varying degree of hydrophobicity may cause differences in the protein corona, governing the biological identity of the NP (Cedervall et al. 2007). Chandran et al., 2017, showed in a study comparing different surface functionalization of gold NPs, that surface chemistry is more important for the protein corona composition than size of the NPs (Chandran et al. 2017). Furthermore, both hydrophobicity and the chemical motif of the head group, being branched, cyclic or linear, are found to control the nature and chemical identity of the protein corona under physiological serum conditions (10%) (Saha et al. 2016). For instance, the number of apolipoproteins and immunoglobulins was found to decrease with increasing NP surface hydrophobicity, and NPs with branched or cyclic head groups generally adsorbed less proteins than linear structures with similar hydrophobicity (Saha et al. 2016). This was corroborated by a study investigating the impact of the hydrophilicity of the polymer layer on protein adsorption. Although the total amount of adhered protein was equal in human blood plasma, the protein pattern was different determining the NP-cell interaction (Simon et al. 2018).

The nature of the NP surface facilitates the interaction with the cell membrane. Anionic gold NPs have been demonstrated to indirectly disrupt ion channel function by altering the mechanical properties of the surrounding lipid bilayer, a proposed important mechanism by which NPs induce biological effects (Foreman-Ortiz et al. 2020). Protein-NP interactions has been proposed as the major contributor to reduced ion transport in the presence of cationic ZnO NPs (Bryant et al. 2017) and cationic polymer NPs (Fologea et al. 2013). Such interference with transmembrane transport mechanisms have been demonstrated for several NPs affecting intracellular ion homeostasis and signaling pathways, and ultimately nanotoxicity (Yin et al.

2019). The NP-cell interaction may lead to alterations in membrane fluidity, the composition of micro-domains, or membrane curvature (Nel et al. 2009). The dynamic interaction of such microdomains with the underlying cytoskeleton may regulate cell function and adaptation to changing environments (Head et al. 2014). Graphene and fullerene NPs can be adsorbed onto the lipid membrane and insert in its hydrophobic regions and deplete the surrounding bilayer for cholesterol, having consequences for the functionality of the lipid membrane (Sastre et al. 2017, Puigpelat et al. 2019, Santiago et al. 2019). Such membrane alterations are known to affect the activity of membrane proteins like receptors, enzymes, ion channels, and nutrient transporters, and have been proposed to signal membrane stress to the cell interior (Mouritsen 2011).

The specifically acquired protein corona defines the NPs biological identity, and hence, what is seen by the functional machinery of cells, affecting cell internalization, biodistribution and cytotoxicity (Owens et al. 2006, Lundqvist et al. 2008, Aggarwal et al. 2009). Certain protein components play key roles in cellular uptake due to receptor-ligand interactions (Binnemars-Postma et al. 2016). For instance, presence of apolipoproteins is described to be significant for cell association (Palchetti et al. 2016), whereas glycans are shown to negatively impact cell adhesion (Wan et al. 2015). The binding of fibrinogen to the surface of silver and gold NPs have been shown to provoke an inflammation response as this cause fibrinogen to unfold and activate the Mac-1 integrin receptor (Deng et al. 2011, Kharazian et al. 2018). Furthermore, in the presence of a protein corona, black phosphorous nanomaterials were found to cause immune perturbations (Mo et al. 2018) and silver NPs to significantly increase ER stress (Persaud et al. 2019). Protein adsorption onto cadmium sulfide NPs enhance the expression of the cell surface receptor FcyRIIB, triggering the AKT/Caspase 3 pathway and cell apoptosis (Wu et al. 2018). It is increasingly accepted that the composition profile, formation, and protein conformational changes of the protein corona may affect NP-cell interaction, and that the nature and extent of these interactions participate in determining the biocompatibility of a given NP (Liu et al. 2020). Thus, identity-differences in the protein corona of the PACA variants may affect the nature of the NP-cell interaction and the induction of cellular stress.

The PACA-induced type and magnitude of cellular stress affect nanoparticle cytotoxicity

Regulation of protein synthesis holds the advantage of enabling an immediate and reversible response upon cellular stress (Holcik et al. 2005). Global translation is reduced in response to almost all types of cellular stress, saving energy, preventing synthesis of unwanted proteins, and reducing the ER workload. However, remarkably, the stress-induced attenuation of global translation is accompanied by selective translation of proteins involved in resolving the stress.

POCA cause ER stress induced cytotoxicity, whereas PBCA and to a minor degree PEBCA cause oxidative stress-induced cytotoxicity

The accumulation of ubiquitinated proteins and induction of heat shock proteins is a clear sign that ER homeostasis is challenged by the PACA NPs (Paper I). Activation of the UPR/ISR is aimed at reducing the ER workload and increasing transcription of ER chaperones (Hetz et al. 2020) to allow the cell to reestablish full ER function. All the PACA variants, activated the ISR with the common effect of eIF2α phosphorylation and attenuation of global protein translation. The POCA NP, specifically, and high concentrations of the PEBCA NP was found to activate the UPR/ISR downstream of ER stress as observed by PERK activation and accumulation of XBP1s downstream of IRE1 activation. Such an ER stress-specific response was only marginally observed by PBCA. Instead, PBCA was found to preferentially activate the HRI kinase of the ISR, which have been described to be activated downstream of heme deficiency (Rafie-Kolpin et al. 2000) and oxidative stress (Lu et al. 2001). Both PEBCA and PBCA was found to induce oxidative stress, wherein PBCA was also demonstrated to reduce the cellular GSH reserves. The PBCA-induced oxidative stress was found to activate the ISR, as cotreatment with NAC or GSH abolished ISR activation.

POCA exerted the greatest cytotoxicity in the cell lines that accumulated ATF4, CHOP and XBP1s to the largest extent. This likely indicates that the magnitude of ER stress induced, correlates with the level of cytotoxicity. Several NPs are demonstrated to cause cytotoxicity associated with ER stress (Cao et al. 2017) however the underlying mechanism is largely unknown. CdTe quantum dots have been described to localize to ER and alter ER morphology causing dilatation of the ER cisternae (Yan et al. 2016). Gold NPs have also been described to localize to ER and induce accumulation of misfolded or unfolded proteins by impairing the ERAD activity (a key degradation process for misfolded proteins) (Guofang et al. 2021). Zinc oxide NPs, and its related zinc ions, were found to induce ER stress due to its induction of oxidative stress as cotreatment with NAC abolished the ER stress markers induced (Chen et al. 2014). A study investigating the effect of silver NP size and protein corona, found that the presence of a protein corona significantly increased ER stress even though the protein corona reduced AgNP internalization (Persaud et al. 2019). This further supports our main hypothesis that the acquired protein corona may dictate the type of cellular stress induced. In contrast to the POCA NP, alterations in cellular redox capacity seems to be a key mechanism for both PEBCA and PBCA induced cytotoxicity, as has been described for many NPs (Wang et al. 2019). However, the PEBCA-induced ROS was found to have little effect on cytotoxicity before the cells were further challenged by cystine starvation (Paper I). Attenuation of global protein synthesis may increase the availability of amino acids important for producing antioxidants such as GSH, and as such alleviate the particle-induced oxidative stress temporary to initiate long term survival responses.

ER stress, ROS production and redox control have been described to be tightly connected (Zeeshan et al. 2016, Kritsiligkou et al. 2018). However, although we observe a prominent PERK activation by POCA indicative of ER stress, POCA does not lead to an immediate accumulation of ROS equal to PEBCA or PBCA. Furthermore, cotreatment with NAC or GSH does not rescue the POCA-induced cytotoxicity (Paper I). This indicates that the particle-specific stress is mediated by separate mechanisms. With regards to the relatively high cytotoxicity of POCA compared to the same concentration of PEBCA and PBCA, it seems that the POCA-insult leaves the cells with little/no ability to initiate pro-survival responses while the PEBCA- and PBCA-insult may engage such responses.

Pro-survival transcriptional responses induced by PEBCA and to a lesser extent PBCA protect against cytotoxicity

Regulation of translation provides the cell with the plasticity needed to respond rapidly, while regulation at the transcription level fine-tunes the long-term cellular response required to coordinate expression of stress-responsive genes affecting cell survival. ATF4 is a key stress-induced transcription factor downstream of p-eIF2 α , activating expression of genes involved in redox homeostasis, amino acid metabolism, protein synthesis, apoptosis, and autophagy (Hetz et al. 2020). ATF4 also participates in a feedback loop dephosphorylating eIF2 α to restore

protein synthesis (Kojima et al. 2003). All the PACA variants were found to accumulate ATF4, which for PEBCA and PBCA were confirmed to be accompanied by a significant increase in *ATF4* mRNA. We further demonstrated that ATF4 was accumulated downstream of PBCA-induced oxidative stress and p-eIF2 α , and protected against PBCA induced cytotoxicity (Paper I).

Another important transcription factor in the antioxidant response is Nrf2. Our data from Paper I point to a more potent and prolonged Nrf2-mediated antioxidant response induced by PEBCA as the cause of the lower cytotoxicity from this particle. Nrf2 is kept at low levels under homeostatic conditions by Keap1-mediated ubiquitination and proteasomal degradation (Cullinan et al. 2004). However, under stress and exposure to ROS, Keap1 is inactivated resulting in Nrf2 stabilization and translocation to the nucleus to activate transcription of cytoprotective genes (Itoh et al. 1999). Notably, Nrf2 has been demonstrated to induce *ATF4* transcription under oxidative stress (Afonyushkin et al. 2010, Miyamoto et al. 2011). Furthermore, PERK activation has been described to directly phosphorylate Nrf2, causing Keap1-Nrf2 dissociation and Nrf2 activation (Sarcinelli et al. 2020). As high concentrations of PEBCA were demonstrated to activate PERK, one can speculate whether such a mechanism is contributing to the prolonged Nrf2 activation seen for PEBCA compared to PBCA. Moreover, PEBCA was demonstrated to induce ATF4 transcription in an Nrf2-dependent manner (Paper I) reinforcing the cytoprotective effects.

ATF4 and Nrf2-upregulation by PEBCA and PBCA were found to act as pro-survival pathways protecting the cells from ferroptosis. However, depletion of Nrf2 sensitized MDA-MB-231 cells to PEBCA to a higher degree relative to PBCA, indicating a more potent Nrf2-protection induced by PEBCA. Both PEBCA and PBCA induced transcription of the cystine transporter, *SLC7A11*, downstream of ATF4 and Nrf2. Depletion of SLC7A11 induced comparable cell death as double knockdown of ATF4 and Nrf2, underscoring the importance of upregulated cystine import in the inhibition of PEBCA- and PBCA-induced cytotoxicity. Cystine is rapidly reduced to cysteine once inside the cell. Intracellular cysteine levels are particularly important as the rate-limiting precursor in glutathione synthesis, which is critical in the cellular defense against oxidative stress (Griffith 1999). The pro-survival upregulation of SLC7A11 is associated with cytotoxic drug resistance by increased cellular detoxification (Okuno et al. 2003, Huang et al. 2005). Conversely, depletion of intracellular glutathione is associated with inhibition of cell growth (Schnelldorfer et al. 2000) and reduced drug resistance (Vanhoefer et al. 1996). In light of this, inhibiting the cystine transporter represent a potential

target for therapy of cancers that are critically dependent on uptake of amino acids for growth and viability (Gout et al. 1997, Timmerman et al. 2013), and an alternative method of depleting glutathione to overcome drug resistance (Gout et al. 2003). Corroborating this, both PEBCA and PBCA cytotoxicity was inversely correlated with cystine availability in MDA-MB-231 cells.

PEBCA may represent a NP that have the potential to increase drug resistance via the strong activation of pro-survival Nrf2 and SLC7A11. However, additional cystine starvation or depletion of the cystine transporter SLC7A11 made even the highly tolerable PEBCA particle potently cytotoxic, repressing the originally induced pro-survival pathways. As such an additional insult was needed to reveal the sub-toxic oxidative effects of PEBCA. Without the proper redox buffer capacity, the pro-survival responses induced by PEBCA were not able to maintain balance. In a treatment setting, there may be two ways of looking at this effect. It can compromise treatment outcome by the strong initiation of pro-survival responses, or it can be exploited by the therapeutic agent, once released, adding the additional insult needed for the NP to be highly cytotoxic, and in such a manner limit side effects to a larger degree.

PBCA rather represent a NP with the potential to contribute to reduced drug resistance, however with the consequence of potentially higher side-effects. From our observations it seems unlikely that inhibition of cystine import is the sole cause of PBCA induced oxidative stress and cytotoxicity, as cystine starvation was less cytotoxic than PBCA treatment. This indicates that an additional insult, such as GSH depletion, is caused by PBCA treatment which could be beneficial in overcoming drug resistance. For instance, an effect of GSH depletion concomitant to reduced cystine import, has been shown to be required for ferroptosis induction on HepG2 cells (Yu et al. 2016).

The PACA-induced type and magnitude of cellular stress affect the lysosomal intracellular degradation pathway, autophagy

In Paper II we investigated how the highly similar PACA NPs affect autophagy as an important cytoprotective pathway, and found that the PACA variants differentially affected the autophagosome marker LC3 and the autophagy pathway. PEBCA induced accumulation of
LC3-II as a transcriptional response without affecting LC3 flux or autophagic cargo degradation. Treatment with the POCA NP also led to a strong accumulation of LC3-II, but due to an inhibition in LC3 flux and autophagic cargo degradation. By contrast, PBCA did not affect LC3-II protein levels despite a transcriptional response and rather seemed to inhibit LC3-lipidation and autophagic cargo degradation.

Cellular uptake of NPs is strongly associated with various effects on autophagy, as most endocytic routes converge upon the lysosome (Stern et al. 2012). However, as discussed earlier our data indicate that the PACA variants are internalized to the same degree, giving a similar load of NPs in the endolysosomal system. In support of this our data did not demonstrate any differential induction in lysosomal dysfunction between the PACA variants. In fact, the PACA NPs did not seem to affect lysosomal homeostasis, as there was no significant change in the activity of the lysosomal enzyme cathespin D, and no galectin-3 puncta appeared upon PACA NP treatment, indicative of lysosomal permeabilization (Paper II). From our data, it rather seems that the differential effect on autophagy is caused by the biological identity of each PACA NP dictating its cellular interaction, inducing a variation in cellular stress responses. NPinduced cellular stress may affect autophagy in several ways as seen throughout Paper II and III of this thesis. At the transcriptional level NP may increase expression of important ATGs, as demonstrated for PEBCA and PBCA in Paper II, as an attempt to maintain autophagy or increase the degradation capacity. NPs may also interfere more directly with the autophagy process by acting on upstream signaling events, such as mTORC1 as addressed in Paper II and III, or PI3KC3 as shown for PBCA in Paper III. NPs may interfere with components of the autophagy machinery, such as LC3 with varying effects on autophagic turnover as demonstrated in Paper II and III, or inhibit the fusion of autophagosomes with lysosomes as shown for POCA in Paper II.

Transcriptional regulation of autophagy

Regulation of autophagy at the transcriptional level was first observed in yeast, where induction of autophagy by nitrogen starvation was found to upregulate Apg8p (Kirisako et al. 1999). Since then, several transcriptional regulators of autophagy have been identified. A key regulator, emphasizing the importance of the lysosome in the autophagy pathway is transcription factor EB (TFEB), the master regulator of lysosomal pathways (Sardiello et al. 2009, Settembre et al. 2011, Martina et al. 2017). NP-induced TFEB activation to increase

cytoprotective autophagy has been shown in cells treated with both silver (Lin et al. 2018) and polystyrene NPs (Song et al. 2015). Interestingly, however, TFEB or the related TFE3 (Martina et al. 2014) was not found to be involved in the PEBCA-induced increase of *LC3B* mRNA, although the highest concentration (100 μ g/ml) led to a partial nuclear translocation of TFEB. One can only speculate whether the lack of effect on mTORC1 deactivation or lysosomal dysfunction by PEBCA treatment is keeping TFEB phosphorylated (Peña-Llopis et al. 2011, Settembre et al. 2011).

On the other hand, LC3B upregulation was found to be dependent on PEBCA and PBCA induced ISR activation. The transcription factor ATF4 has been shown to upregulate ATGs, including LC3B, under various stress (Rouschop et al. 2010, Rzymski et al. 2010, B'Chir et al. 2013, Luhr et al. 2019) and to enhance autophagosome formation upon treatment with silica NPs (Wang et al. 2018). Both PEBCA- and PBCA-induced LC3B mRNA increase was dependent on ATF4 downstream of the ISR. However, as POCA also induced a potent accumulation of ATF4 without an increased LC3B mRNA, accumulation of ATF4 alone does not seem sufficient to induce LC3B transcription. In Paper I, PBCA was found to induce ATF4 accumulation downstream of oxidative stress, and as such also LC3B mRNA levels was found to depend on PBCA-induced oxidative stress (Paper II). In contrast, POCA induced ATF4 accumulation via ER stress without a significant increase in ROS (Paper I). In that regard, it is tempting to speculate whether the rapid LC3B increase seen for both PEBCA and PBCA, requires additional input from oxidative stress-induced transcription factors such as FoxO1 (Kode et al. 2012) or Nrf2 (Mimura et al. 2019). However, where PEBCA manages to maintain autophagic degradation, the redox imbalance induced by PBCA eventually inhibits autophagic degradation through an additional oxidative stress related LC3 lipidation inhibition mechanism (Paper II and III). Although, ER stress has been proposed to induce cytoprotective autophagy by increasing expression of ATGs via ATF4 and CHOP (Rouschop et al. 2010, B'Chir et al. 2013), we do not observe this downstream of POCA-induced ER stress. Conversely, treatment with the POCA NP was found to inhibit autophagic degradation at a step prior to lysosomal fusion. However, as these studies did not demonstrate that the increased ATG expression leads to increased autophagic activity and is not merely a response to inhibited degradation it is hard to draw any conclusions. However, Engedal et al., 2013, showed that the ER stress inducers thapsigargin and A23187, despite activating the UPR and increasing LC3B mRNA, blocked autophagy at a step prior to phagophore closure. They further demonstrate that local calcium changes were sufficient to inhibit autophagy (Engedal et al. 2013).

Considering the variation in PACA-induced cytotoxicity and activation of pro-survival responses explored in Paper I, it is tempting to speculate that the stronger pro-survival response induced by PEBCA upregulates autophagy biogenesis components which maintains autophagic degradation throughout the stress. Whereas for PBCA, the GSH depletion and ROS accumulation as observed both in Paper I and III, inhibits LC3 lipidation despite transcriptional upregulation when the oxidative stress is too severe and increase cytoprotective autophagic degradation through MAPK activation when the oxidative stress is moderate. The severity of the POCA NP-insult blocks autophagic degradation, contributing to the high cytotoxicity of this particle.

Redox regulation of autophagy

Interestingly, complementation of LC3 flux studies with various cargo sequestration and degradation assays in Paper III revealed yet another NP-induced 'autophagy phenotype'. When assessing stimulated LC3 flux in RPE-1 cells, we found that PBCA at concentrations significantly inhibiting LC3 lipidation (12.5 µg/ml) had no effect on autophagic LLPD, and conversely increased autophagic LDH sequestration and cargo degradation as assessed by LDHB-mKeima and 'free mKeima'. The formation of LC3-II has been recognized as a hallmark of autophagy initiation (Kabeya et al. 2000). However, in contrast to yeast, mammals have several ATG8 orthologues, separated into two subfamilies based on sequence similarity; the GABARAPs (GABARAP, GABARAPL1 and GABARAPL2) and LC3s (LC3A, LC3B and LC3C) (Xin et al. 2001, He et al. 2003). Evidence is accumulating that LC3s are redundant for bulk autophagic degradation (Szalai et al. 2015, Engedal et al. 2016, Nguyen et al. 2016, An et al. 2018, Vaites et al. 2018) and that LC3 has functions that are not autophagy related (de Haan et al. 2010, Al-Younes et al. 2011, Monastyrska et al. 2013). Hence, cytosolic sequestration and cargo degradation can occur by way of other ATG8 orthologues even though PBCA is inhibiting LC3 lipidation. Conversely, the GABARAP subfamily have been described to be required for bulk autophagic sequestration and cargo degradation (Szalai et al. 2015, Nguyen et al. 2016). In line with this, we further demonstrated that PBCA treatment also inhibit GABARAP lipidation in RPE-1 cells. However, importantly, we do not see complete inhibition of LC3 or GABARAP lipidation by treatment with 12.5 µg/ml PBCA, the concentration where autophagy is not reduced. PBCA lowers LC3-II levels to about 30% of that induced by Torin1, indicating that the remaining ATG8s can be sufficient to fully support autophagy. Furthermore, our data implies that PBCA at 6.25 µg/ml activates an LC3 flux-independent form of autophagy

that is still dependent on the canonical autophagy machinery components, e.g., Vps34, ULK1/2, and ATG13 (Paper III). Further studies would be needed to identify the key players in this scenario.

Intriguingly, both the inhibition in LC3 lipidation and the autophagy potentiation through MAPK activation was found to be downstream of PBCA-induced oxidative stress. ROS serve as important signaling molecules to maintain homeostasis when handled properly, however, when improperly regulated, excessive ROS mediates oxidative stress and cellular damage (Ray et al. 2012). In this regard, ROS can activate autophagy as a cytoprotective response to possibly eliminate the sources of ROS, such as damaged mitochondria (Wible et al. 2018). Some even propose ROS to be essential in activation of stress-induced autophagy (Scherz-Shouval et al. 2007, Chen et al. 2009, Li et al. 2013, Qiao et al. 2015). In line with this, our data from the PBCA NP suggest that there is a turning point in the NP-insult where the ROS is no longer manageable, and the oxidative stress become excessive. The lower concentrations of PBCA initiate cytoprotective responses, amongst which the autophagic degradation capacity is increased most likely by MAPK activation acting on the PI3KC3 complex. Conversely at higher PBCA concentrations, the cells are no longer able to regulate the ROS accumulation and excessive ROS then mediates cytotoxic effects, LC3 lipidation-inhibition and in the end inhibition of autophagic cargo degradation.

The turning point concentration of 12.5 μ g/ml PBCA, in some way captures the cells at a stage where they still fight for survival aiming to clear dysfunctional components and reduce the oxidative stress, as the oxidative reactions are gaining ground exhausting the available antioxidants and accumulating ROS. To the best of our knowledge, PBCA is the first NP shown to reduce LC3-II protein levels due to an inhibition in lipidation. The rapid loss in LC3-II suggest post-translational modifications, rather than transcriptional regulation of LC3 levels as was also verified in Paper II. The inhibitory phenotype was mimicked by H₂O₂, and prevented by co-treatment with excess of antioxidants, strongly indicating that the inhibition is downstream of redox imbalance. Frudd et al., 2018, recently described a mechanism whereby direct oxidation of ATG3 and ATG7 impaired autophagy (Frudd et al. 2018). When autophagy is active, the stable thioester bond with LC3 is lost, and the authors suggest this exposes the thiol groups of ATG3 and ATG7 for oxidation. Moreover, in a cell-free system, they demonstrated that increased levels of GSSG (oxidized GSH) inhibited the enzymatic activity of the catalytic thiols on ATG3 and ATG7 by S-glutathiolation (Frudd et al. 2018). The implication of altered GSH levels in their molecular mechanism of LC3 lipidation inhibition, supports the possible involvement of this mechanism in PBCA-induced lipidation inhibition.

Fine-tuning the autophagic response with the level of NP-induced redox imbalance is an intriguing finding. Especially, as oxidative stress is an underlying mechanism for NPinduced cytotoxicity by various NPs (Nel et al. 2006, Wang et al. 2019). It further -refers to the discussion of the cystine transporter and ferroptosis being targets of therapy as drug-resistant mesenchymal cancer cells are sensitive to GSH depletion (Gout et al. 2003, Lu et al. 2018, Wu et al. 2020). From both Paper I and III, we know that PBCA lead to a reduction in GSH as well as an accumulation of ROS and an increase in lipid peroxidation. Furthermore, that this induce ferroptosis by PBCA treatment and that the cytoprotective responses are highly concentrationdependent, increasing antioxidants and autophagy at lower concentrations. If the aim of the treatment is killing cancer cells, a too low concentration of PBCA could compromise the treatment outcome as cytoprotective autophagy is initiated, as is proposed for chitosan NPs combined with doxorubicin (Wang et al. 2018). Conversely, for neurodegenerative disorders, enhanced autophagy is described to decrease pathogenesis and such an effect would benefit the intended treatment (Towers et al. 2016).

Functional assays to study nanoparticle effects on autophagy

As the 'nanoparticle and autophagy'-field progress, it should be with the aim to implement functional assays to a high degree. To be able to distinguish the end-result of the specific PACA NPs effect on autophagy in this work, functional assays have been invaluable. As previously addressed, we have here demonstrated various ways of how LC3-II, as a marker of autophagosomes, can be regulated without a common effect on autophagic degradation activity. Several papers investigating the autophagic response to NP treatment assess flux of common markers such as LC3 and p62 (Manshian et al. 2014, Wu et al. 2014) or look at transcriptional regulation (Lopes et al. 2016, Popp et al. 2018). However, few papers relate these effects to functional autophagic turnover, which also complicates the comparison of various NPs. Therefore, a large part of this work was to establish and compare methods to functionally evaluate the autophagic outcome of NP-cell interaction.

The initial investigations of autophagy used transmission electron microscopy (TEM) to assess formation of autophagosomes and cargo sequestration (Moe et al. 1962, Hruban et al. 1963). However, TEM is not a quantitative method and technical challenges regarding stage of

maturation and closure of the vesicles prompted complementary assays. The LDH sequestration assay was initially developed to assess macroautophagic cargo degradation in primary rat hepatocytes, as LDH is ubiquitously expressed and exclusively degraded by autophagy (Kopitz et al. 1990). The benefit of the LDH sequestration assay was the ability to measure sequestration activity of endogenous cargo in a highly quantitative manner, allowing for the assessment of the formation of sealed autophagosomes as opposed to the limited possibility of that using TEM. The whole process of autophagy does not only rely on the initial sequestration of cargo, but also fusion with lysosomes and cargo degradation. The LLPD assay provides information on that account, measuring the degradation of radiolabeled long-lived proteins, as short-lived proteins are excluded in a chase step (Luhr et al. 2018). Both the LDH sequestration and LLPD assay rely on inhibiting lysosomal proteolysis to measure autophagic activity. This may obscure results, as it precludes the evaluation of lysosomal function and thus the complete assessment of autophagy (Mizushima et al. 2010, Klionsky et al. 2021). As we were studying NPs that need to be internalized in this work, we were eager to find additional methods of studying autophagic activity that does not rely on lysosomal inhibitors as this may affect the routing of cargo to the lysosomes. Our attention turned to mKeima-based assays, a pH-responsive fluorescent protein resistant to lysosomal proteases, thus providing a cumulative readout of autophagic activity as it stably accumulates in the lysosomes (Katayama et al. 2011). The major advantage of using mKeima as a fluorophore is the lack of requirement of additional inhibitors to quantify autophagic activity. By combining the autophagic LDH sequestration assay with the LDHBmKeima, free mKeima and LLPD degradation assay we can distinguish whether an inhibition in degradation is a result of inhibited autophagosome biogenesis, inhibited fusion with lysosomes or inhibited lysosomal activity. The coherence between the different functional autophagy assays were put to the test by our investigation into the effect of PBCA treatment in Paper III. Strikingly, even though each assay accounts for a slightly different aspect of the autophagy pathway, the agreement between the results with the various PBCA concentrations was highly accurate - strengthening the independent use of each assay.

The PACA-induced type and magnitude of cellular stress affect nanoparticleinduced mode of cell death

POCA-induced apoptotic cell death

Treatment with the POCA NP seems to elicit a more severe and acute effect on cells, resulting in the highest cytotoxicity of the three PACA variants and a strong caspase activation at far lower concentrations than PEBCA and PBCA (Paper I). Furthermore, the POCA-induced ER stress and cytotoxicity seem independent of oxidative stress (Paper I) and lead to an inhibition in autophagic cargo degradation (Paper II). ER is a crucial organelle for the cell, and excessive ER stress has been shown to trigger apoptosis. The same ER sensors involved in reestablishing full function is also involved in pro-death signaling upon severe or prolonged ER stress (Rutkowski et al. 2006, Walter et al. 2011).

IRE1 is described to be a pro-apoptotic pathway via interaction with TRAF2 and activation of JNK (Urano et al. 2000, Nishitoh et al. 2002), as well as degrading anti-apoptotic mRNAs through RIDD (Bouchecareilh et al. 2011). Furthermore, the transcription factor CHOP is described to link PERK activation to apoptosis (Urra et al. 2013), especially through upregulation of the pro-apoptotic Bcl2 family. Bcl2 family proteins are involved in cytochrome c release from the mitochondria and subsequent activation of caspase-9 and the downstream caspases-3 and -7, executing cell death (Urra et al. 2013, Hetz et al. 2018). However, CHOPdependent ER stress-induced cell death have also been linked to 'death receptor 5' (He et al. 2002, Yamaguchi et al. 2004, Lu et al. 2014). Several NPs are demonstrated to activate apoptosis downstream of ER stress. Silver NPs are demonstrated to rapidly activate the three ER sensors, PERK, IRE1 and ATF6, and induce UPR-dependent apoptosis in cancerous cells (Simard et al. 2016). Gold NPs were on the other hand found to induce ER stress by inhibiting ERAD, and subsequently activate apoptosis through ER stress-induced activation of PERK-ATF4-CHOP pathway and oxidative stress (Guofang et al. 2021). Moreover, silicon dioxide NPs were found to induce ER- and mitochondrial stress through ROS increased PI3K activity and AKT phosphorylation ultimately initiating apoptosis (Lee et al. 2020). Treatment with the POCA NP potently accumulate ATF4 and CHOP downstream of PERK activation (Paper I). Hence, it seems likely that the POCA induced insult was too severe for the cell to regain ER homeostasis, and that these effectors were involved in pro-death signaling upon POCA treatment instead.

PBCA- and PEBCA-induced ferroptotic cell death

Where the POCA particle selectively caused apoptotic cell death, not rescuable by co-treatment with antioxidants, the PBCA particle selectively caused ferroptotic cell death not rescuable by the pan-caspase inhibitor z-VAD. Even the less cytotoxic PEBCA particle potently induced cell death in a manner rescued by ferroptosis inhibitors in cystine-free medium. Resultantly, ferroptosis was initiated by PBCA and PEBCA depending on the cell's ability to mount a redox defense. Upregulation of ATF4 and Nrf2 by the two NPs act as pro-survival pathways protecting the cells from ferroptosis. Nevertheless, PEBCA was far less toxic than PBCA over the panel of cell lines, and our data point to a more potent and prolonged Nrf2-mediated antioxidant response induced by PEBCA as the cause of the lower cytotoxicity from this particle.

Ferroptosis is a non-apoptotic form of regulated cell death associated with accumulation of ROS in an iron-dependent manner, depletion of GSH and excessive lipid peroxidation (Dixon et al. 2012, Stockwell et al. 2017, Lu et al. 2018). Where apoptosis is often anti-inflammatory and immune-silent, ferroptosis is pro-inflammatory due to release of damage-associated molecular pattern molecules (Linkermann et al. 2014, Kim et al. 2016, Galluzzi et al. 2018). Loss of glutathione peroxidase 4 (GPX4) activity initiates ferroptosis through two distinct mechanisms, one direct and one indirect. In the indirect mechanism inhibition of system X_C⁻, the cystine/glutamate antiporter (Bridges et al. 2012), reduces the intracellular level of cystine and consequently cysteine, the precursor of GSH. This leads to GSH depletion and subsequent inactivation of GPX4, as GSH is an essential cofactor for the GPX4 phospholipid peroxidase activity to catalyze the reduction of lipid peroxides. Thus, inhibition of system X_C⁻ by small molecules such as erastin (Dolma et al. 2003) leads to accumulation of lethal lipid peroxides and initiation of ferroptosis (Dixon et al. 2012, Dixon et al. 2014, Yang et al. 2014). Notably, also inhibition of the GSH synthesis is sufficient to initiate ferroptosis (Yang et al. 2014). In the direct mechanism, GPX4 is inhibited causing lipid ROS and ferroptotic cell death. This can be achieved by loss of GPX4 activity, such as for (1S, 3R)-RSL3 which covalently target the GPX4 active site selenocysteine in an irreversible manner (Yang et al. 2014, Yang et al. 2016), or by increased degradation, such as for FIN56 decreasing GPX4 abundance (Shimada et al. 2016). As such, ferroptosis can be inhibited by small-molecule lipophilic antioxidants like ferrostatin-1 and liproxstatin-1, and iron chelators like deferiprone, whereas inhibitors of other cell death mechanisms like z-VAD cannot.

Activation of cell death is a key strategy for cancer therapy, however development of drug resistance to existing chemotherapeutics remains a problem. Ferroptosis-inducing compounds have been shown to suppress cancer growth and progression (Wu et al. 2020), and act synergistically with chemotherapeutics such as cisplatin (Roh et al. 2016, Sato et al. 2018), temozolomide (Chen et al. 2015), cytarabine/ara-C and doxorubicin/Adriamycin (Narang et al. 2007, Yu et al. 2015). A high-mesenchymal cell state is associated with the most drug resistant cancer cells (Zhang et al. 2018). These cells have been found to depend on the lipid-peroxidase pathway, and GPX4 specifically, to protect against ferroptosis (Hangauer et al. 2017, Viswanathan et al. 2017). Furthermore, oncogenic mutations are described to show greater sensitivity to cystine deprivation- or erastin-induced ferroptosis (Yagoda et al. 2007, Yang et al. 2008, Poursaitidis et al. 2017). Ferroptosis-sensitive cells are highly vulnerable to GSH depletion and depend on constant import of the GSH precursor cystine (Lu et al. 2018). In accordance with the discussion of the cystine transporter being a target to reduce drug resistance (Gout et al. 2003), ferroptosis-inducing compounds have emerged as a promising treatment option for the drug-resistant highly mesenchymal cancer cells containing this metabolic signature (Bebber et al. 2020, Wu et al. 2020).

Identification of ferroptosis-inducing NPs, such as PBCA and PEBCA, is of considerable interest in drug-delivery to increase treatment outcome; as a drug carrier by sensitizing the target cell or to act as sole treatment modality (Liu et al. 2018, Wang et al. 2018, Qian et al. 2019, Shan et al. 2020). In such a scenario, PBCA might be an especially suited NP drug carrier candidate to induce ferroptosis in hard-to-kill drug-resistant cancer cells compared to PEBCA. The pro-survival responses induced by PEBCA may comprise treatment outcome, as upregulated Nrf2 and SLC7A11 has been demonstrated to increase ferroptosis resistance (Ju et al. 2015, Sun et al. 2016). PEBCA demonstrate only minor induction of ferroptosis in MDA-MB-231 cells when given as sole treatment. However, upon deprivation of cystine, PEBCA induce ferroptosis at similar levels as the more potent ferroptosis-inducer PBCA. Such a potent induction of ferroptosis under amino acid deprivation has also been demonstrated for PEGcoated silica NPs functionalized with a melanoma-targeting peptide (aMSH-PEG-C' dots) that are otherwise well tolerated by cells (Kim et al. 2016). They found that combined treatment of a variety of different cancer cell types with aMSH-PEG-C' dots and amino acid starvation can synergize to induce ferroptosis. One cancer cell type, HT-1080 fibrosarcoma cells, was found to be particularly sensitive to particle treatment and underwent ferroptosis in full media and at tenfold lower concentrations in starvation media. They further found that high-dose delivery of α MSH-PEG-C' dots can inhibit tumor growth and cause tumor regression to a greater extent in HT-1080 (particle sensitive cells) than renal carcinoma 786-O xenografts, although both demonstrated reduction in tumor growth compared to control (Kim et al. 2016). This indicates that particles such as PEBCA and α MSH-PEG-C' dots, which are well tolerated by many cell types, can be exploited for enhanced treatment outcome by ferroptosis induction in particularly sensitive cancer cells.

From our investigations in Paper I, we know that PEBCA and PBCA treated MDA-MB-231 cells rely on the ATF4-Nrf2-SLC7A11 pathway for increased antioxidant response and survival, and that both PEBCA and PBCA cause substantial depletion of GSH and increase in lipid peroxidation upon cystine deprivation. aMSH-PEG-C' dots are suggested to induce such a lethal metabolic imbalance executing ferroptosis by increasing intracellular delivery of iron due to iron loading of the aMSH-PEG-C' dots in culture media, which during amino acid starvation becomes detrimental as increased iron uptake lead to depletion of GSH (Kim et al. 2016). Overloading of labile iron, Fe^{2+} , is capable of directly catalyzing lipid peroxidation via Fenton reactions and ultimately lead to ferroptosis (Lu et al. 2018). We have not identified the exact mechanism of GSH depletion by PEBCA or PBCA and can only speculate whether such an iron loading can occur for these particles or whether the particle properties are facilitating electron transfer causing GSH depletion or free radical production. Moreover, ferroptosis has been shown to be induced by tungsten disulfide and Molybdenum disulfide nanosheets in epithelial (BEAS-2B) and macrophage (THP-1) cells by suppression of GPX4, oxygen radical formation and lipid peroxidation. This was not caused by particle dissolution, but rather by particle-increased lysosomal iron release due to the strong oxidation capacity and phospholipidbinding affinity of unsaturated metal atoms on the particle surface (Xu et al. 2020).

Metal-based NPs are known to cause oxidative stress through Fenton or Fenton-like reactions (Nel et al. 2006, He et al. 2012, Tian et al. 2018). As such, these NPs are particularly studied to enhance cancer treatment by triggering ferroptosis alone or in combination with a cargo treatment through the intracellular release of Fe²⁺ upon degradation in lysosomes. Some examples are the exploration of doxorubicin-loaded ferritin NPs (Yang et al. 2019), Fe²⁺-based metal organic frameworks (He et al. 2020, Wan et al. 2020, Xu et al. 2020), Fenton-reaction-acceleratable magnetic NPs (Fe₃O₄) simultaneously increasing Fe²⁺, Fe³⁺ and H₂O₂ (Shen et al. 2018), or sulfasalazine-loaded mesoporous magnetic NPs for the simultaneous inhibition of cystine uptake and Fe²⁺ release (Jiang et al. 2020). Moreover, various non-metal-based NP carriers are also exploited to deliver cargo molecules aimed at inducing ferroptosis to sensitize

targeted cells for treatment effect. Guo et al., 2020, designed hypoxia-responsive polymer micelles encapsulating the GPX4 inhibitor RLS3, to enhance the potency of the ferroptotic inducer in solid tumors. The micelles were PEG-coated through an azobenzene linker, which allows shedding of the PEG coat under hypoxic conditions and enhanced uptake of the RLS3-loaded micelles in the murine breast cancer cell line 4T1 (Guo et al. 2020). Chen et al., 2019, exploited the property of polydopamine to chelate Fe²⁺ and Fe³⁺ and create ultrasmall PEG-coated polydopamine NPs with a pH-dependent release of Fe²⁺ or Fe³⁺ ions. The particles were demonstrated to exhibit effective anticancer effect on 4T1 and U87MG cell lines, as well as tumor-bearing Balb/c mice through promoting ferroptosis (Chen et al. 2019). In such a manner PBCA and PEBCA NPs may be optimal as carriers of ferroptosis-inducers, synergizing the induction of ferroptotic cell death.

Ferritin is the major intracellular iron storage complex (Theil 2004). Oncogenic RAS signaling have been implicated to downregulate ferritin to increase the intracellular labile iron pool to replenish proliferation-driving enzymes with sufficient iron to function (Yang et al. 2008). This may contribute to explain why some cancer types are particularly sensitive to disturbances in iron/redox homeostasis. Excessive iron may participate in Fenton reactions increasing ROS and lipid peroxidation, promoting ferroptosis. Corroborating the contribution by labile iron, iron chelators inhibits erastin-mediated ferroptosis, whereas exogenous supply of iron enhances erastin-mediated ferroptosis (Yang et al. 2008, Dixon et al. 2012).

Autophagy have been demonstrated to contribute to the early stages of ferroptosis by NCOA4-mediated *ferritinophagy*, the selective autophagic degradation of ferritin (Dowdle et al. 2014, Mancias et al. 2014), supplying labile iron (Hou et al. 2016). NCOA4-overexpression increased the levels of Fe^{2+} and malondialdehyde (MDA, product of lipid peroxidation) and reduced the levels of GSH, whereas NCOA4-depletion reduced the levels of Fe^{2+} and MDA and increased the levels of GSH. Indicating that NCOA4-mediated ferritin degradation is at the crossroad of redox metabolism in ferroptosis (Hou et al. 2016). In accordance with this, inhibition of lysosomal function or knockdown of key autophagy players can significantly attenuate and delay the ferroptosis process (Gao et al. 2016).

In Paper III, we find that PBCA at concentrations below 12.5 μ g/ml can increase autophagic degradation in RPE-1 cells through MAPK signal pathway activation. PBCA at 12.5 μ g/ml was also shown to cause a rapid depletion of GSH and a later accumulation of intracellular ROS. In Paper I, we show that PBCA can induce ferroptosis in MDA-MB-231

cells, a triple-negative breast cancer cell line with a high mesenchymal state, fitting the category of ferroptosis-sensitive cancer cells. The induction of ferroptosis was attributed to a rapid increase in ROS and depletion of GSH, and a later accumulation of lipid peroxidation in MDA-MB-231 cells. In Paper II, we show that PBCA increase LC3B mRNA without an effect on increased LC3-II protein levels in MDA-MB-231. The lack of increased LC3-II can be caused by the additional effect of oxidative stress-induced inhibition in LC3 lipidation as confirmed in RPE-1 cells in Paper III, and described as a mechanism by Frudd et al., 2018, (Frudd et al. 2018). As we have not assessed the possibility of lower concentrations of PBCA stimulating autophagic degradation in MDA-MB-231 cells, we can only speculate whether increased autophagic degradation at an early stage in PBCA treatment is promoting ferroptosis in this cell line based on the findings in RPE-1 cells in Paper III. Conversely, we have not investigated whether the increased bulk degradation observed in RPE-1 cells is increasing the intracellular labile iron pool, and whether this is contributing to or causing the oxidative stress measured, and whether this can ultimately initiate ferroptosis in RPE-1 cells. Furthermore, it would be interesting to investigate whether PBCA treatment impacts ferritinophagy specifically and can be exploited to promote ferroptosis in ferroptosis-sensitive cells or in combination with ferroptosis-promoting conditions such as cystine deprivation. Moreover, ferritin degradation has also been shown to be independent of canonical autophagy (Goodwin et al. 2017), or mediated by ESCRT-III (endosomal sorting complex required for transport III)-dependent endosomal microautophagy during the immediate response to amino acid starvation (Mejlvang et al. 2018). Such a mechanism for ferritin degradation can possibly be targeted by NPs as they are primary internalized by endocytosis and may cause endosomal damage recruiting ESCRT-III (Radulovic et al. 2018).

More interestingly, the MAPK signaling pathway, consisting of JNK, p38 and ERK, has been implicated in ferroptosis. Inhibition of MEK1/2 (upstream of ERK1/2) attenuates erastininduced lethality in Ras-mutated cancer cells, indicating that the activated RAS-RAF-MEK pathway renders the cells more sensitive to erastin-induced ferroptosis. They further demonstrate that there is a modest correlation between ERK1/2 phosphorylation status and erastin sensitivity in 12 sarcoma cell lines (Yagoda et al. 2007). Moreover, erastin is found to phosphorylate and activate p38 and JNK in acute myeloid leukemia HL-60 cells, and inhibition of these kinases or knockdown of p38 α inhibit erastin-induced cell death (Yu et al. 2015). In Paper III we demonstrate potent activation of the three MAPKs p38, JNK and ERK by treatment with PBCA in RPE-1 cells. We further demonstrate that p38 and JNK activation is involved in the stimulated autophagic degradation induced by PBCA, most likely by phosphorylating Beclin 1 S90, potentially increasing the Vps34 lipid kinase activity. Moreover, Beclin 1 has been demonstrated to play a non-autophagic role in promoting ferroptosis by directly binding SLC7A11 and blocking system X_C⁻, the cystine/glutamate antiporter activity (Song et al. 2018, Guo et al. 2019). Inhibitors of system X_C⁻, such as erastin and sulfasalazine, was shown to induce AMPK-mediated phosphorylation of Beclin 1 S90/93/96 that was required for the formation of Beclin 1-SLC7A11 complex and subsequently promote GSH depletion and lipid peroxidation (Song et al. 2018). AMPK-mediated phosphorylation of Beclin 1 S93/96 during glucose starvation (Kim et al. 2013) and MAPK-mediated phosphorylation of Beclin 1 S90/93 during amino acid starvation (Fogel et al. 2013, Wei et al. 2015) have also been shown to be essential for activating the PI3KC3 complex to induce autophagy. However, corroborating the non-autophagic role of Beclin 1 in promoting ferroptosis, iron accumulation was not affected by the formation of Beclin 1-SLC7A11 complex inhibiting system X_{C}^{-} activity (Song et al. 2018). It is interesting to speculate whether the MAPK activation found to contribute to erastininduced ferroptosis also acts through formation of Beclin 1-SLC7A11 complex downstream of Beclin 1 S90/93/96 phosphorylation. Although, we do not observe AMPK activation by PBCA treatment in RPE-1 cells in Paper III, we cannot exclude that AMPK activation or MAPK activation is involved in the PBCA-mediated ferroptosis induction seen in MDA-MB-231 cells in Paper I. This makes PBCA a particularly interesting NP candidate for carrying ferroptosisinducers such as erastin, as the particle itself may contribute by enhancing MAPK activation and possibly increasing the intracellular labile iron pool promoting ferroptosis.

CONCLUDING REMARKS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

In conclusion, it is evident through this work that NPs are highly specific entities of which general conclusions are not easily made. It seems their exact composition dictate their exact biological identity affecting how they interact with cells and what stress they cause for the cells. Furthermore, cells are also highly adapted to the stress they have evolved to handle, and consequently the same NP may not induce the same level of stress or cytotoxicity over a variation of cell lines. In this work we have demonstrated the value of in-depth in vitro cell culture studies to investigate NP-induced stress and the outcome of the NP-cell interaction. POCA consistently induced ER stress at a level highly cytotoxic in our panel of cell lines, although with some variation. The severity of the insult seemed to induce apoptosis without engaging pro-survival responses. Further supporting this, POCA accumulated LC3-II as an effect of inhibited fusion with the lysosomes and hence reduced autophagic LLPD as opposed to increased cytoprotective autophagy. PEBCA consistently induced very low cytotoxicity over the panel of cell lines. This was attributed to a potent pro-survival accumulation of ATF4 and more importantly Nrf2, upregulating key players in the antioxidant response. Of significant importance was the cystine transporter, SLC7A11, inhibiting propagation of ROS and ferroptosis until the redox balance was additionally challenged by cystine starvation. Furthermore, ATF4 was found to cause transcriptional upregulation of LC3B mRNA leading to an increased LC3-II protein level maintaining autophagy at normal/basal levels throughout the stressful situation. PBCA was consistently the mediocre NP of the three, inducing cytotoxicity downstream of oxidative stress. Although PBCA also induced pro-survival ATF4 and Nrf2 signaling the response was too weak, or rather the insult too strong, to inhibit ROS propagation, GSH depletion and ferroptosis. Interestingly, the redox imbalance induced by PBCA seemed to cause three distinct autophagy phenotypes, reflected in the cytotoxic dose-response curves. At the lowest concentrations (3.12 and 6.25 μ g/ml), the redox imbalance increased autophagic cargo degradation in a manner dependent on JNK and p38 MAPK activation. At these concentrations, cytotoxicity of PBCA was low and the combined efforts of the antioxidant response, upregulating SLC7A11, and increased autophagy maintains cellular homeostasis. Treatment with 12.5 µg/ml PBCA, was observed to be the turning point where GSH most likely is depleted to such an extent that it can no longer protect the ATGs involved in LC3 conjugation from oxidative modification. Consequently, LC3 lipidation is reduced, but cytoprotective autophagy is increased in the fight to regain homeostasis. At higher concentrations (>12.5

 μ g/ml) the oxidative insult or rather redox imbalance is too severe. The inhibition in LC3 lipidation is more pronounced and the cells are unable to sustain autophagy, dramatically reducing autophagic cargo degradation as cytotoxicity increase.

ROS is a common underlying mechanism of NP-induced cytotoxicity for a variety of NPs (Wen et al. 2020). In this work we have deciphered several mechanisms as to how NPinduced ROS may regulate autophagy from the transcriptional level to actual cargo degradation. Particularly interesting would be to follow up the inhibition in LC3 lipidation observed for PBCA, and whether this is a mechanism by which other NPs ultimately inhibit autophagic degradation. Moreover, to specifically follow up the phenotype observed at 12.5 µg/ml PBCA, where LC3 lipidation is inhibited without a concomitant reduction in autophagic turnover. Also the autophagy stimulation observed at lower concentrations of PBCA would be interesting to follow up. Can other ROS-inducing NPs cause activation of autophagy through MAPK activation? It would also be of interest to elucidate in more depth how MAPK activation and Beclin 1 S90 phosphorylation is able to increase autophagic degradation beyond that induced by the mTOR inhibitor Torin1. It would further be interesting to follow up whether the observed increase in bulk autophagic degradation is reflected as an increase in selective autophagy by use of various selective mKeima reporters. Of particular interest would be to investigate ERphagy, aggrephagy and mitophagy downstream of NP-induced oxidative stress and/or ER stress, as well as the possible impact of ferritinophagy on ferroptosis induction by NPs.

By deciphering how various NPs induce stress and the specific mechanisms at play, one can identify specific NP drug carriers compatible with specific treatment outcomes. As illustrated through this work, a strong pro-survival upregulation of Nrf2 and SLC7A11 may increase drug resistance in the target cells (Okuno et al. 2003, Huang et al. 2005) and as such can compromise cancer treatment, whereas ferroptosis-induction through increased release of labile iron, GSH depletion or increased ROS/lipid peroxidation may suppress cancer growth of the drug-resistant highly mesenchymal cancer cells (Zhang et al. 2018, Wu et al. 2020). Through this work we have gathered a platform of experiments to screen the cellular stress responses initiated by various NPs. By using the mKeima-based system we can identify NPs that stimulate autophagic degradation, which may be beneficial for neurodegenerative disorders (Towers et al. 2016). Particularly as impaired autophagy has been found to promote exocytosis of α -synuclein (Poehler et al. 2014). Increased exocytosis may contribute to reduced aggregate load on the cellular level, phenotypically mimicking increased degradation, but may contribute to increased spreading of the toxic aggregates as they are taken up by neighboring cells.

It is now generally acknowledged that characterization of the protein corona forming around the NP is a first step towards understanding the nature of NP-mediated biological effects. Several methods are available for studying the variation in protein corona (Zeng et al. 2019), and even the contribution from the weakly interacting proteins of the soft corona (Mohammad-Beigi et al. 2020). In this work we hypothesize that variations in the protein corona forming around the three highly similar PACA NPs are involved in eliciting the variation in cellular stress responses, having consequences for cytotoxicity and mode of cell death. Hence, it would be interesting to characterize the protein corona of the three PACA variants and seek answers to what might be dictating such a varied response.

A major point that would be highly interesting and important to address, is how the induced stress responses relate to an effect at the level of the organism? Can the effects observed by the PACA variants be reproduced in an organism, and hence exploited in a treatment setting? The route of NP delivery may change the NP coat and hence how the particles interact with the cells and where the particles accumulate. *In vitro* studies do not fully simulate the highly dynamic nature of extracellular environments, and the protein corona have been found to be influenced by circulation (Pozzi et al. 2015, Palchetti et al. 2017). Furthermore, protein coronas formed in "cell-conditioned" media and "unconditioned" media induce differences in pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion and immune cell apoptosis (Dai et al. 2017).

REFERENCES

Afonyushkin, T., V. Oskolkova Olga, M. Philippova, J. Resink Therese, P. Erne, R. Binder Bernd and N. Bochkov Valery (2010). "Oxidized Phospholipids Regulate Expression of ATF4 and VEGF in Endothelial Cells via NRF2-Dependent Mechanism: Novel Point of Convergence Between Electrophilic and Unfolded Protein Stress Pathways." <u>Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology</u> **30**(5): 1007-1013.

Aggarwal, P., J. B. Hall, C. B. McLeland, M. A. Dobrovolskaia and S. E. McNeil (2009). "Nanoparticle interaction with plasma proteins as it relates to particle biodistribution, biocompatibility and therapeutic efficacy." <u>Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews</u> **61**(6): 428-437.

Ahsan, S. M., C. M. Rao and M. F. Ahmad (2018). "Nanoparticle-Protein Interaction: The Significance and Role of Protein Corona." <u>Adv Exp Med Biol</u> **1048**: 175-198.

Al-Younes, H. M., M. A. Al-Zeer, H. Khalil, J. Gussmann, A. Karlas, N. Machuy, ... T. F. Meyer (2011). "Autophagy-independent function of MAP-LC3 during intracellular propagation of Chlamydia trachomatis." <u>Autophagy</u> 7(8): 814-828.

Ameri, K. and A. L. Harris (2008). "Activating transcription factor 4." <u>The International Journal of</u> <u>Biochemistry & Cell Biology</u> **40**(1): 14-21.

An, H. and J. W. Harper (2018). "Systematic analysis of ribophagy in human cells reveals bystander flux during selective autophagy." <u>Nature cell biology</u> **20**(2): 135-143.

Andreozzi, P., C. Martinelli, R. P. Carney, T. M. Carney and F. Stellacci (2013). "Erythrocyte Incubation as a Method for Free-Dye Presence Determination in Fluorescently Labeled Nanoparticles." <u>Molecular Pharmaceutics</u> **10**(3): 875-882.

Axe, E. L., S. A. Walker, M. Manifava, P. Chandra, H. L. Roderick, A. Habermann, ... N. T. Ktistakis (2008). "Autophagosome formation from membrane compartments enriched in phosphatidylinositol 3-phosphate and dynamically connected to the endoplasmic reticulum." <u>J Cell</u> <u>Biol</u> **182**(4): 685-701.

B'Chir, W., A. C. Maurin, V. Carraro, J. Averous, C. Jousse, Y. Muranishi, . . . A. Bruhat (2013). "The eIF2α/ATF4 pathway is essential for stress-induced autophagy gene expression." <u>Nucleic Acids Res</u> **41**(16): 7683-7699.

Baden, L. R., H. M. El Sahly, B. Essink, K. Kotloff, S. Frey, R. Novak, . . . T. Zaks (2021). "Efficacy and Safety of the mRNA-1273 SARS-CoV-2 Vaccine." <u>N Engl J Med</u> **384**(5): 403-416.

Baird, L. and A. T. Dinkova-Kostova (2011). "The cytoprotective role of the Keap1–Nrf2 pathway." <u>Archives of Toxicology</u> **85**(4): 241-272.

Bannai, S. (1986). "Exchange of cystine and glutamate across plasma membrane of human fibroblasts." J Biol Chem **261**(5): 2256-2263.

Bannai, S. and E. Kitamura (1980). "Transport interaction of L-cystine and L-glutamate in human diploid fibroblasts in culture." J Biol Chem **255**(6): 2372-2376.

Bannai, S. and N. Tateishi (1986). "Role of membrane transport in metabolism and function of glutathione in mammals." <u>The Journal of Membrane Biology</u> **89**(1): 1-8.

Bauer, B. N., M. Rafie-Kolpin, L. Lu, A. Han and J. J. Chen (2001). "Multiple autophosphorylation is essential for the formation of the active and stable homodimer of heme-regulated eIF2alpha kinase." <u>Biochemistry</u> **40**(38): 11543-11551.

Bebber, C. M., F. Müller, L. Prieto Clemente, J. Weber and S. von Karstedt (2020). "Ferroptosis in Cancer Cell Biology." <u>Cancers</u> **12**(1): 164.

Beese, C. J., S. H. Brynjólfsdóttir and L. B. Frankel (2020). "Selective Autophagy of the Protein Homeostasis Machinery: Ribophagy, Proteaphagy and ER-Phagy." <u>Frontiers in Cell and</u> <u>Developmental Biology</u> **7**(373).

Berg, T. O., M. Fengsrud, P. E. Strømhaug, T. Berg and P. O. Seglen (1998). "Isolation and characterization of rat liver amphisomes. Evidence for fusion of autophagosomes with both early and late endosomes." J Biol Chem **273**(34): 21883-21892.

Berlanga, J. J., I. Ventoso, H. P. Harding, J. Deng, D. Ron, N. Sonenberg, . . . C. de Haro (2006). "Antiviral effect of the mammalian translation initiation factor 2alpha kinase GCN2 against RNA viruses." <u>The EMBO Journal</u> **25**(8): 1730-1740.

Bertolotti, A., Y. Zhang, L. M. Hendershot, H. P. Harding and D. Ron (2000). "Dynamic interaction of BiP and ER stress transducers in the unfolded-protein response." <u>Nature cell biology</u> **2**(6): 326-332.

Binnemars-Postma, K. A., H. W. M. ten Hoopen, G. Storm and J. Prakash (2016). "Differential uptake of nanoparticles by human M1 and M2 polarized macrophages: protein corona as a critical determinant." <u>Nanomedicine</u> **11**(22): 2889-2902.

Blanco, E., H. Shen and M. Ferrari (2015). "Principles of nanoparticle design for overcoming biological barriers to drug delivery." <u>Nature Biotechnology</u> **33**(9): 941-951.

Blommaart, E. F., J. J. Luiken, P. J. Blommaart, G. M. van Woerkom and A. J. Meijer (1995). "Phosphorylation of ribosomal protein S6 is inhibitory for autophagy in isolated rat hepatocytes." J Biol Chem **270**(5): 2320-2326.

Bouchecareilh, M., A. Higa, S. Fribourg, M. Moenner and E. Chevet (2011). "Peptides derived from the bifunctional kinase/RNase enzyme IRE1α modulate IRE1α activity and protect cells from endoplasmic reticulum stress." <u>The FASEB Journal</u> **25**(9): 3115-3129.

Boya, P., F. Reggiori and P. Codogno (2013). "Emerging regulation and functions of autophagy." <u>Nature cell biology</u> **15**(7): 713-720.

Bridges, R. J., N. R. Natale and S. A. Patel (2012). "System xc⁻ cystine/glutamate antiporter: an update on molecular pharmacology and roles within the CNS." <u>Br J Pharmacol</u> **165**(1): 20-34.

Bruening, W., B. Giasson, W. Mushynski and H. D. Durham (1998). "Activation of stress-activated MAP protein kinases up-regulates expression of transgenes driven by the cytomegalovirus immediate/early promoter." <u>Nucleic acids research</u> **26**(2): 486-489.

Bryant, S. L., J. E. Eixenberger, S. Rossland, H. Apsley, C. Hoffmann, N. Shrestha, . . . D. Fologea (2017). "ZnO nanoparticles modulate the ionic transport and voltage regulation of lysenin nanochannels." J Nanobiotechnology **15**(1): 90.

Buzea, C., Pacheco, II and K. Robbie (2007). "Nanomaterials and nanoparticles: sources and toxicity." <u>Biointerphases</u> **2**(4): Mr17-71.

Cai, R., J. Ren, Y. Ji, Y. Wang, Y. Liu, Z. Chen, ... C. Chen (2020). "Corona of Thorns: The Surface Chemistry-Mediated Protein Corona Perturbs the Recognition and Immune Response of Macrophages." <u>ACS Appl Mater Interfaces</u> **12**(2): 1997-2008.

Calfon, M., H. Zeng, F. Urano, J. H. Till, S. R. Hubbard, H. P. Harding, . . . D. Ron (2002). "IRE1 couples endoplasmic reticulum load to secretory capacity by processing the XBP-1 mRNA." <u>Nature</u> **415**(6867): 92-96.

Cao, Y., J. Long, L. Liu, T. He, L. Jiang, C. Zhao and Z. Li (2017). "A review of endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress and nanoparticle (NP) exposure." <u>Life Sci</u> 186: 33-42.

Cardoso, C. M., L. Groth-Pedersen, M. Høyer-Hansen, T. Kirkegaard, E. Corcelle, J. S. Andersen, . . . J. Nylandsted (2009). "Depletion of kinesin 5B affects lysosomal distribution and stability and induces peri-nuclear accumulation of autophagosomes in cancer cells." <u>PLoS One</u> 4(2): e4424.

Carlson, C., S. M. Hussain, A. M. Schrand, L. K. Braydich-Stolle, K. L. Hess, R. L. Jones and J. J. Schlager (2008). "Unique Cellular Interaction of Silver Nanoparticles: Size-Dependent Generation of Reactive Oxygen Species." <u>The Journal of Physical Chemistry B</u> **112**(43): 13608-13619.

Cedervall, T., I. Lynch, S. Lindman, T. Berggård, E. Thulin, H. Nilsson, . . . S. Linse (2007). "Understanding the nanoparticle–protein corona using methods to quantify exchange rates and affinities of proteins for nanoparticles." <u>Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences</u> **104**(7): 2050.

Chan, E. Y., S. Kir and S. A. Tooze (2007). "siRNA screening of the kinome identifies ULK1 as a multidomain modulator of autophagy." J Biol Chem **282**(35): 25464-25474.

Chandran, P., J. E. Riviere and N. A. Monteiro-Riviere (2017). "Surface chemistry of gold nanoparticles determines the biocorona composition impacting cellular uptake, toxicity and gene expression profiles in human endothelial cells." <u>Nanotoxicology</u> **11**(4): 507-519.

Chen, F., A. Evans, J. Pham and B. Plosky (2010). "Cellular Stress Responses: A Balancing Act." <u>Molecular cell</u> **40**(2): 175.

Chen, J.-J. (2006). "Regulation of protein synthesis by the heme-regulated eIF2 α kinase: relevance to anemias." <u>Blood</u> **109**(7): 2693-2699.

Chen, L., X. Li, L. Liu, B. Yu, Y. Xue and Y. Liu (2015). "Erastin sensitizes glioblastoma cells to temozolomide by restraining xCT and cystathionine- γ -lyase function." <u>Oncol Rep</u> **33**(3): 1465-1474.

Chen, L., Z. Lin, L. Liu, X. Zhang, W. Shi, D. Ge and Y. Sun (2019). "Fe2+/Fe3+ Ions Chelated with Ultrasmall Polydopamine Nanoparticles Induce Ferroptosis for Cancer Therapy." <u>ACS Biomaterials</u> <u>Science & Engineering</u> **5**(9): 4861-4869.

Chen, R., L. Huo, X. Shi, R. Bai, Z. Zhang, Y. Zhao, . . . C. Chen (2014). "Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress Induced by Zinc Oxide Nanoparticles Is an Earlier Biomarker for Nanotoxicological Evaluation." <u>ACS Nano</u> **8**(3): 2562-2574.

Chen, Y., M. B. Azad and S. B. Gibson (2009). "Superoxide is the major reactive oxygen species regulating autophagy." <u>Cell death and differentiation</u> **16**(7): 1040-1052.

Corbo, C., R. Molinaro, A. Parodi, N. E. Toledano Furman, F. Salvatore and E. Tasciotti (2016). "The impact of nanoparticle protein corona on cytotoxicity, immunotoxicity and target drug delivery." <u>Nanomedicine (London, England)</u> **11**(1): 81-100.

Couvreur, P., B. Kante, L. Grislain, M. Roland and P. Speiser (1982). "Toxicity of Polyalkylcyanoacrylate Nanoparticles II: Doxorubicin-Loaded Nanoparticles." <u>Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences</u> **71**(7): 790-792.

Couvreur, P., B. Kante, M. Roland, P. Guiot, P. Bauduin and P. Speiser (1979). "Polycyanoacrylate nanocapsules as potential lysosomotropic carriers: preparation, morphological and sorptive properties." Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology **31**(1): 331-332.

Cui, G., H. Zhang, Q. Guo, S. Shan, S. Chen, C. Li, . . . Z. Du (2020). "Oxidative stress-mediated mitochondrial pathway-dependent apoptosis is induced by silica nanoparticles in H9c2 cardiomyocytes." <u>Toxicology Mechanisms and Methods</u> **30**(9): 646-655.

Cullinan, S. B., J. D. Gordan, J. Jin, J. W. Harper and J. A. Diehl (2004). "The Keap1-BTB protein is an adaptor that bridges Nrf2 to a Cul3-based E3 ligase: oxidative stress sensing by a Cul3-Keap1 ligase." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **24**(19): 8477-8486.

Dai, Q., J. Guo, Y. Yan, C. S. Ang, N. Bertleff-Zieschang and F. Caruso (2017). "Cell-Conditioned Protein Coronas on Engineered Particles Influence Immune Responses." <u>Biomacromolecules</u> **18**(2): 431-439.

de Haan, C. A., M. Molinari and F. Reggiori (2010). "Autophagy-independent LC3 function in vesicular traffic." <u>Autophagy</u> **6**(7): 994-996.

Deng, Z. J., M. Liang, M. Monteiro, I. Toth and R. F. Minchin (2011). "Nanoparticle-induced unfolding of fibrinogen promotes Mac-1 receptor activation and inflammation." <u>Nat Nanotechnol</u> **6**(1): 39-44.

Derubeis, A. R., M. F. Young, L. Jia, P. G. Robey and L. W. Fisher (2000). "Double FYVE-containing protein 1 (DFCP1): isolation, cloning and characterization of a novel FYVE finger protein from a human bone marrow cDNA library." <u>Gene</u> **255**(2): 195-203.

Dixon, Scott J., Kathryn M. Lemberg, Michael R. Lamprecht, R. Skouta, Eleina M. Zaitsev, Caroline E. Gleason, . . . Brent R. Stockwell (2012). "Ferroptosis: An Iron-Dependent Form of Nonapoptotic Cell Death." <u>Cell</u> **149**(5): 1060-1072.

Dixon, S. J., D. N. Patel, M. Welsch, R. Skouta, E. D. Lee, M. Hayano, . . . B. R. Stockwell (2014). "Pharmacological inhibition of cystine-glutamate exchange induces endoplasmic reticulum stress and ferroptosis." <u>Elife</u> **3**: e02523.

Dolma, S., S. L. Lessnick, W. C. Hahn and B. R. Stockwell (2003). "Identification of genotypeselective antitumor agents using synthetic lethal chemical screening in engineered human tumor cells." <u>Cancer Cell</u> **3**(3): 285-296.

Dong, J., H. Qiu, M. Garcia-Barrio, J. Anderson and A. G. Hinnebusch (2000). "Uncharged tRNA activates GCN2 by displacing the protein kinase moiety from a bipartite tRNA-binding domain." <u>Molecular cell</u> **6**(2): 269-279.

Donnelly, N., A. M. Gorman, S. Gupta and A. Samali (2013). "The eIF2α kinases: their structures and functions." <u>Cell Mol Life Sci</u> **70**(19): 3493-3511.

Dooley, H. C., M. Razi, H. E. J. Polson, S. E. Girardin, M. I. Wilson and S. A. Tooze (2014). "WIPI2 links LC3 conjugation with PI3P, autophagosome formation, and pathogen clearance by recruiting Atg12-5-16L1." <u>Molecular cell</u> **55**(2): 238-252.

Dowdle, W. E., B. Nyfeler, J. Nagel, R. A. Elling, S. Liu, E. Triantafellow, . . . L. O. Murphy (2014). "Selective VPS34 inhibitor blocks autophagy and uncovers a role for NCOA4 in ferritin degradation and iron homeostasis in vivo." <u>Nature cell biology</u> **16**(11): 1069-1079.

Drasler, B., P. Sayre, K. G. Steinhäuser, A. Petri-Fink and B. Rothen-Rutishauser (2017). "In vitro approaches to assess the hazard of nanomaterials." <u>NanoImpact</u> **8**: 99-116.

Dunn, W. A., Jr. (1990). "Studies on the mechanisms of autophagy: formation of the autophagic vacuole." <u>J Cell Biol</u> **110**(6): 1923-1933.

Engedal, N. and P. O. Seglen (2016). "Autophagy of cytoplasmic bulk cargo does not require LC3." <u>Autophagy</u> **12**(2): 439-441.

Engedal, N., M. L. Torgersen, I. J. Guldvik, S. J. Barfeld, D. Bakula, F. Sætre, . . . I. G. Mills (2013). "Modulation of intracellular calcium homeostasis blocks autophagosome formation." <u>Autophagy</u> **9**(10): 1475-1490.

Ernst, V., D. H. Levin and I. M. London (1979). "In situ phosphorylation of the alpha subunit of eukaryotic initiation factor 2 in reticulocyte lysates inhibited by heme deficiency, double-stranded RNA, oxidized glutathione, or the heme-regulated protein kinase." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> 76(5): 2118-2122.

Espinosa-Diez, C., V. Miguel, D. Mennerich, T. Kietzmann, P. Sánchez-Pérez, S. Cadenas and S. Lamas (2015). "Antioxidant responses and cellular adjustments to oxidative stress." <u>Redox Biol</u> **6**: 183-197.

Fader, C. M., D. G. Sánchez, M. B. Mestre and M. I. Colombo (2009). "TI-VAMP/VAMP7 and VAMP3/cellubrevin: two v-SNARE proteins involved in specific steps of the autophagy/multivesicular body pathways." <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u> **1793**(12): 1901-1916.

Fang, G., W. Li, X. Shen, J. M. Perez-Aguilar, Y. Chong, X. Gao, ... R. Zhou (2018). "Differential Pd-nanocrystal facets demonstrate distinct antibacterial activity against Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria." <u>Nat Commun</u> **9**(1): 129.

Finkel, T. (2011). "Signal transduction by reactive oxygen species." J Cell Biol 194(1): 7-15.

Fogel, A. I., B. J. Dlouhy, C. Wang, S.-W. Ryu, A. Neutzner, S. A. Hasson, ... R. J. Youle (2013). "Role of membrane association and Atg14-dependent phosphorylation in beclin-1-mediated autophagy." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **33**(18): 3675-3688.

Fologea, D., E. Krueger, S. Rossland, S. Bryant, W. Foss and T. Clark (2013). "Cationic polymers inhibit the conductance of lysenin channels." <u>ScientificWorldJournal</u> **2013**: 316758.

Foreman-Ortiz, I. U., D. Liang, E. D. Laudadio, J. D. Calderin, M. Wu, P. Keshri, ... J. A. Pedersen (2020). "Anionic nanoparticle-induced perturbation to phospholipid membranes affects ion channel function." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **117**(45): 27854-27861.

Foroozandeh, P. and A. A. Aziz (2018). "Insight into Cellular Uptake and Intracellular Trafficking of Nanoparticles." <u>Nanoscale research letters</u> **13**(1): 339-339.

Frudd, K., T. Burgoyne and J. R. Burgoyne (2018). "Oxidation of Atg3 and Atg7 mediates inhibition of autophagy." <u>Nature Communications</u> **9**(1): 95.

Fu, P. P., Q. Xia, H. M. Hwang, P. C. Ray and H. Yu (2014). "Mechanisms of nanotoxicity: generation of reactive oxygen species." J Food Drug Anal **22**(1): 64-75.

Fuertes, G., J. J. Martín De Llano, A. Villarroya, A. J. Rivett and E. Knecht (2003). "Changes in the proteolytic activities of proteasomes and lysosomes in human fibroblasts produced by serum withdrawal, amino-acid deprivation and confluent conditions." <u>Biochem J</u> **375**(Pt 1): 75-86.

Fujita, N., T. Itoh, H. Omori, M. Fukuda, T. Noda and T. Yoshimori (2008). "The Atg16L Complex Specifies the Site of LC3 Lipidation for Membrane Biogenesis in Autophagy." <u>Molecular biology of the cell</u> **19**(5): 2092-2100.

Fujiwara, N., T. Usui, T. Ohama and K. Sato (2016). "Regulation of Beclin 1 Protein Phosphorylation and Autophagy by Protein Phosphatase 2A (PP2A) and Death-associated Protein Kinase 3 (DAPK3)." J Biol Chem **291**(20): 10858-10866.

Fusser, M., A. Øverbye, A. D. Pandya, Ý. Mørch, S. E. Borgos, W. Kildal, ... G. M. Mælandsmo (2019). "Cabazitaxel-loaded Poly(2-ethylbutyl cyanoacrylate) nanoparticles improve treatment efficacy in a patient derived breast cancer xenograft." J Control Release **293**: 183-192.

Füllgrabe, J., G. Ghislat, D.-H. Cho and D. C. Rubinsztein (2016). "Transcriptional regulation of mammalian autophagy at a glance." Journal of Cell Science **129**(16): 3059-3066.

Galluzzi, L., I. Vitale, S. A. Aaronson, J. M. Abrams, D. Adam, P. Agostinis, . . . G. Kroemer (2018). "Molecular mechanisms of cell death: recommendations of the Nomenclature Committee on Cell Death 2018." <u>Cell Death & Differentiation</u> **25**(3): 486-541.

Ganley, I. G., H. Lam du, J. Wang, X. Ding, S. Chen and X. Jiang (2009). "ULK1.ATG13.FIP200 complex mediates mTOR signaling and is essential for autophagy." <u>J Biol Chem</u> **284**(18): 12297-12305.

Ganley, I. G., P. M. Wong, N. Gammoh and X. Jiang (2011). "Distinct autophagosomal-lysosomal fusion mechanism revealed by thapsigargin-induced autophagy arrest." <u>Molecular cell</u> **42**(6): 731-743.

Gao, M., P. Monian, Q. Pan, W. Zhang, J. Xiang and X. Jiang (2016). "Ferroptosis is an autophagic cell death process." <u>Cell Research</u> **26**(9): 1021-1032.

García, M. A., E. F. Meurs and M. Esteban (2007). "The dsRNA protein kinase PKR: virus and cell control." <u>Biochimie</u> **89**(6-7): 799-811.

Garic-Stankovic, A., M. Hernandez, G. R. Flentke and S. M. Smith (2006). "Structural constraints for alcohol-stimulated Ca2+ release in neural crest, and dual agonist/antagonist properties of n-octanol." <u>Alcohol Clin Exp Res</u> **30**(3): 552-559.

Gatenby, R. A. (2019). "The Role of Cell Membrane Information Reception, Processing, and Communication in the Structure and Function of Multicellular Tissue." <u>International journal of molecular sciences</u> **20**(15).

Ge, C., G. Fang, X. Shen, Y. Chong, W. G. Wamer, X. Gao, . . . J.-J. Yin (2016). "Facet Energy versus Enzyme-like Activities: The Unexpected Protection of Palladium Nanocrystals against Oxidative Damage." <u>ACS Nano</u> **10**(11): 10436-10445.

Ghavami, M., S. Saffar, B. Abd Emamy, A. Peirovi, M. A. Shokrgozar, V. Serpooshan and M. Mahmoudi (2013). "Plasma concentration gradient influences the protein corona decoration on nanoparticles." <u>RSC Advances</u> **3**(4): 1119-1126.

Gloire, G., S. Legrand-Poels and J. Piette (2006). "NF-kappaB activation by reactive oxygen species: fifteen years later." <u>Biochem Pharmacol</u> **72**(11): 1493-1505.

Goodwin, J. M., W. E. Dowdle, R. DeJesus, Z. Wang, P. Bergman, M. Kobylarz, ... L. O. Murphy (2017). "Autophagy-Independent Lysosomal Targeting Regulated by ULK1/2-FIP200 and ATG9." <u>Cell Reports</u> **20**(10): 2341-2356.

Gordon, P. B. and P. O. Seglen (1988). "Prelysosomal convergence of autophagic and endocytic pathways." <u>Biochem Biophys Res Commun</u> **151**(1): 40-47.

Gout, P. W., Y. J. Kang, D. J. Buckley, N. Bruchovsky and A. R. Buckley (1997). "Increased cystine uptake capability associated with malignant progression of Nb2 lymphoma cells." <u>Leukemia</u> **11**(8): 1329-1337.

Gout, P. W., C. R. Simms and M. C. Robertson (2003). "In vitro studies on the lymphoma growth-inhibitory activity of sulfasalazine." <u>Anticancer Drugs</u> 14(1): 21-29.

Graf, A., A. McDowell and T. Rades (2009). "Poly(alkylcyanoacrylate) nanoparticles for enhanced delivery of therapeutics - is there real potential?" <u>Expert Opin Drug Deliv</u> **6**(4): 371-387.

Grallert, B. and E. Boye (2007). "The Gcn2 kinase as a cell cycle regulator." <u>Cell Cycle</u> **6**(22): 2768-2772.

Griffith, O. W. (1999). "Biologic and pharmacologic regulation of mammalian glutathione synthesis." <u>Free Radic Biol Med</u> **27**(9-10): 922-935.

Guo, C., M. Yang, L. Jing, J. Wang, Y. Yu, Y. Li, ... Z. Sun (2016). "Amorphous silica nanoparticles trigger vascular endothelial cell injury through apoptosis and autophagy via reactive oxygen species-mediated MAPK/Bcl-2 and PI3K/Akt/mTOR signaling." <u>International journal of nanomedicine</u> **11**: 5257-5276.

Guo, X., F. Liu, J. Deng, P. Dai, Y. Qin, Z. Li, ... Y. Zhao (2020). "Electron-Accepting Micelles Deplete Reduced Nicotinamide Adenine Dinucleotide Phosphate and Impair Two Antioxidant Cascades for Ferroptosis-Induced Tumor Eradication." <u>ACS Nano</u> 14(11): 14715-14730.

Guo, Y., X. Liu, D. Liu, K. Li, C. Wang, Y. Liu, ... P. Shi (2019). "Inhibition of BECN1 Suppresses Lipid Peroxidation by Increasing System X(c)(-) Activity in Early Brain Injury after Subarachnoid Hemorrhage." J Mol Neurosci 67(4): 622-631.

Guofang, Z., S. Qingle, Z. Yuqian, L. Ruijing, C. Liang, M.-R. Nancy, . . . L. Yang (2021). <u>Research</u> <u>Square</u>.

Hanada, T., N. N. Noda, Y. Satomi, Y. Ichimura, Y. Fujioka, T. Takao, ... Y. Ohsumi (2007). "The Atg12-Atg5 Conjugate Has a Novel E3-like Activity for Protein Lipidation in Autophagy*." <u>Journal of Biological Chemistry</u> **282**(52): 37298-37302.

Hangauer, M. J., V. S. Viswanathan, M. J. Ryan, D. Bole, J. K. Eaton, A. Matov, ... M. T. McManus (2017). "Drug-tolerant persister cancer cells are vulnerable to GPX4 inhibition." <u>Nature</u> **551**(7679): 247-250.

Harding, H. P., Y. Zhang and D. Ron (1999). "Protein translation and folding are coupled by an endoplasmic-reticulum-resident kinase." <u>Nature</u> **397**(6716): 271-274.

Hartmann, P., T. Brezesinski, J. Sann, A. Lotnyk, J.-P. Eufinger, L. Kienle and J. Janek (2013). "Defect Chemistry of Oxide Nanomaterials with High Surface Area: Ordered Mesoporous Thin Films of the Oxygen Storage Catalyst CeO2–ZrO2." <u>ACS Nano</u> 7(4): 2999-3013. Hayashi-Nishino, M., N. Fujita, T. Noda, A. Yamaguchi, T. Yoshimori and A. Yamamoto (2009). "A subdomain of the endoplasmic reticulum forms a cradle for autophagosome formation." <u>Nature cell</u> <u>biology</u> **11**(12): 1433-1437.

Haze, K., H. Yoshida, H. Yanagi, T. Yura and K. Mori (1999). "Mammalian transcription factor ATF6 is synthesized as a transmembrane protein and activated by proteolysis in response to endoplasmic reticulum stress." <u>Molecular biology of the cell</u> **10**(11): 3787-3799.

He, C. and D. J. Klionsky (2009). "Regulation mechanisms and signaling pathways of autophagy." <u>Annual review of genetics</u> **43**: 67-93.

He, H., Y. Dang, F. Dai, Z. Guo, J. Wu, X. She, . . . L. Yu (2003). "Post-translational modifications of three members of the human MAP1LC3 family and detection of a novel type of modification for MAP1LC3B." J Biol Chem **278**(31): 29278-29287.

He, H., L. Du, H. Guo, Y. An, L. Lu, Y. Chen, . . . X. Shuai (2020). "Redox Responsive Metal Organic Framework Nanoparticles Induces Ferroptosis for Cancer Therapy." <u>Small</u> **16**(33): 2001251.

He, Q., D. I. Lee, R. Rong, M. Yu, X. Luo, M. Klein, . . . M. S. Sheikh (2002). "Endoplasmic reticulum calcium pool depletion-induced apoptosis is coupled with activation of the death receptor 5 pathway." <u>Oncogene</u> **21**(17): 2623-2633.

He, W., Y.-T. Zhou, W. G. Wamer, M. D. Boudreau and J.-J. Yin (2012). "Mechanisms of the pH dependent generation of hydroxyl radicals and oxygen induced by Ag nanoparticles." <u>Biomaterials</u> **33**(30): 7547-7555.

Head, B. P., H. H. Patel and P. A. Insel (2014). "Interaction of membrane/lipid rafts with the cytoskeleton: impact on signaling and function: membrane/lipid rafts, mediators of cytoskeletal arrangement and cell signaling." <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u> **1838**(2): 532-545.

Hebert, D. N. and M. Molinari (2007). "In and out of the ER: protein folding, quality control, degradation, and related human diseases." <u>Physiol Rev</u> **87**(4): 1377-1408.

Henell, F., A. Berkenstam, J. Ahlberg and H. Glaumann (1987). "Degradation of short- and long-lived proteins in perfused liver and in isolated autophagic vacuoles--lysosomes." <u>Exp Mol Pathol</u> **46**(1): 1-14.

Hetz, C. and F. R. Papa (2018). "The Unfolded Protein Response and Cell Fate Control." <u>Molecular</u> cell **69**(2): 169-181.

Hetz, C., K. Zhang and R. J. Kaufman (2020). "Mechanisms, regulation and functions of the unfolded protein response." <u>Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology</u> **21**(8): 421-438.

Holcik, M. and N. Sonenberg (2005). "Translational control in stress and apoptosis." <u>Nature Reviews</u> <u>Molecular Cell Biology</u> **6**(4): 318-327.

Hollien, J. and J. S. Weissman (2006). "Decay of endoplasmic reticulum-localized mRNAs during the unfolded protein response." <u>Science</u> **313**(5783): 104-107.

Hosokawa, N., T. Hara, T. Kaizuka, C. Kishi, A. Takamura, Y. Miura, ... N. Mizushima (2009). "Nutrient-dependent mTORC1 association with the ULK1-Atg13-FIP200 complex required for autophagy." <u>Molecular biology of the cell</u> **20**(7): 1981-1991.

Hou, W., Y. Xie, X. Song, X. Sun, M. T. Lotze, H. J. Zeh, . . . D. Tang (2016). "Autophagy promotes ferroptosis by degradation of ferritin." <u>Autophagy</u> **12**(8): 1425-1428.

Hruban, Z., B. Spargo, H. Swift, R. W. Wissler and R. G. Kleinfeld (1963). "Focal cytoplasmic degradation." <u>The American journal of pathology</u> **42**(6): 657-683.

Huang, D., H. Zhou and J. Gao (2015). "Nanoparticles modulate autophagic effect in a dispersitydependent manner." <u>Scientific Reports</u> **5**(1): 14361.

Huang, Y., Z. Dai, C. Barbacioru and W. Sadée (2005). "Cystine-glutamate transporter SLC7A11 in cancer chemosensitivity and chemoresistance." <u>Cancer Res</u> **65**(16): 7446-7454.

Hunt, W. A. (1975). "The effects of aliphatic alcohols on the biophysical and biochemical correlates of membrane function." <u>Adv Exp Med Biol</u> **56**: 195-210.

Ichimura, Y., T. Kirisako, T. Takao, Y. Satomi, Y. Shimonishi, N. Ishihara, ... Y. Ohsumi (2000). "A ubiquitin-like system mediates protein lipidation." <u>Nature</u> **408**(6811): 488-492.

Ishimura, R., G. Nagy, I. Dotu, J. H. Chuang and S. L. Ackerman (2016). "Activation of GCN2 kinase by ribosome stalling links translation elongation with translation initiation." <u>Elife</u> **5**.

Itakura, E., C. Kishi-Itakura and N. Mizushima (2012). "The hairpin-type tail-anchored SNARE syntaxin 17 targets to autophagosomes for fusion with endosomes/lysosomes." <u>Cell</u> **151**(6): 1256-1269.

Itakura, E. and N. Mizushima (2010). "Characterization of autophagosome formation site by a hierarchical analysis of mammalian Atg proteins." <u>Autophagy</u> 6(6): 764-776.

Itoh, K., T. Chiba, S. Takahashi, T. Ishii, K. Igarashi, Y. Katoh, . . . Y. Nabeshima (1997). "An Nrf2/small Maf heterodimer mediates the induction of phase II detoxifying enzyme genes through antioxidant response elements." <u>Biochem Biophys Res Commun</u> **236**(2): 313-322.

Itoh, K., N. Wakabayashi, Y. Katoh, T. Ishii, K. Igarashi, J. D. Engel and M. Yamamoto (1999). "Keap1 represses nuclear activation of antioxidant responsive elements by Nrf2 through binding to the amino-terminal Neh2 domain." <u>Genes & development</u> **13**(1): 76-86.

Iversen, T.-G., T. Skotland and K. Sandvig (2011). "Endocytosis and intracellular transport of nanoparticles: Present knowledge and need for future studies." <u>Nano Today</u> **6**(2): 176-185.

Jackson, R. J., C. U. T. Hellen and T. V. Pestova (2010). "The mechanism of eukaryotic translation initiation and principles of its regulation." <u>Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology</u> **11**(2): 113-127.

Jiang, Q., K. Wang, X. Zhang, B. Ouyang, H. Liu, Z. Pang and W. Yang (2020). "Platelet Membrane-Camouflaged Magnetic Nanoparticles for Ferroptosis-Enhanced Cancer Immunotherapy." <u>Small</u> **16**(22): 2001704.

Jousse, C., S. Oyadomari, I. Novoa, P. Lu, Y. Zhang, H. P. Harding and D. Ron (2003). "Inhibition of a constitutive translation initiation factor 2alpha phosphatase, CReP, promotes survival of stressed cells." J Cell Biol 163(4): 767-775.

Ju, H. Q., T. Gocho, M. Aguilar, M. Wu, Z. N. Zhuang, J. Fu, ... P. J. Chiao (2015). "Mechanisms of Overcoming Intrinsic Resistance to Gemcitabine in Pancreatic Ductal Adenocarcinoma through the Redox Modulation." <u>Mol Cancer Ther</u> 14(3): 788-798.

Kabeya, Y., N. Mizushima, T. Ueno, A. Yamamoto, T. Kirisako, T. Noda, ... T. Yoshimori (2000). "LC3, a mammalian homologue of yeast Apg8p, is localized in autophagosome membranes after processing." <u>The EMBO Journal</u> **19**(21): 5720-5728.

Katayama, H., T. Kogure, N. Mizushima, T. Yoshimori and A. Miyawaki (2011). "A Sensitive and Quantitative Technique for Detecting Autophagic Events Based on Lysosomal Delivery." <u>Chemistry</u> <u>& Biology</u> **18**(8): 1042-1052.

Kaushik, S. and A. M. Cuervo (2018). "The coming of age of chaperone-mediated autophagy." <u>Nat</u> <u>Rev Mol Cell Biol</u> **19**(6): 365-381.

Kermanizadeh, A., C. Chauché, D. M. Brown, S. Loft and P. Møller (2015). "The role of intracellular redox imbalance in nanomaterial induced cellular damage and genotoxicity: A review." <u>Environmental and Molecular Mutagenesis</u> **56**(2): 111-124.

Kharazian, B., S. E. Lohse, F. Ghasemi, M. Raoufi, A. A. Saei, F. Hashemi, . . . M. Mahmoudi (2018). "Bare surface of gold nanoparticle induces inflammation through unfolding of plasma fibrinogen." <u>Sci</u> <u>Rep</u> 8(1): 12557.

Kim, J. and K. L. Guan (2019). "mTOR as a central hub of nutrient signalling and cell growth." <u>Nature cell biology</u> **21**(1): 63-71.

Kim, J., Y. C. Kim, C. Fang, R. C. Russell, J. H. Kim, W. Fan, ... K. L. Guan (2013). "Differential regulation of distinct Vps34 complexes by AMPK in nutrient stress and autophagy." <u>Cell</u> **152**(1-2): 290-303.

Kim, J., M. Kundu, B. Viollet and K. L. Guan (2011). "AMPK and mTOR regulate autophagy through direct phosphorylation of Ulk1." <u>Nature cell biology</u> **13**(2): 132-141.

Kim, S. E., L. Zhang, K. Ma, M. Riegman, F. Chen, I. Ingold, . . . M. Overholtzer (2016). "Ultrasmall nanoparticles induce ferroptosis in nutrient-deprived cancer cells and suppress tumour growth." <u>Nature Nanotechnology</u> **11**(11): 977-985.

Kimball, S. R. (1999). "Eukaryotic initiation factor eIF2." Int J Biochem Cell Biol 31(1): 25-29.

Kirisako, T., M. Baba, N. Ishihara, K. Miyazawa, M. Ohsumi, T. Yoshimori, . . . Y. Ohsumi (1999). "Formation Process of Autophagosome Is Traced with Apg8/Aut7p in Yeast." <u>Journal of Cell Biology</u> **147**(2): 435-446.

Kirisako, T., Y. Ichimura, H. Okada, Y. Kabeya, N. Mizushima, T. Yoshimori, ... Y. Ohsumi (2000). "The reversible modification regulates the membrane-binding state of Apg8/Aut7 essential for autophagy and the cytoplasm to vacuole targeting pathway." J Cell Biol **151**(2): 263-276.

Klionsky, D. J., A. K. Abdel-Aziz, S. Abdelfatah, M. Abdellatif, A. Abdoli, S. Abel, ... C. K. Tong (2021). "Guidelines for the use and interpretation of assays for monitoring autophagy (4th edition)(1)." <u>Autophagy</u> **17**(1): 1-382.

Klionsky, D. J., J. M. Cregg, W. A. Dunn, Jr., S. D. Emr, Y. Sakai, I. V. Sandoval, . . . Y. Ohsumi (2003). "A unified nomenclature for yeast autophagy-related genes." <u>Dev Cell</u> **5**(4): 539-545.

Klionsky, D. J., A. M. Cuervo, W. A. Dunn, Jr., B. Levine, I. van der Klei and P. O. Seglen (2007). "How shall I eat thee?" <u>Autophagy</u> **3**(5): 413-416.

Klionsky, D. J. and Y. Ohsumi (1999). "Vacuolar import of proteins and organelles from the cytoplasm." <u>Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol</u> **15**: 1-32.

Klymchenko, A. S., E. Roger, N. Anton, H. Anton, I. Shulov, J. Vermot, ... T. F. Vandamme (2012). "Highly lipophilic fluorescent dyes in nano-emulsions: towards bright non-leaking nano-droplets." <u>RSC Adv</u> **2**(31): 11876-11886.

Kode, A., I. Mosialou, B. C. Silva, S. Joshi, M. Ferron, M. T. Rached and S. Kousteni (2012). "FoxO1 protein cooperates with ATF4 protein in osteoblasts to control glucose homeostasis." <u>J Biol Chem</u> **287**(12): 8757-8768.

Kojima, E., A. Takeuchi, M. Haneda, A. Yagi, T. Hasegawa, K. Yamaki, ... K. Isobe (2003). "The function of GADD34 is a recovery from a shutoff of protein synthesis induced by ER stress: elucidation by GADD34-deficient mice." <u>Faseb i</u> **17**(11): 1573-1575.

Kopitz, J., G. O. Kisen, P. B. Gordon, P. Bohley and P. O. Seglen (1990). "Nonselective autophagy of cytosolic enzymes by isolated rat hepatocytes." <u>J Cell Biol</u> **111**(3): 941-953.

Korennykh, A. and P. Walter (2012). "Structural basis of the unfolded protein response." <u>Annu Rev</u> <u>Cell Dev Biol</u> **28**: 251-277.

Kramer, G., J. M. Cimadevilla and B. Hardesty (1976). "Specificity of the protein kinase activity associated with the hemin-controlled repressor of rabbit reticulocyte." <u>Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America</u> **73**(9): 3078-3082.

Kritsiligkou, P., J. D. Rand, A. J. Weids, X. Wang, C. J. Kershaw and C. M. Grant (2018). "Endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress-induced reactive oxygen species (ROS) are detrimental for the fitness of a thioredoxin reductase mutant." <u>J Biol Chem</u> **293**(31): 11984-11995.

Kroemer, G., G. Mariño and B. Levine (2010). "Autophagy and the Integrated Stress Response." <u>Molecular cell</u> **40**(2): 280-293.

Landfester, K. (2006). "SYNTHESIS OF COLLOIDAL PARTICLES IN MINIEMULSIONS." <u>Annual Review of Materials Research</u> **36**(1): 231-279.

Lao, F., L. Chen, W. Li, C. Ge, Y. Qu, Q. Sun, ... C. Chen (2009). "Fullerene nanoparticles selectively enter oxidation-damaged cerebral microvessel endothelial cells and inhibit JNK-related apoptosis." <u>ACS Nano</u> **3**(11): 3358-3368.

Lee, K.-I., C.-C. Su, K.-M. Fang, C.-C. Wu, C.-T. Wu and Y.-W. Chen (2020). "Ultrafine silicon dioxide nanoparticles cause lung epithelial cells apoptosis via oxidative stress-activated PI3K/Akt-mediated mitochondria- and endoplasmic reticulum stress-dependent signaling pathways." <u>Scientific Reports</u> **10**(1): 9928.

Lemaire, P. A., E. Anderson, J. Lary and J. L. Cole (2008). "Mechanism of PKR Activation by dsRNA." J Mol Biol **381**(2): 351-360.

Levin, D., R. S. Ranu, V. Ernst and I. M. London (1976). "Regulation of protein synthesis in reticulocyte lysates: phosphorylation of methionyl-tRNAf binding factor by protein kinase activity of translational inhibitor isolated from hemedeficient lysates." <u>Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America</u> **73**(9): 3112-3116.

Li, L., Y. Chen and S. B. Gibson (2013). "Starvation-induced autophagy is regulated by mitochondrial reactive oxygen species leading to AMPK activation." <u>Cell Signal</u> **25**(1): 50-65.

Li, X., X.-Q. Wu, R. Deng, D.-D. Li, J. Tang, W.-D. Chen, . . . X.-F. Zhu (2017). "CaMKII-mediated Beclin 1 phosphorylation regulates autophagy that promotes degradation of Id and neuroblastoma cell differentiation." <u>Nature Communications</u> **8**(1): 1159.

Li, Y., X. He, J.-J. Yin, Y. Ma, P. Zhang, J. Li, ... Z. Zhang (2015). "Acquired Superoxide-Scavenging Ability of Ceria Nanoparticles." <u>Angewandte Chemie International Edition</u> **54**(6): 1832-1835. Liang, X. H., L. K. Kleeman, H. H. Jiang, G. Gordon, J. E. Goldman, G. Berry, . . . B. Levine (1998). "Protection against Fatal Sindbis Virus Encephalitis by Beclin, a Novel Bcl-2-Interacting Protein." Journal of Virology **72**(11): 8586-8596.

Liao, K.-H., Y.-S. Lin, C. W. Macosko and C. L. Haynes (2011). "Cytotoxicity of Graphene Oxide and Graphene in Human Erythrocytes and Skin Fibroblasts." <u>ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces</u> **3**(7): 2607-2615.

Lin, J., Y. Liu, H. Wu, Z. Huang, J. Ma, C. Guo, . . . L. Wen (2018). "Key Role of TFEB Nucleus Translocation for Silver Nanoparticle-Induced Cytoprotective Autophagy." <u>Small</u> **14**(13): 1703711.

Linkermann, A., R. Skouta, N. Himmerkus, S. R. Mulay, C. Dewitz, F. De Zen, . . . S. Krautwald (2014). "Synchronized renal tubular cell death involves ferroptosis." <u>Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences</u> **111**(47): 16836.

Lira, M. C. B., N. S. Santos-Magalhães, V. Nicolas, V. Marsaud, M. P. C. Silva, G. Ponchel and C. Vauthier (2011). "Cytotoxicity and cellular uptake of newly synthesized fucoidan-coated nanoparticles." <u>European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics</u> **79**(1): 162-170.

Liu, N., M. Tang and J. Ding (2020). "The interaction between nanoparticles-protein corona complex and cells and its toxic effect on cells." <u>Chemosphere</u> **245**: 125624.

Liu, T., W. Liu, M. Zhang, W. Yu, F. Gao, C. Li, ... X. Z. Zhang (2018). "Ferrous-Supply-Regeneration Nanoengineering for Cancer-Cell-Specific Ferroptosis in Combination with Imaging-Guided Photodynamic Therapy." <u>ACS Nano</u> **12**(12): 12181-12192.

Liu, Z., Y. Lv, N. Zhao, G. Guan and J. Wang (2015). "Protein kinase R-like ER kinase and its role in endoplasmic reticulum stress-decided cell fate." <u>Cell Death & Disease</u> **6**(7): e1822-e1822.

Lopes, V. R., V. Loitto, J.-N. Audinot, N. Bayat, A. C. Gutleb and S. Cristobal (2016). "Dosedependent autophagic effect of titanium dioxide nanoparticles in human HaCaT cells at non-cytotoxic levels." Journal of Nanobiotechnology **14**: 22-22.

Lu, B., X. B. Chen, M. D. Ying, Q. J. He, J. Cao and B. Yang (2018). "The Role of Ferroptosis in Cancer Development and Treatment Response." <u>Frontiers in Pharmacology</u> **8**(992).

Lu, L., A.-P. Han and J.-J. Chen (2001). "Translation Initiation Control by Heme-Regulated Eukaryotic Initiation Factor 2α Kinase in Erythroid Cells under Cytoplasmic Stresses." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **21**(23): 7971-7980.

Lu, M., D. A. Lawrence, S. Marsters, D. Acosta-Alvear, P. Kimmig, A. S. Mendez, . . . A. Ashkenazi (2014). "Opposing unfolded-protein-response signals converge on death receptor 5 to control apoptosis." <u>Science</u> **345**(6192): 98-101.

Lu, P. D., H. P. Harding and D. Ron (2004). "Translation reinitiation at alternative open reading frames regulates gene expression in an integrated stress response." J Cell Biol **167**(1): 27-33.

Lu, S. C. (2009). "Regulation of glutathione synthesis." Molecular aspects of medicine 30(1-2): 42-59.

Luhr, M., P. Szalai and N. Engedal (2018). "The Lactate Dehydrogenase Sequestration Assay - A Simple and Reliable Method to Determine Bulk Autophagic Sequestration Activity in Mammalian Cells." <u>J Vis Exp</u>(137).

Luhr, M., F. Sætre and N. Engedal (2018). "The Long-lived Protein Degradation Assay: an Efficient Method for Quantitative Determination of the Autophagic Flux of Endogenous Proteins in Adherent Cell Lines." <u>Bio-protocol</u> **8**(9): e2836.

Luhr, M., M. L. Torgersen, P. Szalai, A. Hashim, A. Brech, J. Staerk and N. Engedal (2019). "The kinase PERK and the transcription factor ATF4 play distinct and essential roles in autophagy resulting from tunicamycin-induced ER stress." J Biol Chem **294**(20): 8197-8217.

Lundqvist, M., J. Stigler, G. Elia, I. Lynch, T. Cedervall and K. A. Dawson (2008). "Nanoparticle size and surface properties determine the protein corona with possible implications for biological impacts." <u>Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences</u> **105**(38): 14265.

Lyon, R. C., J. A. McComb, J. Schreurs and D. B. Goldstein (1981). "A relationship between alcohol intoxication and the disordering of brain membranes by a series of short-chain alcohols." <u>J Pharmacol Exp Ther</u> **218**(3): 669-675.

Maday, S., K. E. Wallace and E. L. Holzbaur (2012). "Autophagosomes initiate distally and mature during transport toward the cell soma in primary neurons." <u>J Cell Biol</u> **196**(4): 407-417.

Maejima, Y., S. Kyoi, P. Zhai, T. Liu, H. Li, A. Ivessa, . . . J. Sadoshima (2013). "Mst1 inhibits autophagy by promoting the interaction between Beclin1 and Bcl-2." <u>Nature medicine</u> **19**(11): 1478-1488.

Maiorano, G., S. Sabella, B. Sorce, V. Brunetti, M. A. Malvindi, R. Cingolani and P. P. Pompa (2010). "Effects of Cell Culture Media on the Dynamic Formation of Protein–Nanoparticle Complexes and Influence on the Cellular Response." <u>ACS Nano</u> 4(12): 7481-7491.

Makowske, M. and H. N. Christensen (1982). "Hepatic transport system interconverted by protonation from service for neutral to service for anionic amino acids." Journal of Biological Chemistry **257**(24): 14635-14638.

Mancias, J. D., X. Wang, S. P. Gygi, J. W. Harper and A. C. Kimmelman (2014). "Quantitative proteomics identifies NCOA4 as the cargo receptor mediating ferritinophagy." <u>Nature</u> **509**(7498): 105-109.

Manshian, B. B., D. F. Moyano, N. Corthout, S. Munck, U. Himmelreich, V. M. Rotello and S. J. Soenen (2014). "High-content imaging and gene expression analysis to study cell-nanomaterial interactions: the effect of surface hydrophobicity." <u>Biomaterials</u> **35**(37): 9941-9950.

Martina, J. A., H. I. Diab, L. Lishu, L. Jeong-A, S. Patange, N. Raben and R. Puertollano (2014). "The Nutrient-Responsive Transcription Factor TFE3 Promotes Autophagy, Lysosomal Biogenesis, and Clearance of Cellular Debris." <u>Science Signaling</u> 7(309): ra9-ra9.

Martina, J. A. and R. Puertollano (2017). "TFEB and TFE3: The art of multi-tasking under stress conditions." <u>Transcription</u> **8**(1): 48-54.

Masson, G. R. (2019). "Towards a model of GCN2 activation." Biochem Soc Trans 47(5): 1481-1488.

Matsunaga, K., E. Morita, T. Saitoh, S. Akira, N. T. Ktistakis, T. Izumi, . . . T. Yoshimori (2010). "Autophagy requires endoplasmic reticulum targeting of the PI3-kinase complex via Atg14L." <u>J Cell</u> <u>Biol</u> **190**(4): 511-521.

Mauthe, M., A. Jacob, S. Freiberger, K. Hentschel, Y. D. Stierhof, P. Codogno and T. Proikas-Cezanne (2011). "Resveratrol-mediated autophagy requires WIPI-1-regulated LC3 lipidation in the absence of induced phagophore formation." <u>Autophagy</u> 7(12): 1448-1461.

McEwan, D. G., D. Popovic, A. Gubas, S. Terawaki, H. Suzuki, D. Stadel, . . . I. Dikic (2015). "PLEKHM1 regulates autophagosome-lysosome fusion through HOPS complex and LC3/GABARAP proteins." <u>Molecular cell</u> **57**(1): 39-54. McKarns, S. C., C. Hansch, W. S. Caldwell, W. T. Morgan, S. K. Moore and D. J. Doolittle (1997). "Correlation between hydrophobicity of short-chain aliphatic alcohols and their ability to alter plasma membrane integrity." <u>Fundam Appl Toxicol</u> **36**(1): 62-70.

Meister, A. and M. E. Anderson (1983). "GLUTATHIONE." <u>Annual Review of Biochemistry</u> **52**(1): 711-760.

Mejlvang, J., H. Olsvik, S. Svenning, J.-A. Bruun, Y. P. Abudu, K. B. Larsen, ... T. Johansen (2018). "Starvation induces rapid degradation of selective autophagy receptors by endosomal microautophagy." Journal of Cell Biology **217**(10): 3640-3655.

Menon, M. B. and S. Dhamija (2018). "Beclin 1 Phosphorylation – at the Center of Autophagy Regulation." <u>Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology</u> **6**(137).

Mihaylova, M. M. and R. J. Shaw (2011). "The AMPK signalling pathway coordinates cell growth, autophagy and metabolism." <u>Nature cell biology</u> **13**(9): 1016-1023.

Mimura, J., A. Inose-Maruyama, S. Taniuchi, K. Kosaka, H. Yoshida, H. Yamazaki, ... K. Itoh (2019). "Concomitant Nrf2- and ATF4-activation by Carnosic Acid Cooperatively Induces Expression of Cytoprotective Genes." International journal of molecular sciences **20**(7).

Miyamoto, N., H. Izumi, R. Miyamoto, H. Bin, H. Kondo, A. Tawara, ... K. Kohno (2011). "Transcriptional Regulation of Activating Transcription Factor 4 under Oxidative Stress in Retinal Pigment Epithelial ARPE-19/HPV-16 Cells." <u>Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science</u> **52**(3): 1226-1234.

Mizushima, N. and M. Komatsu (2011). "Autophagy: Renovation of Cells and Tissues." <u>Cell</u> **147**(4): 728-741.

Mizushima, N., Y. Ohsumi and T. Yoshimori (2002). "Autophagosome formation in mammalian cells." <u>Cell Struct Funct</u> **27**(6): 421-429.

Mizushima, N., T. Yoshimori and B. Levine (2010). "Methods in mammalian autophagy research." <u>Cell</u> **140**(3): 313-326.

Mizushima, N., T. Yoshimori and Y. Ohsumi (2011). "The Role of Atg Proteins in Autophagosome Formation." <u>Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology</u> **27**(1): 107-132.

Mo, J., Q. Xie, W. Wei and J. Zhao (2018). "Revealing the immune perturbation of black phosphorus nanomaterials to macrophages by understanding the protein corona." <u>Nature Communications</u> 9(1): 2480.

Moe, H. and O. Behnke (1962). "Cytoplasmic bodies containing mitochondria, ribosomes, and rough surfaced endoplasmic membranes in the epithelium of the small intestine of newborn rats." <u>J Cell Biol</u> **13**(1): 168-171.

Mohammad-Beigi, H., Y. Hayashi, C. M. Zeuthen, H. Eskandari, C. Scavenius, K. Juul-Madsen, . . . D. S. Sutherland (2020). "Mapping and identification of soft corona proteins at nanoparticles and their impact on cellular association." <u>Nature Communications</u> **11**(1): 4535.

Mohammadinejad, R., M. A. Moosavi, S. Tavakol, D. Ö. Vardar, A. Hosseini, M. Rahmati, . . . D. J. Klionsky (2019). "Necrotic, apoptotic and autophagic cell fates triggered by nanoparticles." <u>Autophagy</u> **15**(1): 4-33.

Monastyrska, I., M. Ulasli, P. J. Rottier, J. L. Guan, F. Reggiori and C. A. de Haan (2013). "An autophagy-independent role for LC3 in equine arteritis virus replication." <u>Autophagy</u> 9(2): 164-174.

Monopoli, M. P., C. Åberg, A. Salvati and K. A. Dawson (2012). "Biomolecular coronas provide the biological identity of nanosized materials." <u>Nature Nanotechnology</u> 7(12): 779-786.

Moore, T. L., D. A. Urban, L. Rodriguez-Lorenzo, A. Milosevic, F. Crippa, M. Spuch-Calvar, . . . A. Petri-Fink (2019). "Nanoparticle administration method in cell culture alters particle-cell interaction." <u>Scientific Reports</u> **9**(1): 900.

Motohashi, H. and M. Yamamoto (2004). "Nrf2–Keap1 defines a physiologically important stress response mechanism." <u>Trends in Molecular Medicine</u> **10**(11): 549-557.

Mouritsen, O. G. (2011). "Lipids, curvature, and nano-medicine." <u>European journal of lipid science</u> and technology : EJLST **113**(10): 1174-1187.

Murphy, M. P., A. Holmgren, N. G. Larsson, B. Halliwell, C. J. Chang, B. Kalyanaraman, ... C. C. Winterbourn (2011). "Unraveling the biological roles of reactive oxygen species." <u>Cell Metab</u> **13**(4): 361-366.

Mørch, Ý., R. Hansen, S. Berg, A. K. Åslund, W. R. Glomm, S. Eggen, . . . P. M. Stenstad (2015). "Nanoparticle-stabilized microbubbles for multimodal imaging and drug delivery." <u>Contrast Media</u> <u>Mol Imaging</u> **10**(5): 356-366.

Nakatogawa, H., Y. Ichimura and Y. Ohsumi (2007). "Atg8, a Ubiquitin-like Protein Required for Autophagosome Formation, Mediates Membrane Tethering and Hemifusion." <u>Cell</u> **130**(1): 165-178.

Narang, V. S., G. M. Pauletti, P. W. Gout, D. J. Buckley and A. R. Buckley (2007). "Sulfasalazineinduced reduction of glutathione levels in breast cancer cells: enhancement of growth-inhibitory activity of Doxorubicin." <u>Chemotherapy</u> **53**(3): 210-217.

Nel, A., T. Xia, L. Mädler and N. Li (2006). "Toxic Potential of Materials at the Nanolevel." <u>Science</u> **311**(5761): 622.

Nel, A. E., L. Mädler, D. Velegol, T. Xia, E. M. V. Hoek, P. Somasundaran, . . . M. Thompson (2009). "Understanding biophysicochemical interactions at the nano-bio interface." <u>Nature Materials</u> **8**(7): 543-557.

Nguyen, T. N., B. S. Padman, J. Usher, V. Oorschot, G. Ramm and M. Lazarou (2016). "Atg8 family LC3/GABARAP proteins are crucial for autophagosome-lysosome fusion but not autophagosome formation during PINK1/Parkin mitophagy and starvation." J Cell Biol **215**(6): 857-874.

Nicolas, J. and P. Couvreur (2009). "Synthesis of poly(alkyl cyanoacrylate)-based colloidal nanomedicines." <u>Wiley Interdiscip Rev Nanomed Nanobiotechnol</u> 1(1): 111-127.

Nishitoh, H., A. Matsuzawa, K. Tobiume, K. Saegusa, K. Takeda, K. Inoue, . . . H. Ichijo (2002). "ASK1 is essential for endoplasmic reticulum stress-induced neuronal cell death triggered by expanded polyglutamine repeats." <u>Genes Dev</u> **16**(11): 1345-1355.

Noda, N. N., H. Kumeta, H. Nakatogawa, K. Satoo, W. Adachi, J. Ishii, . . . F. Inagaki (2008). "Structural basis of target recognition by Atg8/LC3 during selective autophagy." <u>Genes to Cells</u> **13**(12): 1211-1218.

Oberdörster, G., E. Oberdörster and J. Oberdörster (2005). "Nanotoxicology: an emerging discipline evolving from studies of ultrafine particles." <u>Environ Health Perspect</u> **113**(7): 823-839.

Oku, M. and Y. Sakai (2018). "Three Distinct Types of Microautophagy Based on Membrane Dynamics and Molecular Machineries." <u>BioEssays</u> **40**(6): 1800008.

Okuno, S., H. Sato, K. Kuriyama-Matsumura, M. Tamba, H. Wang, S. Sohda, ... S. Bannai (2003). "Role of cystine transport in intracellular glutathione level and cisplatin resistance in human ovarian cancer cell lines." <u>Br J Cancer</u> **88**(6): 951-956.

Owens, D. E., 3rd and N. A. Peppas (2006). "Opsonization, biodistribution, and pharmacokinetics of polymeric nanoparticles." Int J Pharm **307**(1): 93-102.

Pakos-Zebrucka, K., I. Koryga, K. Mnich, M. Ljujic, A. Samali and A. M. Gorman (2016). "The integrated stress response." <u>EMBO reports</u> **17**(10): 1374-1395.

Palchetti, S., L. Digiacomo, D. Pozzi, G. Peruzzi, E. Micarelli, M. Mahmoudi and G. Caracciolo (2016). "Nanoparticles-cell association predicted by protein corona fingerprints." <u>Nanoscale</u> **8**(25): 12755-12763.

Palchetti, S., D. Pozzi, A. L. Capriotti, G. Barbera, R. Z. Chiozzi, L. Digiacomo, ... A. Laganà (2017). "Influence of dynamic flow environment on nanoparticle-protein corona: From protein patterns to uptake in cancer cells." <u>Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces</u> **153**: 263-271.

Pankiv, S., E. A. Alemu, A. Brech, J. A. Bruun, T. Lamark, A. Overvatn, ... T. Johansen (2010). "FYCO1 is a Rab7 effector that binds to LC3 and PI3P to mediate microtubule plus end-directed vesicle transport." J Cell Biol **188**(2): 253-269.

Pankiv, S., T. H. Clausen, T. Lamark, A. Brech, J.-A. Bruun, H. Outzen, . . . T. Johansen (2007). "p62/SQSTM1 Binds Directly to Atg8/LC3 to Facilitate Degradation of Ubiquitinated Protein Aggregates by Autophagy*." Journal of Biological Chemistry **282**(33): 24131-24145.

Pathak, V. K., D. Schindler and J. W. Hershey (1988). "Generation of a mutant form of protein synthesis initiation factor eIF-2 lacking the site of phosphorylation by eIF-2 kinases." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **8**(2): 993.

Pattingre, S., A. Tassa, X. Qu, R. Garuti, X. H. Liang, N. Mizushima, ... B. Levine (2005). "Bcl-2 Antiapoptotic Proteins Inhibit Beclin 1-Dependent Autophagy." <u>Cell</u> **122**(6): 927-939.

Pelaz, B., C. Alexiou, R. A. Alvarez-Puebla, F. Alves, A. M. Andrews, S. Ashraf, ... W. J. Parak (2017). "Diverse Applications of Nanomedicine." <u>ACS Nano</u> 11(3): 2313-2381.

Peña-Llopis, S., S. Vega-Rubin-de-Celis, J. C. Schwartz, N. C. Wolff, T. A. T. Tran, L. Zou, ... J. Brugarolas (2011). "Regulation of TFEB and V-ATPases by mTORC1." <u>The EMBO Journal</u> **30**(16): 3242-3258.

Peracchia, M. T., C. Vauthier, F. Puisieux and P. Couvreur (1997). "Development of sterically stabilized poly(isobutyl 2-cyanoacrylate) nanoparticles by chemical coupling of poly(ethylene glycol)." J Biomed Mater Res **34**(3): 317-326.

Persaud, I., J. H. Shannahan, A. J. Raghavendra, N. B. Alsaleh, R. Podila and J. M. Brown (2019). "Biocorona formation contributes to silver nanoparticle induced endoplasmic reticulum stress." <u>Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety</u> **170**: 77-86.

Poehler, A. M., W. Xiang, P. Spitzer, V. E. May, H. Meixner, E. Rockenstein, . . . J. Klucken (2014). "Autophagy modulates SNCA/ α -synuclein release, thereby generating a hostile microenvironment." <u>Autophagy</u> **10**(12): 2171-2192.

Polack, F. P., S. J. Thomas, N. Kitchin, J. Absalon, A. Gurtman, S. Lockhart, . . . W. C. Gruber (2020). "Safety and Efficacy of the BNT162b2 mRNA Covid-19 Vaccine." <u>N Engl J Med</u> **383**(27): 2603-2615.

Popp, L., V. Tran, R. Patel and L. Segatori (2018). "Autophagic response to cellular exposure to titanium dioxide nanoparticles." <u>Acta Biomaterialia</u> **79**: 354-363.

Porter, A. G. and R. U. Jänicke (1999). "Emerging roles of caspase-3 in apoptosis." <u>Cell death and differentiation</u> **6**(2): 99-104.

Poursaitidis, I., X. Wang, T. Crighton, C. Labuschagne, D. Mason, S. L. Cramer, ... R. F. Lamb (2017). "Oncogene-Selective Sensitivity to Synchronous Cell Death following Modulation of the Amino Acid Nutrient Cystine." <u>Cell Reports</u> **18**(11): 2547-2556.

Pozzi, D., G. Caracciolo, L. Digiacomo, V. Colapicchioni, S. Palchetti, A. L. Capriotti, . . . A. Laganà (2015). "The biomolecular corona of nanoparticles in circulating biological media." <u>Nanoscale</u> **7**(33): 13958-13966.

Proikas-Cezanne, T., S. Waddell, A. Gaugel, T. Frickey, A. Lupas and A. Nordheim (2004). "WIPI-1alpha (WIPI49), a member of the novel 7-bladed WIPI protein family, is aberrantly expressed in human cancer and is linked to starvation-induced autophagy." <u>Oncogene</u> **23**(58): 9314-9325.

Puente, C., R. C. Hendrickson and X. Jiang (2016). "Nutrient-regulated Phosphorylation of ATG13 Inhibits Starvation-induced Autophagy." <u>J Biol Chem</u> **291**(11): 6026-6035.

Puigpelat, E., J. Ignés-Mullol, F. Sagués and R. Reigada (2019). "Interaction of Graphene Nanoparticles and Lipid Membranes Displaying Different Liquid Orderings: A Molecular Dynamics Study." <u>Langmuir</u> **35**(50): 16661-16668.

Qian, X., J. Zhang, Z. Gu and Y. Chen (2019). "Nanocatalysts-augmented Fenton chemical reaction for nanocatalytic tumor therapy." <u>Biomaterials</u> **211**: 1-13.

Qiao, S., M. Dennis, X. Song, D. D. Vadysirisack, D. Salunke, Z. Nash, . . . L. W. Ellisen (2015). "A REDD1/TXNIP pro-oxidant complex regulates ATG4B activity to control stress-induced autophagy and sustain exercise capacity." <u>Nat Commun</u> **6**: 7014.

Radulovic, M., K. O. Schink, E. M. Wenzel, V. Nähse, A. Bongiovanni, F. Lafont and H. Stenmark (2018). "ESCRT-mediated lysosome repair precedes lysophagy and promotes cell survival." <u>Embo j</u> **37**(21).

Rafie-Kolpin, M., P. J. Chefalo, Z. Hussain, J. Hahn, S. Uma, R. L. Matts and J. J. Chen (2000). "Two heme-binding domains of heme-regulated eukaryotic initiation factor-2alpha kinase. N terminus and kinase insertion." J Biol Chem 275(7): 5171-5178.

Rafie-Kolpin, M., A. P. Han and J. J. Chen (2003). "Autophosphorylation of threonine 485 in the activation loop is essential for attaining eIF2alpha kinase activity of HRI." <u>Biochemistry</u> **42**(21): 6536-6544.

Ray, P. D., B. W. Huang and Y. Tsuji (2012). "Reactive oxygen species (ROS) homeostasis and redox regulation in cellular signaling." <u>Cell Signal</u> 24(5): 981-990.

Reggiori, F., M. Komatsu, K. Finley and A. Simonsen (2012). "Autophagy: More Than a Nonselective Pathway." <u>International Journal of Cell Biology</u> **2012**: 219625.

Roh, J. L., E. H. Kim, H. J. Jang, J. Y. Park and D. Shin (2016). "Induction of ferroptotic cell death for overcoming cisplatin resistance of head and neck cancer." <u>Cancer Lett</u> **381**(1): 96-103.

Ron, D. (2002). "Translational control in the endoplasmic reticulum stress response." <u>J Clin Invest</u> **110**(10): 1383-1388.

Ron, D. and P. Walter (2007). "Signal integration in the endoplasmic reticulum unfolded protein response." <u>Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology</u> **8**(7): 519-529.

Rouschop, K. M., T. van den Beucken, L. Dubois, H. Niessen, J. Bussink, K. Savelkouls, ... B. G. Wouters (2010). "The unfolded protein response protects human tumor cells during hypoxia through regulation of the autophagy genes MAP1LC3B and ATG5." <u>J Clin Invest</u> **120**(1): 127-141.

Russell, R. C., Y. Tian, H. Yuan, H. W. Park, Y.-Y. Chang, J. Kim, ... K.-L. Guan (2013). "ULK1 induces autophagy by phosphorylating Beclin-1 and activating VPS34 lipid kinase." <u>Nature cell biology</u> **15**(7): 741-750.

Rutkowski, D. T., S. M. Arnold, C. N. Miller, J. Wu, J. Li, K. M. Gunnison, . . . R. J. Kaufman (2006). "Adaptation to ER stress is mediated by differential stabilities of pro-survival and pro-apoptotic mRNAs and proteins." <u>PLoS Biol</u> 4(11): e374.

Rzymski, T., M. Milani, L. Pike, F. Buffa, H. R. Mellor, L. Winchester, ... A. L. Harris (2010). "Regulation of autophagy by ATF4 in response to severe hypoxia." <u>Oncogene</u> **29**(31): 4424-4435.

Saha, K., M. Rahimi, M. Yazdani, S. T. Kim, D. F. Moyano, S. Hou, ... V. M. Rotello (2016). "Regulation of Macrophage Recognition through the Interplay of Nanoparticle Surface Functionality and Protein Corona." <u>ACS Nano</u> **10**(4): 4421-4430.

Santiago, R. and R. Reigada (2019). "Interaction modes between nanosized graphene flakes and liposomes: Adsorption, insertion and membrane fusion." <u>Biochim Biophys Acta Gen Subj</u> **1863**(4): 723-731.

Sarcinelli, C., H. Dragic, M. Piecyk, V. Barbet, C. Duret, A. Barthelaix, ... S. N. Manié (2020). "ATF4-Dependent NRF2 Transcriptional Regulation Promotes Antioxidant Protection during Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress." <u>Cancers</u> **12**(3): 569.

Sardiello, M., M. Palmieri, A. di Ronza, D. L. Medina, M. Valenza, V. A. Gennarino, ... A. Ballabio (2009). "A Gene Network Regulating Lysosomal Biogenesis and Function." <u>Science</u> **325**(5939): 473-477.

Sastre, J., I. Mannelli and R. Reigada (2017). "Effects of fullerene on lipid bilayers displaying different liquid ordering: a coarse-grained molecular dynamics study." <u>Biochim Biophys Acta Gen</u> <u>Subj</u> **1861**(11 Pt A): 2872-2882.

Sato, H., M. Tamba, T. Ishii and S. Bannai (1999). "Cloning and expression of a plasma membrane cystine/glutamate exchange transporter composed of two distinct proteins." J Biol Chem 274(17): 11455-11458.

Sato, M., R. Kusumi, S. Hamashima, S. Kobayashi, S. Sasaki, Y. Komiyama, . . . H. Sato (2018). "The ferroptosis inducer erastin irreversibly inhibits system xc- and synergizes with cisplatin to increase cisplatin's cytotoxicity in cancer cells." <u>Scientific Reports</u> **8**(1): 968.

Satoo, K., N. N. Noda, H. Kumeta, Y. Fujioka, N. Mizushima, Y. Ohsumi and F. Inagaki (2009). "The structure of Atg4B–LC3 complex reveals the mechanism of LC3 processing and delipidation during autophagy." <u>The EMBO Journal</u> **28**(9): 1341-1350.

Savage, D. T., J. Z. Hilt and T. D. Dziubla (2019). "In Vitro Methods for Assessing Nanoparticle Toxicity." <u>Methods in molecular biology (Clifton, N.J.)</u> **1894**: 1-29.

Scherz-Shouval, R., E. Shvets, E. Fass, H. Shorer, L. Gil and Z. Elazar (2007). "Reactive oxygen species are essential for autophagy and specifically regulate the activity of Atg4." <u>The EMBO Journal</u> **26**(7): 1749-1760.

Schieber, M. and N. S. Chandel (2014). "ROS function in redox signaling and oxidative stress." <u>Current biology : CB</u> **24**(10): R453-462.

Schnelldorfer, T., S. Gansauge, F. Gansauge, S. Schlosser, H. G. Beger and A. K. Nussler (2000). "Glutathione depletion causes cell growth inhibition and enhanced apoptosis in pancreatic cancer cells." <u>Cancer</u> **89**(7): 1440-1447.

Seglen, P. O. and P. B. Gordon (1984). "Amino acid control of autophagic sequestration and protein degradation in isolated rat hepatocytes." <u>J Cell Biol</u> **99**(2): 435-444.

Seglen, P. O., P. B. Gordon and I. Holen (1990). "Non-selective autophagy." <u>Semin Cell Biol</u> 1(6): 441-448.

Seglen, P. O., P. B. Gordon and A. Poli (1980). "Amino acid inhibition of the autophagic/lysosomal pathway of protein degradation in isolated rat hepatocytes." <u>Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) -</u> <u>General Subjects</u> **630**(1): 103-118.

Sen, C. K. and L. Packer (1996). "Antioxidant and redox regulation of gene transcription." <u>Faseb j</u> **10**(7): 709-720.

Sena, L. A. and N. S. Chandel (2012). "Physiological roles of mitochondrial reactive oxygen species." <u>Molecular cell</u> **48**(2): 158-167.

Sengupta, S., T. R. Peterson and D. M. Sabatini (2010). "Regulation of the mTOR complex 1 pathway by nutrients, growth factors, and stress." <u>Molecular cell</u> **40**(2): 310-322.

Settembre, C., C. Di Malta, V. A. Polito, M. Garcia Arencibia, F. Vetrini, S. Erdin, . . . A. Ballabio (2011). "TFEB links autophagy to lysosomal biogenesis." <u>Science</u> **332**(6036): 1429-1433.

Shan, X., S. Li, B. Sun, Q. Chen, J. Sun, Z. He and C. Luo (2020). "Ferroptosis-driven nanotherapeutics for cancer treatment." Journal of Controlled Release **319**: 322-332.

Shen, Z., T. Liu, Y. Li, J. Lau, Z. Yang, W. Fan, ... X. Chen (2018). "Fenton-Reaction-Acceleratable Magnetic Nanoparticles for Ferroptosis Therapy of Orthotopic Brain Tumors." <u>ACS Nano</u> **12**(11): 11355-11365.

Shimada, K., R. Skouta, A. Kaplan, W. S. Yang, M. Hayano, S. J. Dixon, . . . B. R. Stockwell (2016). "Global survey of cell death mechanisms reveals metabolic regulation of ferroptosis." <u>Nat Chem Biol</u> **12**(7): 497-503.

Shpilka, T., H. Weidberg, S. Pietrokovski and Z. Elazar (2011). "Atg8: an autophagy-related ubiquitin-like protein family." <u>Genome Biology</u> **12**(7): 226.

Simard, J. C., I. Durocher and D. Girard (2016). "Silver nanoparticles induce irremediable endoplasmic reticulum stress leading to unfolded protein response dependent apoptosis in breast cancer cells." <u>Apoptosis</u> **21**(11): 1279-1290.

Simon, J., T. Wolf, K. Klein, K. Landfester, F. R. Wurm and V. Mailänder (2018). "Hydrophilicity Regulates the Stealth Properties of Polyphosphoester-Coated Nanocarriers." <u>Angewandte Chemie</u> <u>International Edition</u> **57**(19): 5548-5553.

Simonsson, C., G. Bastiat, M. Pitorre, A. S. Klymchenko, J. Béjaud, Y. Mély and J.-P. Benoit (2016). "Inter-nanocarrier and nanocarrier-to-cell transfer assays demonstrate the risk of an immediate unloading of dye from labeled lipid nanocapsules." <u>European Journal of Pharmaceutics and</u> <u>Biopharmaceutics</u> **98**: 47-56. Snipstad, S., S. Hak, H. Baghirov, E. Sulheim, Ý. Mørch, S. Lélu, . . . A. K. O. Åslund (2017). "Labeling nanoparticles: Dye leakage and altered cellular uptake." <u>Cytometry Part A</u> **91**(8): 760-766.

Snipstad, S., S. Westrøm, Y. Mørch, M. Afadzi, A. K. O. Åslund and C. de Lange Davies (2014). "Contact-mediated intracellular delivery of hydrophobic drugs from polymeric nanoparticles." <u>Cancer</u> <u>Nanotechnology</u> **5**(1): 8.

Song, W., L. Popp, J. Yang, A. Kumar, V. S. Gangoli and L. Segatori (2015). "The autophagic response to polystyrene nanoparticles is mediated by transcription factor EB and depends on surface charge." Journal of Nanobiotechnology **13**(1): 87.

Song, X., S. Zhu, P. Chen, W. Hou, Q. Wen, J. Liu, . . . D. Tang (2018). "AMPK-Mediated BECN1 Phosphorylation Promotes Ferroptosis by Directly Blocking System X(c)(-) Activity." <u>Current biology</u> : <u>CB</u> 28(15): 2388-2399.e2385.

Stern, S. T., P. P. Adiseshaiah and R. M. Crist (2012). "Autophagy and lysosomal dysfunction as emerging mechanisms of nanomaterial toxicity." <u>Particle and Fibre Toxicology</u> **9**(1): 20.

Stockwell, B. R., J. P. Friedmann Angeli, H. Bayir, A. I. Bush, M. Conrad, S. J. Dixon, . . . D. D. Zhang (2017). "Ferroptosis: A Regulated Cell Death Nexus Linking Metabolism, Redox Biology, and Disease." <u>Cell</u> **171**(2): 273-285.

Strebhardt, K. and A. Ullrich (2008). "Paul Ehrlich's magic bullet concept: 100 years of progress." <u>Nature Reviews Cancer</u> **8**(6): 473-480.

Suk, J. S., Q. Xu, N. Kim, J. Hanes and L. M. Ensign (2016). "PEGylation as a strategy for improving nanoparticle-based drug and gene delivery." <u>Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews</u> **99**: 28-51.

Sulheim, E., H. Baghirov, E. von Haartman, A. Bøe, A. K. O. Åslund, Y. Mørch and C. d. L. Davies (2016). "Cellular uptake and intracellular degradation of poly(alkyl cyanoacrylate) nanoparticles." Journal of Nanobiotechnology 14(1): 1.

Sun, X., Z. Ou, R. Chen, X. Niu, D. Chen, R. Kang and D. Tang (2016). "Activation of the p62-Keap1-NRF2 pathway protects against ferroptosis in hepatocellular carcinoma cells." <u>Hepatology</u> **63**(1): 173-184.

Szalai, P., L. K. Hagen, F. Sætre, M. Luhr, M. Sponheim, A. Øverbye, ... N. Engedal (2015). "Autophagic bulk sequestration of cytosolic cargo is independent of LC3, but requires GABARAPs." <u>Experimental Cell Research</u> **333**(1): 21-38.

Takada, A. and S. Bannai (1984). "Transport of cystine in isolated rat hepatocytes in primary culture." J Biol Chem **259**(4): 2441-2445.

Tenzer, S., D. Docter, S. Rosfa, A. Wlodarski, J. Kuharev, A. Rekik, ... R. H. Stauber (2011). "Nanoparticle Size Is a Critical Physicochemical Determinant of the Human Blood Plasma Corona: A Comprehensive Quantitative Proteomic Analysis." <u>ACS Nano</u> **5**(9): 7155-7167.

Theil, E. C. (2004). "Iron, ferritin, and nutrition." Annu Rev Nutr 24: 327-343.

Tian, X., X. Jiang, C. Welch, T. R. Croley, T. Y. Wong, C. Chen, . . . J. J. Yin (2018). "Bactericidal Effects of Silver Nanoparticles on Lactobacilli and the Underlying Mechanism." <u>ACS Appl Mater Interfaces</u> **10**(10): 8443-8450.

Timmerman, L. A., T. Holton, M. Yuneva, R. J. Louie, M. Padró, A. Daemen, . . . J. W. Gray (2013). "Glutamine sensitivity analysis identifies the xCT antiporter as a common triple-negative breast tumor therapeutic target." <u>Cancer Cell</u> **24**(4): 450-465.
Towers, C. G. and A. Thorburn (2016). "Therapeutic Targeting of Autophagy." <u>EBioMedicine</u> 14: 15-23.

Tsukada, M. and Y. Ohsumi (1993). "Isolation and characterization of autophagy-defective mutants of Saccharomyces cerevisiae." <u>FEBS Lett</u> **333**(1-2): 169-174.

Unciti-Broceta, J. D., V. Cano-Cortés, P. Altea-Manzano, S. Pernagallo, J. J. Díaz-Mochón and R. M. Sánchez-Martín (2015). "Number of Nanoparticles per Cell through a Spectrophotometric Method - A key parameter to Assess Nanoparticle-based Cellular Assays." <u>Scientific Reports</u> **5**(1): 10091.

Ung, T. L., C. Cao, J. Lu, K. Ozato and T. E. Dever (2001). "Heterologous dimerization domains functionally substitute for the double-stranded RNA binding domains of the kinase PKR." <u>The EMBO</u> Journal **20**(14): 3728-3737.

Urano, F., X. Wang, A. Bertolotti, Y. Zhang, P. Chung, H. P. Harding and D. Ron (2000). "Coupling of stress in the ER to activation of JNK protein kinases by transmembrane protein kinase IRE1." <u>Science</u> **287**(5453): 664-666.

Urra, H., E. Dufey, F. Lisbona, D. Rojas-Rivera and C. Hetz (2013). "When ER stress reaches a dead end." <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u> 1833(12): 3507-3517.

Vaites, L. P., J. A. Paulo, E. L. Huttlin and J. W. Harper (2018). "Systematic Analysis of Human Cells Lacking ATG8 Proteins Uncovers Roles for GABARAPs and the CCZ1/MON1 Regulator C18orf8/RMC1 in Macroautophagic and Selective Autophagic Flux." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **38**(1): e00392-00317.

Vanhoefer, U., S. Cao, H. Minderman, K. Toth, B. S. Skenderis, 2nd, M. L. Slovak and Y. M. Rustum (1996). "d,l-buthionine-(S,R)-sulfoximine potentiates in vivo the therapeutic efficacy of doxorubicin against multidrug resistance protein-expressing tumors." <u>Clin Cancer Res</u> **2**(12): 1961-1968.

Vattem, K. M., K. A. Staschke and R. C. Wek (2001). "Mechanism of activation of the doublestranded-RNA-dependent protein kinase, PKR: role of dimerization and cellular localization in the stimulation of PKR phosphorylation of eukaryotic initiation factor-2 (eIF2)." <u>Eur J Biochem</u> **268**(13): 3674-3684.

Vauthier, C. (2019). "A journey through the emergence of nanomedicines with poly(alkylcyanoacrylate) based nanoparticles." Journal of Drug Targeting **27**(5-6): 502-524.

Vauthier, C., C. Dubernet, E. Fattal, H. Pinto-Alphandary and P. Couvreur (2003). "Poly(alkylcyanoacrylates) as biodegradable materials for biomedical applications." <u>Adv Drug Deliv</u> <u>Rev</u> 55(4): 519-548.

Vezin, W. R. and A. T. Florence (1980). "In vitro heterogeneous degradation of poly(n-alkyl α -cyanoacrylates)." Journal of Biomedical Materials Research 14(2): 93-106.

Violot, S., P. Carpentier, L. Blanchoin and D. Bourgeois (2009). "Reverse pH-Dependence of Chromophore Protonation Explains the Large Stokes Shift of the Red Fluorescent Protein mKeima." Journal of the American Chemical Society **131**(30): 10356-10357.

Viswanathan, V. S., M. J. Ryan, H. D. Dhruv, S. Gill, O. M. Eichhoff, B. Seashore-Ludlow, . . . S. L. Schreiber (2017). "Dependency of a therapy-resistant state of cancer cells on a lipid peroxidase pathway." <u>Nature 547</u>(7664): 453-457.

Volinia, S., R. Dhand, B. Vanhaesebroeck, L. K. MacDougall, R. Stein, M. J. Zvelebil, ... M. D. Waterfield (1995). "A human phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase complex related to the yeast Vps34p-Vps15p protein sorting system." <u>Embo j</u> 14(14): 3339-3348.

Vroman, L. (1962). "Effect of Adsorbed Proteins on the Wettability of Hydrophilic and Hydrophobic Solids." <u>Nature</u> **196**(4853): 476-477.

Vroman, L., A. L. Adams, G. C. Fischer and P. C. Munoz (1980). "Interaction of high molecular weight kininogen, factor XII, and fibrinogen in plasma at interfaces." <u>Blood</u> **55**(1): 156-159.

Walkey, C. D. and W. C. W. Chan (2012). "Understanding and controlling the interaction of nanomaterials with proteins in a physiological environment." <u>Chemical Society Reviews</u> **41**(7): 2780-2799.

Walter, P. and D. Ron (2011). "The unfolded protein response: from stress pathway to homeostatic regulation." <u>Science</u> **334**(6059): 1081-1086.

Wan, S., P. M. Kelly, E. Mahon, H. Stöckmann, P. M. Rudd, F. Caruso, . . . M. P. Monopoli (2015). "The "Sweet" Side of the Protein Corona: Effects of Glycosylation on Nanoparticle–Cell Interactions." <u>ACS Nano</u> 9(2): 2157-2166.

Wan, X., L. Song, W. Pan, H. Zhong, N. Li and B. Tang (2020). "Tumor-Targeted Cascade Nanoreactor Based on Metal–Organic Frameworks for Synergistic Ferroptosis–Starvation Anticancer Therapy." <u>ACS Nano</u> 14(9): 11017-11028.

Wang, H., X. Yu, C. Su, Y. Shi and L. Zhao (2018). "Chitosan nanoparticles triggered the induction of ROS-mediated cytoprotective autophagy in cancer cells." <u>Artificial Cells, Nanomedicine, and</u> <u>Biotechnology</u> **46**(sup1): 293-301.

Wang, J., Y. Li, J. Duan, M. Yang, Y. Yu, L. Feng, ... Z. Sun (2018). "Silica nanoparticles induce autophagosome accumulation via activation of the EIF2AK3 and ATF6 UPR pathways in hepatocytes." <u>Autophagy</u> **14**(7): 1185-1200.

Wang, L., Q. Sun, X. Wang, T. Wen, J.-J. Yin, P. Wang, . . . C. Chen (2015). "Using Hollow Carbon Nanospheres as a Light-Induced Free Radical Generator To Overcome Chemotherapy Resistance." Journal of the American Chemical Society 137(5): 1947-1955.

Wang, S., F. Li, R. Qiao, X. Hu, H. Liao, L. Chen, ... D. Ling (2018). "Arginine-Rich Manganese Silicate Nanobubbles as a Ferroptosis-Inducing Agent for Tumor-Targeted Theranostics." <u>ACS Nano</u> **12**(12): 12380-12392.

Wang, X., T. Xia, S. Addo Ntim, Z. Ji, S. Lin, H. Meng, . . . A. E. Nel (2011). "Dispersal State of Multiwalled Carbon Nanotubes Elicits Profibrogenic Cellular Responses That Correlate with Fibrogenesis Biomarkers and Fibrosis in the Murine Lung." <u>ACS Nano</u> **5**(12): 9772-9787.

Wang, Y., R. Cai and C. Chen (2019). "The Nano–Bio Interactions of Nanomedicines: Understanding the Biochemical Driving Forces and Redox Reactions." <u>Accounts of Chemical Research</u> **52**(6): 1507-1518.

Wartosch, L., U. Günesdogan, S. C. Graham and J. P. Luzio (2015). "Recruitment of VPS33A to HOPS by VPS16 Is Required for Lysosome Fusion with Endosomes and Autophagosomes." <u>Traffic</u> **16**(7): 727-742.

Wei, Y., Z. An, Z. Zou, R. Sumpter, M. Su, X. Zang, ... B. Levine (2015). "The stress-responsive kinases MAPKAPK2/MAPKAPK3 activate starvation-induced autophagy through Beclin 1 phosphorylation." <u>Elife</u> **4**.

Weidberg, H., E. Shvets, T. Shpilka, F. Shimron, V. Shinder and Z. Elazar (2010). "LC3 and GATE-16/GABARAP subfamilies are both essential yet act differently in autophagosome biogenesis." <u>Embo</u> j **29**(11): 1792-1802.

Wek, R. C., B. M. Jackson and A. G. Hinnebusch (1989). "Juxtaposition of domains homologous to protein kinases and histidyl-tRNA synthetases in GCN2 protein suggests a mechanism for coupling GCN4 expression to amino acid availability." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **86**(12): 4579-4583.

Wen, T., J. Liu, W. He and A. Yang (2020). Nanomaterials and Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS). <u>Nanotechnology in Regenerative Medicine and Drug Delivery Therapy</u>. H. Xu and N. Gu. Singapore, Springer Singapore: 361-387.

Wendland, K., M. Thielke, A. Meisel and P. Mergenthaler (2015). "Intrinsic hypoxia sensitivity of the cytomegalovirus promoter." <u>Cell Death & Disease</u> 6(10): e1905-e1905.

Wible, D. J. and S. B. Bratton (2018). "Reciprocity in ROS and autophagic signaling." <u>Current opinion</u> in toxicology 7: 28-36.

Wolfram, J., Y. Yang, J. Shen, A. Moten, C. Chen, H. Shen, ... Y. Zhao (2014). "The nano-plasma interface: Implications of the protein corona." <u>Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces</u> **124**: 17-24.

Wu, G., C. Jiang and T. Zhang (2018). "FcγRIIB receptor-mediated apoptosis in macrophages through interplay of cadmium sulfide nanomaterials and protein corona." <u>Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety</u> **164**: 140-148.

Wu, L., Y. Zhang, C. Zhang, X. Cui, S. Zhai, Y. Liu, . . . B. Yan (2014). "Tuning cell autophagy by diversifying carbon nanotube surface chemistry." <u>ACS Nano</u> **8**(3): 2087-2099.

Wu, Y., C. Yu, M. Luo, C. Cen, J. Qiu, S. Zhang and K. Hu (2020). "Ferroptosis in Cancer Treatment: Another Way to Rome." <u>Frontiers in Oncology</u> **10**(1924).

Xie, Y., W. Hou, X. Song, Y. Yu, J. Huang, X. Sun, . . . D. Tang (2016). "Ferroptosis: process and function." <u>Cell death and differentiation</u> **23**(3): 369-379.

Xin, Y., L. Yu, Z. Chen, L. Zheng, Q. Fu, J. Jiang, ... S. Zhao (2001). "Cloning, expression patterns, and chromosome localization of three human and two mouse homologues of GABA(A) receptor-associated protein." <u>Genomics</u> **74**(3): 408-413.

Xu, P., E. Gullotti, L. Tong, C. B. Highley, D. R. Errabelli, T. Hasan, . . . Y. Yeo (2009). "Intracellular Drug Delivery by Poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) Nanoparticles, Revisited." <u>Molecular Pharmaceutics</u> **6**(1): 190-201.

Xu, S., H. Zheng, R. Ma, D. Wu, Y. Pan, C. Yin, ... R. Li (2020). "Vacancies on 2D transition metal dichalcogenides elicit ferroptotic cell death." <u>Nature Communications</u> **11**(1): 3484.

Xu, X., Y. Chen, Y. Zhang, Y. Yao and P. Ji (2020). "Highly stable and biocompatible hyaluronic acid-rehabilitated nanoscale MOF-Fe2+ induced ferroptosis in breast cancer cells." <u>Journal of Materials Chemistry B</u> **8**(39): 9129-9138.

Xu, Y. and M. A. A. Schoonen (2000). "The absolute energy positions of conduction and valence bands of selected semiconducting minerals."

Yagoda, N., M. von Rechenberg, E. Zaganjor, A. J. Bauer, W. S. Yang, D. J. Fridman, ... B. R. Stockwell (2007). "RAS–RAF–MEK-dependent oxidative cell death involving voltage-dependent anion channels." <u>Nature</u> **447**(7146): 865-869.

Yamaguchi, H. and H. G. Wang (2004). "CHOP is involved in endoplasmic reticulum stress-induced apoptosis by enhancing DR5 expression in human carcinoma cells." <u>J Biol Chem</u> **279**(44): 45495-45502.

Yan, M., Y. Zhang, H. Qin, K. Liu, M. Guo, Y. Ge, . . . X. Zheng (2016). "Cytotoxicity of CdTe quantum dots in human umbilical vein endothelial cells: the involvement of cellular uptake and induction of pro-apoptotic endoplasmic reticulum stress." <u>International journal of nanomedicine</u> **11**: 529-542.

Yang, R., Y. Li, X. Wang, J. Yan, D. Pan, Y. Xu, ... M. Yang (2019). "Doxorubicin loaded ferritin nanoparticles for ferroptosis enhanced targeted killing of cancer cells." <u>RSC Advances</u> **9**(49): 28548-28553.

Yang, W. S., K. J. Kim, M. M. Gaschler, M. Patel, M. S. Shchepinov and B. R. Stockwell (2016). "Peroxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids by lipoxygenases drives ferroptosis." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci</u> <u>U S A</u> **113**(34): E4966-4975.

Yang, W. S., R. SriRamaratnam, M. E. Welsch, K. Shimada, R. Skouta, V. S. Viswanathan, ... B. R. Stockwell (2014). "Regulation of ferroptotic cancer cell death by GPX4." <u>Cell</u> **156**(1-2): 317-331.

Yang, W. S. and B. R. Stockwell (2008). "Synthetic Lethal Screening Identifies Compounds Activating Iron-Dependent, Nonapoptotic Cell Death in Oncogenic-RAS-Harboring Cancer Cells." <u>Chemistry & Biology</u> 15(3): 234-245.

Yang, Z. and D. J. Klionsky (2010). "Mammalian autophagy: core molecular machinery and signaling regulation." <u>Curr Opin Cell Biol</u> **22**(2): 124-131.

Ye, J., M. Kumanova, L. S. Hart, K. Sloane, H. Zhang, D. N. De Panis, . . . C. Koumenis (2010). "The GCN2-ATF4 pathway is critical for tumour cell survival and proliferation in response to nutrient deprivation." <u>Embo j</u> **29**(12): 2082-2096.

Yin, S., J. Liu, Y. Kang, Y. Lin, D. Li and L. Shao (2019). "Interactions of nanomaterials with ion channels and related mechanisms." <u>British Journal of Pharmacology</u> **176**(19): 3754-3774.

Yu, X. and Y. C. Long (2016). "Crosstalk between cystine and glutathione is critical for the regulation of amino acid signaling pathways and ferroptosis." <u>Scientific Reports</u> 6(1): 30033.

Yu, Y., Y. Xie, L. Cao, L. Yang, M. Yang, M. T. Lotze, . . . D. Tang (2015). "The ferroptosis inducer erastin enhances sensitivity of acute myeloid leukemia cells to chemotherapeutic agents." <u>Mol Cell</u> <u>Oncol</u> **2**(4): e1054549.

Zalckvar, E., H. Berissi, L. Mizrachy, Y. Idelchuk, I. Koren, M. Eisenstein, . . . A. Kimchi (2009). "DAP-kinase-mediated phosphorylation on the BH3 domain of beclin 1 promotes dissociation of beclin 1 from Bcl-XL and induction of autophagy." <u>EMBO reports</u> **10**(3): 285-292.

Zeeshan, H. M. A., G. H. Lee, H.-R. Kim and H.-J. Chae (2016). "Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress and Associated ROS." International journal of molecular sciences 17(3): 327-327.

Zeng, L., J. Gao, Y. Liu, J. Gao, L. Yao, X. Yang, ... G. Jiang (2019). "Role of protein corona in the biological effect of nanomaterials: Investigating methods." <u>TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry</u> **118**: 303-314.

Zhang, H., K. E. Burnum, M. L. Luna, B. O. Petritis, J.-S. Kim, W.-J. Qian, . . . T. Liu (2011). "Quantitative proteomics analysis of adsorbed plasma proteins classifies nanoparticles with different surface properties and size." <u>PROTEOMICS</u> 11(23): 4569-4577.

Zhang, Y. and R. A. Weinberg (2018). "Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in cancer: complexity and opportunities." <u>Frontiers of Medicine</u> **12**(4): 361-373.

Zheng, W., M. Wei, S. Li and W. Le (2016). "Nanomaterial-modulated autophagy: underlying mechanisms and functional consequences." <u>Nanomedicine</u> **11**(11): 1417-1430.